










As part of the broader internal departmental business auditing process, all business processes and 
deliverable outputs were aligned with the prescribed business process model. A number of internal 
policy directives to guide operational activities were also developed. The affordability of tuition fees 
versus a higher demand in training is another challenge for the sub-programme. The language barrier 
for both students and lecturers remains another challenge. 

The Development Planning (DP) sub-programme in Programme: RDC focused on co-ordination of 
the DRDLR’s Comprehensive Rural Development programme (CRDP). Through this initiative the total 
number of active nodes has been brought to 12 across the province. Four (4) rural development 
nodes were activated with 18 councils of stakeholders constituted and rendered active. 

A total of 1 303 people were trained and 755 gained access to employment opportunities in the rural 
development nodes. Limited capacity internally and inconsistent representation of other stakeholders 
in joint planning and implementation structures has resulted in some delays with respect to the 
completion of rural nodal implementation plans and convening the PSO11 rural development work 
group.

Farm Worker Development (FWD) sub-programme achievements include: a total of 2 391 farm workers 
trained in life skills and development while 18 projects were supported, of which four focused on 
substance abuse awareness and prevention. A total of 15 regions participated in the Annual Farm 
Worker of the Year Competition, 552 farm workers were assisted through the referral system and 32 
district forum meetings were attended. 

The Western Cape Farm Worker of the Year Competition was a great success with 15 regions 
participating. It is an excellent example of the department’s involvement in the acknowledgement of 
farm workers and culminated in the announcement of Mr Willem Paulse, from the Witzenberg region, 
as the Western Cape Farm Worker of the Year 2012. 

The recent farm worker protest action and upheavals in the agricultural sector in the province have 
been a clear indication of the myriad challenges faced by farm workers and rural communities at 
large. The two main areas affected by the protest action were the Overberg and Cape Winelands, 
with most hot spots recorded there. A province-wide farm worker household survey was prioritised 
starting with the Cape Winelands and Overberg. A report is available on the Overstrand and survey 
work has started in the Theewaterskloof municipal area. The provincial farm worker survey is critical to 
develop a deeper sense of the status of farm workers at household level and this information will be 
shared with all relevant service delivery departments to inform their programmes targeting rural areas. 

The protests have furthermore caused significant reputational damage in international markets and 
even possible loss of market share, whilst the breakdown of relationships on farms has been a further 
negative consequence for farmers and farm workers to have to deal with.  The sector inevitably is also 
undergoing structural changes that seemingly will lead to some mechanisation, which would require a 
more skilled farm worker in the future. The development of the agricultural rural response plan aims to 
address some of these complex issues. However, key to planning appropriate responses is gaining an 
understanding of the dynamics and fabric of rural communities and the challenges they face. 

As a long-term intervention, the Future of Agriculture and the Rural Economy (FARE), aims to secure 
stability in the sector through broad consultation and development initiatives toward developing 
consensus on the idealised future and vision of the sector, to create a common understanding of the 
current situation in the sector by providing commonly accepted quantifiable and non-quantifiable 
data, and to develop a common agenda for change that is accepted by as many actors as possible.
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3.2.	 Service Delivery Improvement Plan 

The department has completed a service delivery improvement plan. The tables below highlight the 
service delivery plan and the achievements to date.

Main services and service standards provided in terms of the Service Delivery Improvement Plan,  
1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Main services Actual customers Potential cus-
tomers

Standard of service Actual achievement against stan-
dards

Handling of student 
affairs

a)	 Students

b)	 Parents
c)	 Sponsors
d)	 Private sector 
companies or or-
ganised agricultural 
industries

Training service 
providers

a)	 Dealing with all 
queries (a project-
ed increase of 10%

	 ± 59 per day) from 
service beneficia-
ries relating to ad-
ministration, hostel 
accommoda-tion 
and job-related 
enquiries.

b)–d) Queries dealt 
with (resolved) immedi-
ately or within 2 days.

a) Helpdesk in place to address walk-
in, phone-in and e-mail enquiries.

The number of enquiries is dependent 
on the time of the month or semes-
ter. Currently, daily enquiries do not 
exceed 15 per day due to improved 
communication and information shar-
ing at the start of the College year as 
well as what is provided in brochures, 
including the College rules.

b)-d)Queries/
enquiries are divided into specif-
ic types and addressed by senior 
officials of components regarding the 
provision of a decision or response in 
order to solve the issue. 

All enquiries and queries are recorded 
in a book and 99% of these are dealt 
with and finalised immediately.
Others are responded to within 2 
working days.

Progress and feedback reported to 
enquirer per e-mail or telephonically.

Handling of agri-
cultural economic 
enquiries

Agribusiness, tertiary 
training institutions, 
all types of farmers, 
consultants

Financial institutions, 
policy-makers, gov-
ernment depart-
ments

Farmer markets a)	 All enquiries 	
(± 45 per quarter) 
are responded to 
timeously, in line 
with request, in 
accordance with 
procedures and 
method to be fol-
lowed (additional 
increase of 7 en-
quiries per quarter).

b)	 Target to adhere 
to requests: <1day 
= 80%; <3days = 
maximum of 10%; 
more than 3 days, 
maximum of 10%.

a) 134 information requests respond-
ed to for the year (requests are 
demand driven).

Database and enquiry register main-
tained.

122 progress reports forwarded where 
required.

b) Targets were met.
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Consultation arrangements with service beneficiaries, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Type of arrangement Actual customers Potential cus-
tomers

Actual achievements

Handling of student 
affairs
React in accordance 
with enquiries received.
a)	 Telephonic

b)	 Verbal (over the 
counter)

c)	 Written correspon-
dence

d)	 E-mail

e)	 Farmer, parent, sen-
ate and organised 
private organisation 
sector committees

a.	 Students
b.	 Parents
c.	 Sponsors
d.	 Private sector com-	
	 panies or organised 	
	 agricultural indus-	
	 tries

Training service 
providers

a) - d) Telephonic, verbal, written and electronic 
consultation arrangements were utilised to address 
all enquiries and queries received.

 
Monthly outreach programmes and exhibitions at 
Thusong Centres and Thusong mobile facilities.

e) Two (2) parent and student meetings held at 
beginning and end of College year respectively.

Four (4) meetings held with stakeholders in the form of 
small groups and in accordance with study fields. 

Consultations done during quarterly scheduled 
committee meetings.

Six (6) meetings per annum with the Student 
Representative Council (SRC) members.

Monthly meetings with house committee members of 
hostels at the College.

Quarterly meetings with Provincial Agricultural 
Education and Training Forum (PAET).

Quarterly meetings with the University of Stellenbosch 
(US) Faculty Committee and Faculty Board (including 
sub-committees.) 

Publication and distribution of departmental Annual 
Report and Annual Report to Citizens.

Quarterly College Council meetings. 

Handling of agricultural 
economic enquiries
a)	 Road shows

b)	 Annual Report to 
Citizens 

c)	 Organised agri-
culture and their 
members

d)	 Radio talks

e)	 Forum meetings of 
department and 
stakeholders

Agribusiness, tertiary 
training institutions, all 
types of farmers, con-
sultants

Financial institutions, 
policy-makers, govern-
ment departments

Farmer markets Monthly outreach programmes and exhibitions at 
Thusong Centres and Thusong mobile facilities.

Annual publication and distribution of departmental 
Annual Report and Annual Report to Citizens.

Quarterly agriculture and agribusiness strategy and 
implementation meetings.

Specific issues addressed on weekly radio talks (if and 
when necessary).

Consultative forums conducted at scheduled times.

Scheduled workshops and conferences held.
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Service delivery access strategy, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Access strategy Actual achievements

Handling of student affairs
a)	 At the main campus at Elsenburg, Muldersvlei 

Road and the following four decentralised 
campuses:

- Outeniqua Farm, Airport Road, George (6530)
- Kamanassie Road, Oudtshoorn (6620)
- Golf Road, Bredasdorp (7280)
- Augsburg Road, Clanwilliam (8135)

The services were provided at the head office of the department situated 
at Muldersvlei Road, Elsenburg, Stellenbosch and at the 4 decentralised 
campuses. 

Access through walk-in, phone-in, e-mailing, write-in and also through 
the Thusong outreach programme and website facilities, visits to schools, 
open days, farmer days, exhibitions and expos. 

Reasonable accommodation considered and made to provide proper 
access facilities for people with disabilities.

Handling of agricultural economic enquiries
a)	 Department of Agriculture, Private Bag X1, 

Elsenburg (7607)
The services were provided at the head office of the department situated 
at Muldersvlei Road, Elsenburg in Stellenbosch. 

Access through walk-in, phone-in, e-mailing, write-in and also through 
the Thusong outreach programme facilities, workshops and conferences, 
website, radio talks (if and when necessary), and information on flat-
screen TV systems at head- and regional offices.
 
Reasonable accommodation considered and made to provide proper 
access facilities for people with disabilities.

Service information tools, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013
		

     Type of information tool Actual achievements

Handling of student affairs

a)	 One-on-one meetings

b)	 Road shows

c)	 Information sessions

d)	 Guideline documents

e)	 Departmental website

f)	 Annual Report

g)	 Prospectus

h)	 Radio Agriculture

The following mechanisms were utilised:

a)	 Regular meetings for information sharing and updates  e.g. parent/student/
house committees/US faculty /PAET/ College Council Meetings, etc. 

b)	 Career exhibitions and expos, Thusong outreach programme facilities, open 
days.

c)	 Monthly information sessions with learners at primary and secondary schools, 
visits of learner groups to campuses, open and farmer days, exhibitions and 
expos, Thusong facilities.

d)	 Specific information e-mailed or posted on request.

e)	 Departmental website maintained and updated regularly.

f)	 Departmental Annual Report and Report to Citizens published and distributed.

g)	 Prospectus made available.

h)	 Radio Agriculture: Weekly talks and interviews on radio.

Handling of agricultural economic enquiries
a)	 Road shows

b)	  Report to Citizens
c)	 Radio talks
d)	 Forum meetings of department and 

stakeholders
e)	 Annual reports

f)	 One-on-one meetings
g)	 Any form of communication, i.e. e-mail, 

telephone, verbal.

The following mechanisms were utilised:
a)	 Regular information sessions held, Thusong outreach programme facilities 

utilised, exhibitions and expos attended.
b)	 Annual Report to Citizens published and distributed.
c)	 Radio talks conducted (if and when necessary).
d)	 55 workshops held /information disseminated at sessions.

e) Departmental Annual Report submitted, published and distributed.

f)	 Regular meetings held/conducted.
g)	  Regular communication through walk-in, phone-in, write-in, e-mailing, 

flat-screen technology, report-back and progress reports, exhibitions, 
expos and farmer and open days, workshops and conferences.
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Complaints mechanisms, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Complaints mechanism Actual achievements

Handling of student affairs
a)	 Direct contact, e-mail, telephonically 

with management or supervisors at the 
main campus at Elsenburg, Muldersvlei 
Road or four decentralised campuses.

b)	 Departmental complaints/suggestions 
and compliments officer

c)	 Complaints register

a) – c) Normal channel for complaints as mentioned in service delivery 
charter is via the departmental communications manager as well as all 
Senior Management. 99% of the cases received through these channels 
are enquiries rather than complaints. 
Further channels include the RED NUMBERS system that is directed via the 
provincial Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development as well as hotline 
queries (Presidency). 
Complaints/queries/enquiries are also routed via the Primarius and Chair-
person of the SRC. 
All cases are dealt with in accordance with departmental service delivery 
standards for these types of complaints/enquiries/queries and recorded in 
the register/book for this purpose.
Receipt of complaint/ enquiry/ query is immediately acknowledged and 
feedback given. Where necessary feedback is given on progress with 
outstanding cases. 

Handling of agricultural economic enquiries
Through official channels i.e.
a)	 Management

b)	 Liaison officer

c)	 E-mail

d)	 Telephonically

e)	 Written correspondence

f)	 Face-to-face

g)	 Complaints register

a) –g) Normal channel for complaints as mentioned in service delivery 
charter is via the departmental communications manager as well as all 
Senior Management. Complaints are recorded and responded to immedi-
ately. A departmental service delivery standard for response time exists.  
In most cases enquiries rather than complaints are received through these 
channels. A further channel is RED NUMBERS that is directed via the provin-
cial Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development as well as hotline queries 
(Presidency). 
All cases dealt with in accordance with the departmental service delivery 
standards for these types of complaints/enquiries/queries and recorded in 
the register/book for this purpose.
Receipt of complaint/ enquiry/ query is immediately acknowledged and 
feedback given. Where necessary feedback is given on progress with 
outstanding cases. 

3.3.	 Organisational environment 

The implementation of the departmental macrostructure resulted in some changes at the Senior 
Management level, particularly for FSD. The appointment of Messrs Dudley Adolph as Acting DDG: 
ADSS and Mogale Sebopetsa as Acting Chief Director: FSD and Ms Antonia Xaba as Acting Chief 
Director: RDC necessitated some changes within the Programme: FSD to ensure that service delivery 
is not affected by these shifts. To this end, Mr Douglas Chitepo was transferred from SAET to FSD as a 
Senior Manager responsible for Overberg and City of Cape Town, whilst Mr Adriaan Conradie, was 
appointed Acting Director for the West Coast.

The Programme Manager: RDC resigned at the end of October 2012. However, this was mitigated by 
appointing Ms Antonia Xaba in an acting capacity two months earlier (1 September 2012) to ensure a 
smooth transition.

There were no system failures or cases of corruption which needed any special attention.

The implementation of the OSD for engineers and engineering technicians did not result in the finding 
and appointing of technical staff in SRM due to the lack of suitably qualified candidates who applied for 
the advertised posts. The bursary programme implemented to attract more people from the designated 
groups to agriculture and thereby improve the equity status and service delivery to clients has allowed 
students to be appointed on contract as candidate engineers and engineering technicians. This is in line 
with the OSD prescripts that require that only engineers and engineering technicians registered with the 
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Engineering Council of South Africa (ECSA) may be appointed permanently. The full complement of ten 
candidate engineering technicians has been placed in the districts and they are on their way to working 
independently.  Two candidate engineers, both from the designated groups, were also appointed on 
contract. The successful recruitment of experienced graduate and professional engineers remains a 
challenge.

The Programme: FSD has not been able to make any new appointments due to the fact that the matching 
and placing process must still be concluded. Given this situation, the programme therefore resolved to 
extend the extension revitalisation programme (ERP) contracts to 30 June 2013 to allow for the completion 
of the process without compromising the delivery of services to the clients.

Thirty-seven (37) staff members were supported with ERP bursaries to further their studies in order to comply 
with the norms and standards for extension. To this end, 72% of FSD extension officers are compliant with the 
norms and standards for extension, i.e. minimum four-year qualification in agriculture.

Most of the vacant positions in the programme: RTDS have been filled or are in the process of being filled. 
The implementation of the new microstructure of the programme has commenced by focusing on the 
most critical positions and budget availability. The new positions of research co-ordinators at the research 
farms, replacing the posts of senior farm managers, were approved and will be phased in during 2013. This 
will ensure that the research co-ordination and execution at the research farms takes place on a more 
scientifically sound level and research between animal and plant sciences will be better co-ordinated.
	
The scientific manager of the Institute for Resource Utilisation passed away and this caused a managerial 
challenge, but interim measures were implemented to alleviate this problem and service delivery continued 
without any interruptions.

High turnover of skilled employees continues to be a problem for Programme: AES. As soon as an 
employee acquires skills through training and other internal interventions there is a high possibility of 
losing the incumbent, mainly to the private sector. A general concern is the lack of a career path for the 
profession within the public sector as it was not included in the OSD. This seriously hampers the effective 
functioning of the programme and requires serious interventions. Often the feeling amongst economists is 
that government is not taking the agricultural economics profession seriously and this might have serious 
implications in the long run. Even though the programme managed to recruit eight new incumbents, five 
officials resigned during the course of the year. There are various tools that are used to mitigate this situation, 
e.g. regulatory and soft tools in order to retain staff, but these are sometimes not effective. Engagements 
on these challenges also take place at the national agricultural economics working group.

The Programme: SAET remains challenged to recruit and retain well-skilled staff. A shortage of lecturing staff 
was alleviated by the appointment of training consultants as part-time lecturers.

A number of staff resigned in the past year. Two posts which were filled became vacant again in the 
agribusiness management faculty. This faculty has the highest turnover rate. The pomology division’s senior 
lecturer resigned, which left a huge gap. At the same time the part-time lecturers who assisted over many 
years also terminated their services. Great difficulty was experienced in replacing the staff, with part-time 
lecturers assisting in this regard. The winemaker, cellar technologist and the assistant winemaker all resigned. 
The cellar technologist post was filled on contract by a bursary beneficiary. The assistant winemaker and 
lecturer: oenology post was filled. The posts for farm foremen for pomology and viticulture were filled. 
The latter was filled by one of the participants in the Western Cape-Burgundy Exchange programme. The 
contract position for a lecturer for viticulture was also filled by a permanent appointment. 

The administrative burden has increased drastically and takes away crucial time from service delivery. 
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It is envisaged that a work study be done in this area. The filling of these posts was delayed due to the 
matching and placing process taking place in the branch.

The post of Director: FET became vacant with the transfer of the incumbent to the Programme: 
FSD. This post will be filled through the normal recruitment process. Four of the vacancies in the sub-
programme: FET were filled during the 4th quarter, namely learnership co-ordinator, administration clerk 
and two (2) lecturer posts (human and social sciences).

Two centre managers, Clanwilliam and Oudtshoorn, resigned during the 3rd and 4th quarter of the 
year respectively. These posts, as well as one administration clerk post and one post for a lecturer: 
agricultural engineering, will be filled through the normal recruitment process. Graduates from the 
Young Professionals Programme (YPP) will be appointed in two vacant posts for lecturer: agricultural 
management. 

The recent farm worker strikes required that FWD staff were redirected to attend to crisis management 
in collaboration with the Department of Local Government’s Provincial Disaster Management Centre 
and the South African Police. This resulted in limited focus, especially in the third quarter, on delivery of 
normal services such as training, etc. 

Furthermore, as the activation of 15 rural nodes is progressing with 12 activated already, additional 
capacity in the DP sub-programme has been identified as a priority to be considered and addressed 
in the new financial year.

3.4.	 Key policy developments and legislative changes 

The Spatial Planning Land Use Management Bill (SPLUMB) and the Western Cape Land Use Planning Bill 
(LUPB) that will replace the Land Use Management Ordinance, are still under discussion and in various 
stages of the legislative process. At the same time the Subdivision of Agricultural Land Act, Act 70 of 1970, 
is being revamped to stay in line with recent developments and policy changes. Only after these pieces 
of legislation become new Acts can the impact on the service delivery of the department be determined. 

DAFF embarked on a process of developing an extension policy for South Africa. To this end, a provincial 
workshop was held with internal and external stakeholders on 2 October 2012. It is expected that the policy 
will provide a framework on how this service has to be delivered in the future.

An impact study of CASP is planned for 2013/14 by DAFF in partnership with the Department of 
Performance Monitoring and Evaluation in the Presidency. The Programme: FSD participated in a 
DAFF workshop held on 29January 2013 aimed at the development of the terms of reference for the 
study. 

Furthermore, the constitution of the food security work group (PSO8) will not only strengthen collaboration 
between departments but will also affect the way projects are delivered to ensure long-term sustainability.

FSD also participated in a survey on smallholder development, spearheaded by DAFF, with a focus on 
the Overberg region. The research data of this exercise will be made available to the department to 
be used as baseline information insofar as the analysis and assessment of current smallholder assistance 
programmes is concerned.

Major legislative changes within the veterinary public health field were promulgated by means of 
three draft documents in the Government Gazette during the year. These include the proposed game 
scheme, independent meat inspection at all abattoirs and the National Abattoir Rating Scheme 
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(NARS). Implementation of these legislative requirements will result in a significant increase in the 
workload of the Programme: VS.

The prevailing occurrence of Avian Influenza (AI) and new EU regulations forced the Programme: RTDS 
to register its Oudtshoorn Research Farm according to a strict set of regulations in order to ensure that 
birds of superior genetic quality can be introduced back into the industry. Biosecurity plans at Oudtshoorn 
were completed and the farm was registered according to EU standards after substantial financial input. 
Construction of a facility  for a reserve ostrich resource at Nortier Research Farm has commenced and 
should be completed towards mid-2013. Due to EU regulations, no birds could be moved or sold and 
this resulted in the cancellation of the annual ostrich auction for 2012/13. This had a severe effect on the 
budget, as additional feed had to be procured to sustain the auction flock. A decision was taken not to 
slaughter the superior genetic material, knowing that these birds would form the basis and be much sought 
after for the regeneration of the industry once the export ban was lifted and farms were registered again. 
The fact that the auction could not be held resulted in much-needed income not being realised.

The contract with Kaap Agri as an intermediary to disburse the Micro-Agricultural Financial Institutions of 
South Africa (MAFISA) loans in the Western Cape province came to an end in January 2012. This had a 
negative impact on farmers in the Western Cape since MAFISA was one of the funding vehicles and those 
most affected were the PLAS beneficiaries. While there were talks to renew the contract with Kaap Agri 
this never materialised, and instead an expression of interest from institutions interested to serve as MAFISA 
intermediaries was published by DAFF. But this still resulted to no institution being appointed for the Western 
Cape. 

A few allegations about the increasing number of imported products that distort the local market were 
observed. This led to farmers asking for more regulation of imports to safeguard against the collapse 
of local prices. However, exporting countries to South Africa fought back as they are also looking 
for foreign markets. One example is Brazil that took South Africa to the WTO over a dispute about 
poultry tariffs, despite both countries being membersof BRICS. In addition, a number of Acts were 
reviewed, including the Agricultural Product Standards Acts, the Marketing of Agricultural Products 
Act, the Agricultural Produce Marketing Agencies Bill, the Plant Health (Phytosanitary) Bill, and the 
Liquor Products Amendment Bill. 

This year saw the re-launch of the AgriBEE Fund after the abandoning of the equity scheme model for land 
reform by the DRDLR. This fund is perhaps one of the vehicles that agribusinesses could utilise to further 
transformation but the Programme: AES remains unaware whether any projects benefited from the fund. 
The Proudly South African “Buy Local to Create Jobs” campaign was launched and expected to provide 
an opportunity for different local producers including farmers and agribusinesses to create markets in 
government departments and agencies for local procurement. But this would not be achieved without 
better synchronisation, especially of procurement policies.

A minimum wage determination for the agricultural sector was published and, as a result, structural 
changes are expected to take place within the sector, e.g. reviewing of human resource policies, strategic 
operations and vision towards the future, such as with regard to investments into labour-saving machinery 
by businesses. 

The worldwide non-compliance cases on food safety and labelling that emerged are expected to result 
in an increase in regulations and labelling on foodstuffs in general. This phenomenon will have implications 
for farmers and agribusinesses in local and export markets. Hence, there is a need to train personnel to 
be able to deal with increasing demand. Labelling and policing has become one of the areas which will 
need to be strengthened in the value chains in South Africa in order to protect the country from a surge 
of imports.
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A process has been initiated by DAFF to develop a Green Paper on Agricultural Education and Training 
Institutes. A status report from DAFF is awaited.

The implementation of the Norms and Standards for Agricultural Training Institutes of South Africa 
framework will have profound implications for the functioning of the Elsenburg Agricultural Training 
Institute, especially with regard to governance structure, training offerings and qualifications of staff, 
accreditation and staff remuneration. The organisational structure of the Programme: SAET will need 
to be revised in order to be aligned with the new mandate and scope of the agricultural training 
institute framework as envisaged by DAFF and aligned with the macrostructure of the department. 

The offering of accredited skills-based short courses and learnerships will be affected by the restructuring 
of the Sector Education and Training Authorities (SETAs), especially with regard to future funding of these 
programmes. Furthermore, the Higher Education and Training Act (as amended), which now has the 
mandate over both FET and HET, will have a direct impact on, amongst others, how the educational 
streams need to operate, their accreditation and programme approval status. 

In line with the national CRDP, four rural development nodes, as selected at the outset of this programme, 
will be implemented in the next financial year. The target was set at 15 nodes to be supported by 2014; 
however, to ensure sustainability of these nodes consideration should be given to provision of a longer 
term of comprehensive support. This will ensure true socio-economic development in fewer nodes rather 
than setting further targets to activate additional nodes. This is a matter that will need to be taken up at a 
strategic planning level.

The recent farm worker unrest has highlighted the importance and need for a holistic approach to 
address the challenges faced by farm workers and rural communities at large. The agricultural sector is 
currently experiencing significant structural changes and all relevant stakeholders from all three spheres of 
government, farm worker unions and organisations, religious institutions and farmers need to collaborate to 
seek the necessary solutions. 

The department has crafted an agricultural rural response plan to address key issues in rural areas. Further 
details on specific interventions will be reported on as the plans unfold in the next financial year. Interventions 
will require a multidisciplinary approach and will rely on the support of various stakeholders and departments 
for implementation. The long-term intervention, the Future of Agriculture and the Rural Economy (FARE), 
is to secure stability in the sector through broad consultation and development initiatives. Furthermore, it 
endeavours to develop consensus on the idealised future and vision of the sector, to create a common 
understanding of the current situation in the sector by providing commonly accepted quantifiable and 
non-quantifiable data, and to develop a common agenda for change that is accepted by as many 
actors as possible. 

4.	 STRATEGIC OUTCOME-ORIENTED GOALS

4.1	 Support the provincial agricultural sector to at least maintain its export position for the next 
	 5 years by growing its value added from R14.014 billion in 2009

Engineering services were provided to the agricultural clients by the Programme: SRM to maintain or 
increase the export position and at the same time increase the feasibility and sustainability of their farming 
enterprises. Engineering services were provided to clients through 272 support initiatives such as investigation 
reports, designs and completion certificates and 270 clients were provided with ad hoc engineering advice 
or training.
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The Programme: FSD continued with its commodity approach to farmer support and development 
in the province. This approach has helped with the appointment of mentors linked to smallholder 
farmers and facilitated their access to formal markets.

The 2012/13 year marked the second financial year in which it was not possible to export fresh ostrich 
meat or cloven hoofed wild game meat from South Africa to the traditional EU markets. This was 
because of an outbreak of foot-and-mouth disease early during 2011, as well as an outbreak of Highly 
Pathogenic AI in the Oudtshoorn area during February 2011. The four ostrich abattoirs, two of which 
are also approved to export wild game meat, suffered severely, as reflected in loss of income as well 
as employment opportunities. A number of ostrich farmers filed for bankruptcy. Differing approaches 
between the provincial veterinary services and DAFF on a disease control strategy for AI proved 
challenging. However, the ostrich industry started processing ostrich meat and small quantities were 
exported during the year. Two of the existing ostrich abattoirs in the province were approved by the 
EU for this purpose.

Research on market access issues is a key factor in the success of smallholder and commercial 
farmers. Market access not only includes focus areas like new or previously inaccessible markets, but 
also focuses on the specifications and compliance of products to successfully enter these markets. In 
this regard the department has played a leading role in contributing to the setting of standards and 
providing support in this regard to the industries. The Programme: RTDS contributed to the industry 
standards of various commodities and has also assisted with refinement of biosecurity measures of the 
ostrich industry as a prerequisite for entering the EU market. Research on ostrich leather and pitting has 
also contributed to higher-quality skins and better prices being obtained.

Market access for all farmers is one of the key priorities as set out in PSO11. As a result, market access 
activities are co-ordinated through the market access work group. This has proven to be a platform 
for various institutions to share and inform industries of new developments on market access. One 
of the focus areas in support of the actions of the work group to achieve market access is market 
development. As a result, the Programme: AES supported 6 international events with a strong focus on 
new and sustainable markets. 

Locally, targeted interventions for smallholder farmers are through the market access programme. As 
a result, 41 projects received comprehensive support from the programme. During this year a book 
on market access success stories was compiled. The initiatives of the Programme: AES resulted in 
70 agribusinesses supported to access markets locally and abroad. Fifty-four (54) complementary 
market information reports have been produced and disseminated. In addition, 40 co-operatives 
were developed.

The Programme: SAET contributed in a very significant way to human capital and skills development 
in the agricultural sector and continued to facilitate and provide formal and non-formal training 
on NQF levels 1-7 with a focus on youth and all farming groups, i.e. smallholder, subsistence and 
commercial farmers and farm-aids, in order to promote and support a knowledgeable, prosperous 
and competitive sector.  

The Programme: SAET offered 4 formal HET training programmes, namely a B. Agric (273 students), a 
Diploma (18 students) and a Higher Certificate (97 students) in Agriculture as well as the Certificate in 
Horse Mastership and Preliminary Riding Instruction (13 students) to 401 students. Of these, 20 students 
discontinued their studies for a variety of reasons. A total of 140 students graduated from these 
programmes.
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4.2	 Ensure that at least 60% of all agricultural land reform projects in the province are successful 
	 over the next 5 years

The Programme: SRM provided appropriate engineering services to 68 land reform beneficiaries to 
increase the feasibility and sustainability of their farming enterprises.  This was done through 98 support 
initiatives such as investigation reports, designs and completion certificates.
	
The use of Smart Pen technology has proven to be a significant tool for data capturing and monitoring of 
in-field services delivered. FSD delivered seventy-eight (78) agricultural demonstrations and twenty-nine 
(29) farmers’ days and supported 4 148 farmers with advice.

The commodity approach strengthened the mentorship support rendered to smallholder farmers and 
contributes directly to the success of land reform projects in the province. This approach has been adopted 
to improve planning, economic sustainability of government-supported farms and long-term integration 
in the sector. The key focus of grant funding allocation through the commodity structures has been on 
increasing production and access to markets in order to support the graduation of smallholder farmers to 
commercial status, which in turn aligns with output 1 of NO7. 

Twenty-six (26) mentors were appointed to strengthen production. This is positive in that it affords smallholder 
farmers an opportunity to benefit from the existing networks within commodity groups and thus they are in 
a position to produce quality products and gain access to markets.

The success of land reform projects is based on a plethora of factors, one of the most important of which is 
the fine balance between available resources and choice of farming operation. In this regard the research 
effort and spatial intelligence tools have assisted in identifying resource limitations or opportunities, whilst the 
spatial analysis support (maps and other tools) was invaluable to the extension officers and farmers, among 
others. Furthermore, the sustainability of land reform projects is also based on production technologies, 
and in this regard the research efforts have focused on yield-increasing or cost-decreasing climate-smart 
technologies in plant and animal production. The information dissemination portfolio has expanded to also 
include smallholder farmers and their specific research and information needs.

Targeted interventions for smallholders include the SimFini financial programme in which 30 businesses 
were assisted with comprehensive support with their farm records. The programme is the custodian 
of a black farmer database which has proven to be a useful managerial tool to assist in decision-
making. The beneficiaries of MAFISA loans were given financial management advice and monitored 
on a regular basis to eliminate the repayment irregularities. A total of 16 economic studies (impact 
assessments, viability studies, business plans, feasibility studies and investment programmes developed 
or evaluated) were produced. These are mainly for land reform and agrarian beneficiaries.

Another programme targeting towards land reform beneficiaries is the market access programme where 
41 businesses received comprehensive support related to market access. Three producers were supported 
to obtain South African Good Agricultural Practice (SAGap) accreditation while others were supported 
to maintain their existing accreditation. Complementary to the market access programme is research in 
collaboration with the Wageningen University in the Netherlands through its Co-innovation for Quality in 
African food chains (CoQA) research and capacity-building programme, and the University of Fort Hare. The 
programme is aimed at improving quality in agri-food chains. The current research focuses on innovations 
in structure, co-ordination and support services in the South African deciduous fruit supply chain to improve 
market access for land and agrarian reform smallholder farmers and commercial entrepreneurs.

The Programme: SAET (sub-programme: FET) in collaboration with the FSD Programme presented a 
variety of skills programmes to beneficiaries of CASP and Ilima across the districts. This contributed to 
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approximately 2 482 beneficiaries being trained in total, of which 387 farmers, 1 637 farm-aids and 458 
others can be clustered within the subsistence and smallholder farmer groupings.

4.3	 Support the sector (farmers and industries) to increase agricultural production (primary provincial  
	 commodities) by at least 10% over the next 10 years

A total of 198 irrigation farmers were provided with relevant information by the Programme: SRM to assist 
them to optimally utilise the natural resources available to them to increase production whilst using the same 
water allocation. Farmers were furthermore assisted with 69 mechanisation and conservation farming, 4 on-
farm value adding, 43 farm structures and animal handling and 43 riverbank erosion protection initiatives.

The Programme: FSD dedicated a considerable amount of time to the strengthening of the commodity 
approach to farmer support and development in the province. To date, there are 10 CPACs that meet 
monthly to prioritise projects from the farmers. Accordingly, a total of 91 projects were supported, i.e. 
8 wine grapes, 28 fruit, 2 dairy, 8 table grapes, 9 grain, 14 vegetables and seed, 10 animal (piggery, 
beef and poultry), 10 sheep and wool, and 2 aquaculture.

Quarterly meetings are held between the department and commodities to share information and 
discuss progress relating to work groups 1 (production) and 5 (extension) which contribute to output 
1 of the NO7 and PSO11. Through the commodity approach a total of 26 mentors were appointed to 
support smallholder farmers. The programme delivered 78 demonstrations and 29 farmers’ days and 
supported 4 148 farmers with advice. 

A total of 77 community projects (including school projects) and 897 households were supported, 
benefiting 1 630 persons across the province.

Due to a very uncertain regulatory environment many ostrich farmers discontinued farming with 
ostriches and the total number of ostriches in the province dwindled to an all-time low for the last 
decade. The decimation of the ostrich industry in the rural areas of the province will have a negative 
impact on the growth of agricultural production, especially in the areas affected.

Comprehensive and client-focused research programmes and projects were executed by the 
Institutes for Animal and Plant Production, and Resource Utilisation.

In order for agricultural producers (commercial and smallholder) to increase and sustain their 
production two critical factors, i.e. lower input technology (lower input costs) and higher output 
technology (production) must be considered. This is furthermore of the utmost importance considered 
against the challenges of climate change and the adoption of climate-smart practices. The role of 
research and development in this regard is of critical importance. New and adapted technology 
generated from cutting-edge research efforts has and will ensure that producers are sustainable and 
competitive with limited natural resources (especially water) and in the changing environment and 
will secure the base to increase agricultural production by 10% over the next ten years. Climate-smart 
agriculture will be of the utmost importance in all agricultural operations, whilst on-farm renewable 
energy opportunities will be much sought after. Agriculture is one of the most important and one of 
the largest knowledge-based sectors in South Africa, and science and technology, with research as a 
key cornerstone, are important to underpin agrarian economic growth and to ultimately address food 
security and rural development.

Through collaboration with the Bureau for Food and Agricultural Policy (BFAP), research is conducted 
based on economic modelling, specifically medium-term projections of price and production volumes 
for different agricultural industries and farm-level models for strategic decision-making. The basket of 
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industries that are included in the industry projections has expanded over the past few years as new 
industry models are developed, while existing industry models are also maintained. These include 
table grapes, apples, pears, wine, winter grains, dairy, meat and potatoes. The outcome of this is a 
baseline document which is launched on an annual basis and has become a well-known event on 
the agricultural calendar of the Western Cape.

Included in the BFAP tools is the agri-benchmark that generates sustainable, comparable, quantified 
information about farming systems, in particular comparisons of typical farms (production systems, 
production costs, competitiveness, future development). As a result, the agri-benchmark network 
embarked on the model for horticulture. The Micro Combud programme that was also referenced 
by the agri-benchmark network was used to update 24 existing budgets while establishing 11 new 
ones. The research conducted under the sub-programme: Macroeconomics Support resulted in 37 
reports. The databases (44) that are maintained by the programme are key to supporting analysis 
also conducted by the programme and various institutions. As a result, about 142 information requests 
were responded to.

The Programme: SAET partnered with various stakeholders in promoting and supporting skills development 
and capacity-building in agriculture. Skills-based training was provided to 2 482 farmers and farm-aids, 
whilst 401 students enrolled for full-time study in higher education and training programmes. A total of 
140 students graduated from these programmes and will enter the sector primarily as farmers, farm 
managers, assistant farm managers, supervisors, agriculturalists and agricultural advisors.

4.4	 Optimise the sustainable utilisation of our natural resources through conservation methodologies  
	 to increase agricultural production

The Programme: SRM provided relevant information to 198 irrigators to assist them to increase their water use 
efficiency to produce more crops with less water and provided relevant information to dry land grain and 
rooibos tea farmers through 69 initiatives to change from conventional farming to conservation farming 
practices to increase soil fertility and retain moisture in the soil. Six (6) awareness campaigns on LandCare 
and 6 capacity-building exercise were conducted. About 27 359 ha of farm land were improved through 
conservation measures and 241 farm plans were updated for sustainable farming purposes.

The department’s Unit for Technical Assistance is fully functional and provides a full suite of planning and 
assessment services that include environmental assessment and natural resource planning expertise. 

The sub-programme: Food Security’s household food production programme (suitcase) is designed in such 
a way that it encourages the use of family drip irrigation systems, and thus helps to conserve water, whilst 
not compromising food production.

In addition, the Programme: FSD promotes conservation agriculture practices in the province through its 
extension and advisory services to farmers.

The challenges of climate change have already impacted on the Western Cape, believed to be the 
province which will be affected most by this phenomenon. For this reason we have experienced a high 
demand for research and technology development services to assist farmers in sustaining their production 
against a set of climate challenges. We have also increased the focus on climate change related research 
disciplines, including minimum or no tillage for soil conservation, crop rotation for higher production, judicious 
fertiliser use, alternative farming practices and possible new and alternative crops for the Western Cape. 

The resource economics research conducted by the Programme: AES in support of NO10 and PSO7 resulted 
in a report on growing prickly pears for biogas production in arid regions and also two resource economics 
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papers, one of which was submitted to the South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences. 
In addition, a paper and a report for a study on livestock predation in the Western Cape were completed. 
Other reports include a document on carbon emissions between Cape Town and selected destinations 
as a contribution towards the department’s green initiatives. In addition, the programme is part of a team 
involved in Goukou wetlands research.	

The Programme: SAET (sub-programme: FET) promotes sustainable agricultural practices through presenting 
a module on sustainable farming practices, as well as organic farming, natural resource management and 
principles of food security, as part of a structured learnership programme. The promotion of sustainable 
farming practices also forms a central theme in the teaching of students in all tertiary education and 
training programmes. 
	
The curricula of all HET training programmes cover a substantial amount of course content on natural 
resource management. It is a module that is offered in each year of study. It forms a third of all course 
content, especially for the Diploma in Agriculture.

4.5	 Increase agricultural economic opportunities in selected rural areas based on socio-economic  
	 needs over a 10-year period

The department commemorated the World Food Day event on 12 th October 2012 in Bella Vista, Witzenberg 
municipality. As part of the celebration, the Department supported households with food production 
packages (suitcase) to enable own food production. A total of 77 community food production projects 
(including school projects) and 897 households were supported across the province, reaching 1 630 
beneficiaries.

The Programme: SAET is actively involved with skills development in the province, especially within the 
CRDP nodes. Training in leadership, communication, entrepreneurship, agri-marketing and financial 
management is provided mainly to members of councils of stakeholders.

The establishment of new agricultural enterprises in rural areas was supported by the research and 
development portfolio of the department. This included the supplying of decision-making tools (i.e. risk 
and potential assessments) and technical support in the judicious use of natural resources to optimise 
agricultural production with limited input.

The Programme: AES participated in the rural development steering committee meetings. The Agribusiness 
Investment Unit has made a considerable contribution to achieve the above objective as the unit has 
committed R172.2 million worth of investment in a number of projects, with the majority of projects in rural 
areas. A concerted effort has been made to work with the RDC Programme in creating awareness and 
establishing new co-operatives in the rural nodes. As a result, a number of workshops were held in this 
regard. 

Through the co-ordination of rural development in the province the total number of active nodes has 
been brought up to 12 across the province as four (4) rural development nodes were activated with 
18 councils of stakeholders constituted and rendered active. A total of 1 303 people were trained and 
755 gained access to employment opportunities in the rural development nodes.

In terms of farm worker development a total of 2 391 farm workers were trained in life skills and 
development while 18 projects were supported, four of which focused on substance abuse awareness 
and prevention. A total of 15 regions participated in the Annual Farm Worker of the Year Competition 
and 552 farm workers were assisted through the referral system.
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5.	 PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME

5.1.	 Programme 1: Administration 

Purpose

The provision of strategic and relevant support services to the respective line functions (programmes) 
of the department, which include the following:

	 Leadership and strategic direction pertaining to all relevant policies, prescripts and 
	 national and provincial frameworks.
	 Provision of effective and efficient administrative support, financial support and sound 

	 corporate governance.
	 A comprehensive communication service.
	 Building and transforming the respective programmes in the department and 

	 agricultural sector to give impetus to our vision.

The provision of leadership and services is rendered within the context of national and provincial human 
resource and financial directives, the Strategic Plan for South African Agriculture, which has three 
broad principles (equitable access and participation (people), sustainable resource management 
(planet) and global competitiveness and profitability (profit)), the 12 National Outcomes and the 
provincial strategic plan which has 11 strategic objectives, and which gives impetus to the open 
opportunity society framework.

Improving the image of agriculture in the Western Cape is becoming more and more important in 
order to change negative perceptions to positive ones, particularly with regard to those who can 
make meaningful contributions but are reluctant to do so due to being ill-informed about the sector 
and the priorities and strategic objectives of the department. Internally, the aim of communication 
is to create an informed and unified personnel body that understands the various policies, vision and 
mission and their role in it.

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure
 

Sub-programme

2012/13 2011/12

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Office of the MEC 5 917 5 917 0 5 780 5 780 0

Senior Management 5 361 5 361 0 4 126 4 126 0

Corporate Services 38 646 38 646 0 31 237 31 237 0

Financial 
Management

27 734 26 992 742 28 410 25 777 2 633

Communica-tion 
Services

4 430 4 430 0 3 270 3 270 0

Total 82 088 81 346 742 72 823 70 190 2 633
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5.2.	 Programme 2: Sustainable Resource Management 

Purpose

The Programme: SRM delivers a support service to all farmers in the province, and the major emphasis 
is on maintaining and improving the current natural resources through implementation of projects, 
regulation and communication campaigns. In its endeavour to ensure the overall sustainability of the 
agricultural sector, the focus is on interventions at farm level. The impact of climate change will be 
experienced by Programme: SRM first and the changes in methodologies to support farmers will force 
this programme to remain innovative.

To achieve this, the programme must continue to provide sustainable resource management solutions 
and methodologies through the provision of agricultural engineering and LandCare services, proactive 
communication, facilitation and implementation of projects as well as technology transfer to clients 
and partners. The programme is also responsible for the implementation and management of disaster 
aid schemes.

The programme’s purpose links directly to NO10: Environmental assets and natural resources that are 
well protected and continually enhanced, and PSO7: Mainstreaming sustainability and optimising 
resource-use efficiency as well as supporting PSO11. 

The programme is structured into four sub-programmes, namely:

	 Engineering Services
	 LandCare
	 Land Use Management
	 Disaster Risk Management.

The strategic objectives of the sub-programmes are as follows:

Sub-programme: Engineering Services
	 Provide engineering services to support and increase agricultural production and optimise 		

	 sustainable natural resource use.

Sub-programme: LandCare
	 Promote the sustainable use and management of natural agricultural resources.

Sub-programme: Land Use Management
	 Promote the implementation of sustainable use and management of natural agricultural 		

	 resources through regulated land use. 

Sub-programme: Disaster Risk Management
	 Provide support services to clients with regard to agricultural disaster risk management.
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Strategic Objectives

Programme 2: Sustainable Resource Management

Strategic Objectives
Actual 

Achievements 
2011/12

Planned Target 
2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 

actual achievement 
2012/13

Comments on deviations

Engineering Services: 
Provide engineering 
services to support 
and increase agricul-
tural production and 
optimise sustainable 
natural resource use.

623 515 542 27 The service is demand 
driven and although the 
demand for engineering 
services decreased the 
demand for technical 
information sharing and 
training increased.

LandCare: Promote 
the sustainable use 
and management of 
natural agricultural 
resources.

639 566 498 (68) The service is demand 
driven and due to 
the current economic 
situation fewer requests 
for veld protection works 
were received.

Land Use Manage-
ment: Promote the 
implementation of 
sustainable use and 
management of 
natural agricultural 
resources through 
regulated land use.

932 900 1 070 170 The service is demand 
driven and more appli-
cations for subdivision 
and/or rezoning of 
agricultural land were 
received.

Disaster Risk Manage-
ment: Provide support 
services to clients with 
regard to agricultural 
disaster risk manage-
ment.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

20 48 28 Severe climatic condi-
tions necessitated the 
high number of early 
warnings issued.

Performance indicators

Sub-programme 2.1: Engineering Services

Performance Indi-
cator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 

actual achievement 
2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of agricultur-
al engineering adviso-
ry reports prepared

226 170 145 (25) The service is demand 
driven and due to 
the current economic 
situation fewer requests 
for engineering advisory 
reports were received.

Number of designs 
with specifications for 
agricultural engineer-
ing solutions provided

91 93 71 (22) The service is demand 
driven and due to the 
current economic situ-
ation fewer requests for 
designs with specifica-
tions were received.

Number of final 
certificates issued for 
infrastructure con-
structed

92 52 56 4 The completion of proj-
ects that started in the 
previous year added to 
the number of final certifi-
cates issued.
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Sub-programme 2.1: Engineering Services

Performance Indi-
cator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 

actual achievement 
2012/13

Comments on deviations

Number of clients 
provided with engi-
neering advice during 
official visits

214 200 270 70 The service is demand 
driven and the demand 
for technical informa-
tion sharing and training 
increased.

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Water and irrigation

Number of support 
initiatives (investiga-
tion reports, designs & 
completion certif-
icates) rendered 
to Programme: FSD 
(CASP/LARP)

61 80 54 (26) The service is demand 
driven and due to 
the current economic 
situation fewer requests 
for the service were 
received.

Number of initiatives 
(investigation reports, 
designs & completion 
certificates) rendered 
to other stake-holders

66 75 63 (12) The service is demand 
driven and due to 
the current economic 
situation fewer requests 
for the service were 
received.

Number of clients 
provided with ad hoc 
engineering advice or 
training

162 90 198 108 The service is demand 
driven and the demand 
for technical informa-
tion sharing and training 
increased.

Mechanisation planning and conservation agriculture

Number of support 
initiatives (investiga-
tion reports, designs & 
completion certif-
icates) rendered 
to Programme: FSD 
(CASP/LARP)

32 5 20 15 The service is demand 
driven and more requests 
for the service were 
received.

Number of initiatives 
(investigation reports, 
designs & completion 
certificates) rendered 
to other stake-holders 
and demonstration 
blocks established to 
promote conservation 
agriculture

109 60 49 (11) The service is demand 
driven and due to 
the current economic 
situation fewer requests 
for the service were 
received.

Number of clients 
provided with ad hoc 
engineering advice or 
training

13 30 16 (14) The service is demand 
driven and fewer 
requests for the service 
were received.

On-farm value adding

Number of support 
initiatives (investiga-
tion reports, designs & 
completion certif-
icates) rendered 
to Programme: FSD 
(CASP/LARP)

1 4 0 (4) The service is demand 
driven and due to the 
current economic situa-
tion no requests for the 
service were received.
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Sub-programme 2.1: Engineering Services

Performance Indi-
cator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 

actual achievement 
2012/13

Comments on deviations

Number of initiatives 
(investigation reports, 
designs & completion 
certificates) rendered 
to other stake-holders

3 8 4 (4) The service is demand 
driven and due to 
the current economic 
situation fewer requests 
for the service were 
received.

Number of clients 
provided with ad hoc 
engineering advice or 
training

3 30 4 (26) The service is demand 
driven and due to 
the current economic 
situation fewer requests 
for the service were 
received.

Farm structures and animal handling facilities

Number of support 
initiatives (investiga-
tion reports, designs & 
completion certif-
icates) rendered 
to Programme: FSD 
(CASP/LARP)

36 25 24 (1) The service is demand 
driven and due to 
the current economic 
situation fewer requests 
for the service were 
received.

Number of initiatives 
(investigation reports, 
designs, completion 
certificates) rendered 
to other stake-holders

51 30 19 (11) The service is demand 
driven and due to 
the current economic 
situation fewer requests 
for the service were 
received.

Number of clients 
provided with ad hoc 
engineering advice or 
training

24 40 30 (10) The service is demand 
driven and due to 
the current economic 
situation fewer requests 
for the service were 
received.

River erosion protection

Number of initiatives 
(investigation reports, 
designs, completion 
certificates) for river-
bank erosion protec-
tion structures

45 30 43 13 The service is demand 
driven and due to the 
number of floods in 
recent years the demand 
for this service increased.

Number of clients 
provided with ad hoc 
engineering advice or 
training

14 8 22 14 The service is demand 
driven and due to the 
number of floods in 
recent years the demand 
for this service increased.
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Sub-programme 2.2: LandCare

Performance Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Devia-
tion from 
planned 
target to 
actual 

achieve-
ment 

2012/13

Comments on devi-
ations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of awareness campaigns con-
ducted on LandCare

7 6 6 0

Number of capacity-building exercises 
conducted within approved LandCare 
projects

6 6 6 0

Number of farm land hectares im-
proved through conservation measures

2 110 1 000 27 359 26 359 Massive deviation 
due to it being the first 
year that the fencing 
scheme has been im-
plemented with EPWP 
funds and the area 
fenced is now protect-
ed from predators 

Number of beneficiaries adopting and/
or practising sustainable production 
technologies and practices

0 0 0 0

Number of green jobs created through 
LandCare

Not reported 
on during this 
period

100 242 142 Inclusion of EPWP 
funding.

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of area-wide planning works 10 10 10 0

Number of protection works 43 150 52 (98) The service is demand 
driven and fewer 
requests for protection 
works were received.

Number of drainage works 30 50 50 0

Number of veld utilisation works 236 100 139 39 The service is demand 
driven and more 
requests for veld 
utilisation works were 
received.

Number of EPWP person days 25 040 40 000 55 732 15 732 The availability of 
EPWP funds led to the 
increase in person 
days created.

Number of youth attending Junior 
LandCare initiatives

6 338 8 000 9 707 1 707 Increase in youth 
reached through 
initiatives by increas-
ing the number of 
school visits and fewer 
camps.

Number of farm plans updated for 
sustainable farming purposes

314 250 241 (9) The service is demand 
driven and fewer 
requests for farm 
plan updating were 
received.
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Sub-programme 2.3: Land Use Management

Performance Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of recommenda-tions 
made on subdivision/re-zoning/
change of agricultural land use

932 900 1 070 170 The service is demand 
driven and more applica-
tions for subdivision and/
or rezoning of agricultural 
land were received.

Sub-programme 2.4: Disaster Risk Management

Performance Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of early warning advi-
sory reports issued

Not reported 
on during this 
period

20 48 28 Severe climatic conditions 
necessitated the high 
number of early warnings 
issued.

Number of disaster relief 
schemes managed

Not reported 
on during this 
period

3 2 (1) Funds expected to imple-
ment the 2011 flood aid 
scheme did not materialise.

Contribution to outcome of department’s strategic goals 

Support the provincial agricultural sector to at least maintain its export position for the next 5 years by 
growing its value added from R14.014 billion in 2009

Appropriate engineering services were provided to agricultural clients through 272 support initiatives 
such as investigation reports, designs and completion certificates. Two hundred and seventy (270) 
clients were provided with ad hoc engineering advice or training to increase their water use efficiency 
to enable them to increase the export position and at the same time increase the feasibility and 
sustainability of their farming enterprises.

Ensure that at least 60% of all agricultural land reform projects in the province are successful over the 
next 5 years

Appropriate engineering services were provided to 68 land reform beneficiaries through 98 support 
initiatives to increase the feasibility and sustainability of their farming enterprises.

Support the sector (farmers and industries) to increase agricultural production (primary provincial 
commodities) by at least 10% over the next 10 years

One hundred and ninety-eight (198) irrigation farmers were provided with relevant information to 
assist them to optimally utilise the natural resources available to them through the FruitLook project 
and other initiatives such a training and capacity-building to increase production whilst using the 
same water allocation. Farmers were furthermore assisted with 69 mechanisation and conservation 
farming, 4 on-farm value adding, 43 farm structures and animal handling and 43 riverbank erosion 
protection initiatives.
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Optimise the sustainable utilisation of our natural resources through conservation methodologies 
to increase agricultural production

Relevant information was provided to 198 irrigators to assist them to increase their water use efficiency 
to produce more crops with less water and to dry land grain and rooibos tea farmers through 69 
initiatives to change from conventional farming to conservation farming practices to increase soil 
fertility and retain moisture in the soil. Six (6) awareness campaigns on LandCare and 6 capacity-
building exercises were conducted. About 27 359 ha of farm land were improved through conservation 
measures and 241 farm plans were updated for sustainable farming purposes.

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance

The services provided to clients are demand driven and we do not have control over the demand. All 
requests received during the year were dealt with. The current economic situation plays an important 
role in the investment farmers can make in their properties and hence the engineering services they 
request from the department.

Changes to planned targets

No in-year changes in performance indicators targets were made.

Linking performance with budgets

Sub-programme expenditure
 

Sub-programme

2012/13 2011/12

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Engineering Services 16 822 16 629 193 13 450 13450 0

LandCare 32 647 31 840 807 22 519 22 519 0

Land Use Manage-
ment

760 760 0 595 595 0

Disaster Risk Man-
agement

20 20 0 0 0 0

Total 50 249 49 249 1 000 36 564 36 564 0

5.3.	 Programme 3: Farmer Support and Development 

Purpose

The purpose of this programme is to: 

Provide support to farmers through agricultural development programmes. In its endeavour to 
implement the above, the programme aims to: 

	 Ensure a sustainable support mechanism for new and established farmers (including land 
	 reform beneficiaries).
	 Measure the impact of interventions as delivered by the programme.
	 Leverage investment from the private sector and commodity groupings.
	 Ensure quality and standards of service and advice to farmers.
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	 Ensure we assist municipalities and other government departments with the implementation of 	
	 food gardens for communities and households.

FSD sub-programmes are: 

	 Farmer Settlement and Development
	 Extension and Advisory Services
	 Food Security
	 Casidra (Pty) Ltd

The strategic objectives of the sub-programmes are as follows:

Sub-programme: Farmer Settlement and Development
	 Facilitate, co-ordinate and provide support to smallholder and commercial farmers through 	

	 sustainable agricultural development within agrarian reform initiatives.

Sub-programme: Extension and Advisory Services
	 Provide extension and advisory services to farmers.

Sub-programme: Food Security
	 Support, advise and co-ordinate the implementation of the Integrated Food Security Strategy 	

	 for South Africa (IFSS-SA).

Sub-programme: Casidra (Pty) Ltd
	 Support the department with project implementation and state farm management.

Strategic Objectives

Programme 3: Farmer Support and Development

Strategic Objectives

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Farmer Settlement and Deve- 
lopment: Facilitate, co-ordinate 
and provide support to small-
holder and commercial farmers 
through sustainable agricultural 
development within agrarian 
reform initiatives.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

158 154 (4) Target for farm plans com-
pleted was not met, owing 
to an increased demand 
for farm assessments for 
the PLAS projects from the 
DRDLR.

Extension and Advisory Services: 
Provide extension and advisory 
services to farmers.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

3 600 4 148 548 This is a demand-driven in-
dicator. Target exceeded, 
as there was an increased 
number of participants for 
the Young Ewe Competi-
tion held in the Central Ka-
roo, and extension officers 
had to visit the farmers 
to prepare them for this 
competition.
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Programme 3: Farmer Support and Development

Strategic Objectives

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Food Security: To support, 
advise and co-ordinate the im-
plementation of the Integrated 
Food Security Strategy for South 
Africa (IFSS-SA).

Not reported 
on during this 
period

922 960 38 Target exceeded, due to 
improved collaboration 
with other role-players 
(Department of Water 
Affairs and City of Cape 
Town), which covered 
some of the costs. In addi-
tion, bulk procurement of 
material led to savings and 
thus more projects were 
reached than planned.

Casidra (Pty) Ltd: Support 
the department with project 
implementation and state farm 
management.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

40 13 (27) Target not met, as most 
projects were handled by 
the various CPACs and 
thus only non-designated 
projects (projects that 
do not designate under 
the CPAC’s) could be 
approved through the 
departmental project allo-
cation committee.

Performance indicators

Sub-programme 3.1: Farmer Settlement

Performance Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of farm assessments 
completed

Not reported 
on during this 
period

72 75 3 Target exceeded, due to 
an increased number of 
farm assessments request-
ed by the DRDLR for PLAS 
projects.

Number of farm plans 
completed

Not reported 
on during this 
period

86 79 (7) Fewer farm plans were 
completed than planned 
due to a concerted effort 
being made to ensure 
thorough planning using 
expertise on CPACs, spe-
cialists within the depart-
ment and external experts. 
This requires more in-depth 
and collaborative planning 
and more time. 
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Sub-programme 3.1: Farmer Settlement

Performance Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Number of smallholder farmers 
supported

Not reported 
on during this 
period

60 37 (23) Target not met as a large 
number of smallholder 
farmers require thorough 
business and resource 
planning before being as-
sessed by various CPACs to 
enhance sustainability and 
this results in delays. How-
ever, thorough planning 
using expertise on CPACs, 
specialists within the 
department and external 
experts is being facilitat-
ed to promote approval 
of credible agricultural 
enterprises.

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of commercial farmers 
supported

Not reported 
on during this 
period

26 26 0

Number of land reform farm 
monitoring reports compiled

Not reported 
on during this 
period

4 4 0

Sub-programme 3.2: Extension and Advisory Services

Performance Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of agricultural demon-
strations facilitated

Not reported 
on during this 
period

66 78 12 Target exceeded; this is a 
demand-driven indicator, 
and therefore the sub-pro-
gramme responded to 
ad hoc requests from the 
farmers.

Number of farmers’ days held Not reported 
on during this 
period

33 29 (4) The target was not met; 
planned farmers’ days had 
to be cancelled owing to 
the volatile situation cre-
ated by the farm worker 
strike in the Cape Wine-
lands during November 
2012.
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Sub-programme 3.2: Extension and Advisory Services

Performance Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Number of commodity groups 
supported

Not reported 
on during this 
period

10 10 0

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of projects supported 
through mentorship

Not reported 
on during this 
period

31 26 (5) The target was not met as 
some projects had mentors 
already appointed by the 
DRDLR through the PLAS as 
strategic partners. In addi-
tion, the red meat com-
modity couldn’t appoint 
mentors due to phytosani-
tary regulations.

Number of farm visits to 
smallholder farmers to provide 
advice and contribute to suc-
cessful land reform

Not reported 
on during this 
period

1 200 1 957 757 This is a demand-driven 
indicator Target exceeded, 
as there was an increased 
number of participants for 
the Young Ewe Compe-
tition held in the Central 
Karoo, and extension offi-
cers had to visit the farmers 
to prepare them for this 
competition.

Number of agricultural busi-
nesses’ skills audited

Not reported 
on during this 
period

66 66 0

Number of farmers supported 
with advice

Not reported 
on during this 
period

3 600 4 148 548 This is a demand-driven 
indicator Target exceeded, 
as there was an increased 
number of participants for 
the Young Ewe Compe-
tition held in the Central 
Karoo, and extension offi-
cers had to visit the farmers 
to prepare them for this 
competition.

Sub-programme 3.3: Food Security

Performance Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned 
Target 

2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of verified food 
insecure households 
supported

Not reported 
on during this 
period

864 897 33 Target exceeded due to bulk 
procurement which led to savings 
and thus more households could be 
reached.

Number of food security 
status reports compiled

Not reported 
on during this 
period

4 4 0
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Sub-programme 3.3: Food Security

Performance Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned 
Target 

2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of community 
food security projects 
supported

Not reported 
on during this 
period 

58 63 5 Target exceeded, due to partner-
ship with the Department of Water 
Affairs and City of Cape Town, 
which covered some of the costs, 
thus allowing the department to 
reach more projects than planned. 
In addition, bulk procurement of 
material led to savings and thus 
more projects could be reached.

Number of participants 
in community food 
security projects

Not reported 
on during this 
period

580 468 (112) Target not met as communities 
supported were opting for smaller 
groups due to imminent conflict with 
larger ones.

Number of school food 
gardens supported 

Not reported 
on during this 
period

12 14 2 Target exceeded, due to partner-
ship with the Department of Water 
Affairs and City of Cape Town, 
which covered some of the costs, 
thus allowing the department to 
reach more projects than planned.

Number of participants 
in school food gardens

Not reported 
on during this 
period

120 265 145 Target exceeded, as the groups for 
school projects were larger as par-
ents wanted to contribute to school 
nutrition programme at schools.

Number of food security 
awareness campaigns 
held

Not reported 
on during this 
period

1 1 0

Sub-programme 3.4: Casidra (Pty) Ltd

Performance Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Devia-
tion from 

planned tar-
get to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of agricultural 
projects facilitated

Not reported 
on during this 
period

37 10 (27) Target not met, as most projects 
were handled by the various CPACs 
and thus only non-designated 
projects (projects that do not des-
ignate under the CPAC’s) could be 
approved through the departmental 
project allocation committee.

The day-to-day man-
agement of provincial 
state farms with a view 
to breaking even

Not reported 
on during this 
period

3 3 0

Contribution to outcome of department’s strategic goals 

FSD continued with its commodity approach to farmer support in the province. This approach has 
helped with the appointment of mentors linked to smallholder farmers and also facilitated their access 
to formal markets.
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Ensure that at least 60% of all agricultural land reform projects in the province are successful over the 
next 5 years

A total of 91 projects were approved by various CPACs, i.e. 8 wine grapes, 28 fruit, 2 dairy, 8 table 
grapes, 9 grain, 14 vegetables and seed, 10 animal (piggery, beef and poultry), 10 sheep and wool 
and 2 aquaculture. The Unit for Technical Assistance (UTA) enhanced planning of these projects. The 
UTA developed 1 business plan, reviewed 7 business plans and resolved 93 queries from various CPACs.

Support the sector (farmers and industries) to increase agricultural production (primary provincial 
commodities) by at least 10% over the next 10 years

FSD dedicated a considerable amount of time to the strengthening of the commodity approach to 
farmer support in the province. To date, there are 10 CPACs that meet monthly to prioritise projects 
from the farmers. These commodities are: aquaculture, dairy, fruit, grain, animal production (beef, 
piggery and poultry), sheep and wool (including mohair), vegetable (including vegetable seed), wine 
grapes, table grapes and food security.

Optimise the sustainable utilisation of our natural resources through conservation methodologies 
to increase agricultural production

The UTA is fully functional and provides a full suite of planning and assessment services that include 
environmental assessment and natural resource planning expertise. 

The household food production package is designed in such a way that it encourages water 
conservation by subsistence farmers whilst not compromising food security.

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance

The programme will seek to engage the DRDLR, with a view to establishing thorough alignment 
between land delivery and agricultural support programmes. 

Changes to planned targets

No in-year changes in performance indicator targets were made.

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure
 

Sub-programme

2012/13 2011/12

Final 
Appropriation

Actual Expen-
diture

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Final Appropri-
ation

Actual Expen-
diture

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Farmer Settlement 144 045 144 045 0 135 682 135 682 0

Extension and Advi-
sory Services

33 260 33 260 0 32 022 32 022 0

Food Security 11 549 11 549 0 11 353 11 353 0

Casidra (Pty) Ltd 17 940 17 940 0 10 958 10 958 0

Total 206 794 206 794 0 190 015 190 015 0
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5.4.	 Programme 4: Veterinary Services 

Purpose

The purpose of the programme is to ensure healthy animals, healthy food of animal origin and healthy 
consumers in the Western Cape. The programme promotes international trade by facilitating exports 
of animals and animal products, and ensures the safety of meat and meat products through the 
implementation of the Meat Safety Act (Act 40 of 2000), the Animal Diseases Act (Act 35 of 1984) and 
other relevant legislation. Support is also given to ensure improved primary production for smallholder 
farmers.

The programme executes its mandate from the four sub-programmes: 

	 Animal Health
	 Export Control
	 Veterinary Public Health 
	 Veterinary Laboratory Services.

The strategic objectives of the sub-programmes are as follows:

Sub-programme: Animal Health 
	 To prevent and control animal diseases.

Sub-programme: Export Control 
	 To provide sanitary and phytosanitary control measures including risk assessments, and export 	

	 certification in order to promote and facilitate exportation of products of animal origin.

Sub-programme: Veterinary Public Health 
	 To ensure the safety of meat and meat products through the implementation of the Meat Safety  

	 Act (Act 40 of 2000), the Animal Diseases Act (Act of 35 of 1984) and other relevant legislation.
 
Sub-programme: Veterinary Laboratory Services 
	 To render efficient and appropriate veterinary diagnostic services.

Strategic Objectives

Programme 4: Veterinary Services

Strategic Objectives

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned 
Target 

2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

Animal Health: 
Prevent and control 
animal diseases.

160 117 80 000 853 317 773 317 The massive amount of work involved 
in the re-registration of all ostrich farms 
in the province resulted in massive 
over-exceeding of the original target.

Export Control: 
Provide sanitary and 
phytosanitary control 
measures including 
risk assessment and 
health certification of 
products of animal 
origin.

347 684 18 (666) No export of fresh meat or wild game 
meat due to FMD and HPAI outbreaks 
in 2011.
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Programme 4: Veterinary Services

Strategic Objectives

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned 
Target 

2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

Veterinary Public 
Health: Ensure the 
safety of meat 
products through 
the implementation 
of the Meat Safety 
Act (Act 40 of 2000), 
the Animal Diseases 
Act (Act 35 of 1984) 
and other relevant 
legislation.

223 75 74 (1) Demand-driven as some abattoirs 
might close or new abattoirs might be 
registered.

Veterinary Laboratory 
Services: Render an 
efficient and ap-
propriate veterinary 
diagnostic service.

109 856 120 000 115 382 (4 618) The laboratory is dependent on exter-
nal clients for submission of samples 
for testing and has no control over the 
number of samples submitted by clients 
or the tests requested. 4% fewer sam-
ples for controlled disease testing were 
received than projected.

Performance indicators

Sub-programme 4.1: Animal Health

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Target 
2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of vac-
cinations against 
controlled animal 
diseases:

Anthrax

Rabies

Brucellosis

Newcastle

5 047

64 966

1 268

1 911

6 000

40 000

800

6 000

3 856

67 436

375

1 612

(2 144)

27 436

(425)

(4 388)

In some cases vaccinations are 
performed routinely and in others 
as a response to outbreaks of 
disease. In the case of rabies tar-
gets were far exceeded due to 
more diagnosed cases of rabies, 
and in the case of Newcastle 
disease, vaccinations were 
under target because of fewer 
outbreaks. With anthrax and 
brucellosis vaccinations, work 
activities had to be prioritised 
and directed more to disease 
control activities, e.g. the control 
of numerous outbreaks of AI in 
ostriches.

Number of 
primary animal 
health care 
(PAHC) interac-
tions held.

5 045 2 250 4 601 2 351 Primary animal health care was 
earmarked as a priority activ-
ity for the year, thus the over-
achievement in this respect.

Number of 
official veterinary 
movement docu-
ments issued.

12 514 11 000 12 201 1 201 This is a purely demand-driven 
activity over which we have no 
control.
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Sub-programme 4.1: Animal Health

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Target 
2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

Number of ani-
mals surveyed for 
diseases:

Skin tuberculin 
test

Bovine Brucellosis

46 111

20 000

35 000

20 000

76 947

76 671

41 947

56 671

Both these testing programmes 
were earmarked as priority 
activities for the year, thus the 
over-achievement in this respect. 
This was done to catch up 
because of the unavailability of 
tuberculin during most of 2011 
and early 2012. The two tests 
are linked because they are 
performed simultaneously during 
farm visits.

Number of ani-
mal inspections 
for regulatory 
purposes.

40 000 80 000 853 317 773 317 The massive amount of work 
involved in the re-registration of 
all ostrich farms in the province 
resulted in massive over-exceed-
ing of the original target.

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of sheep 
treated for sheep 
scab.

179 964 10 000 121 318 111 318 The very high numbers are a 
reflection of the response to a 
spate of outbreaks of sheep 
scab – the occurrence of which 
in not under our control.

Number of 
cattle dipped for 
external parasite 
control.

762 2 500 1 235 (1 265) The relatively cool dry summer 
did not require us to dip large 
numbers of cattle as the levels of 
tick infestation were quite low.

Sub-programme 4.2: Export Control

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Target 
2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of 
veterinary export 
certificates 
issued.

228 200 18 (182) No export of ostrich meat and 
wild game meat due to export 
ban after outbreak of FMD and 
HPAI.

Number of export 
establishments 
registered

113 117 117 0

Number of sam-
ples collected for 
residue moni-
toring at export 
facilities.

119 484 139 (345) Samples were collected accord-
ing to the National Chemical 
Residue Control Programme 
(NCRCP) provided by DAFF. DAFF 
required 172 samples for the year 
rather than 484. The actual devi-
ation is therefore 29. This is due to 
a decreased slaughter through-
put at the game abattoirs due to 
the export embargo.
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Sub-programme 4.2: Export Control

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Target 
2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Perform annual 
food safety and 
export certifi-
cation audits at 
export estab-
lishments for the 
recommendation 
of registration 
renewal.

70 46 97 51 The actual number of audits to 
be done per annum equals the 
number of export establishments, 
in this case 117, since every 
establishment must be audited 
once a year.

Perform quar-
terly food safety 
audits at EU- 
approved export 
plants to ensure 
continuous 
monitoring and 
compliance with 
importing coun-
try requirements 
and international 
standards.

9 16 8 (8) Two of the four EU-approved 
abattoirs had a vacant state vet-
erinary post for the entire year. 
Due to a lack of capacity two 
of the quarterly audits were not 
completed.

Create and 
maintain data-
base of export 
statistics for all 
products of 
animal origin ex-
ported on official 
export paper.

1 1 1 0

Evaluation and 
auditing of new 
applications for 
export recom-
mendations 
where applica-
ble.

20 4 11 7 It is impossible to postulate the 
number of new export establish-
ments that will apply for export 
certification in a year and the 
annual target can at most be a 
good guesstimate.

Sub-programme 4.3: Veterinary Public Health

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of abat-
toirs registered.

Not reported 
on during this 

period

75 74 (1) Demand-driven as some abat-
toirs might close or new abattoirs 
might be registered.

Number of abat-
toir inspections 
conducted.

Not reported 
on during this 

period

300 426 126 Follow-up inspections on 
non-conformances found at 
abattoirs increase number of 
inspections.

Number of facil-
ities processing 
animal products 
and by-products 
inspected.

Not reported 
on during this 

period

48 61 13 Figure demand-driven as more 
facilities apply for exporting of 
hides and skins, for example.
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Sub-programme 4.3: Veterinary Public Health

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of 
abattoir plans 
approved.

8 5 4 (1) Demand-driven item, based on 
new abattoir projects or changes 
to existing abattoirs.

Number of pub-
lic awareness 
sessions held.

9 16 19 3 Awareness sessions performed 
related to demands at farmers’ 
days, etc.

Number of illegal 
slaughtering 
investigations 
held.

48 12 21 9 Increased number of complaints 
with respect to illegal slaughter 
received and investigated.

Number of sam-
ples collected 
for bacteriolog-
ical monitoring 
programme.

0 120 172 52 Samples collected according to 
grid compiled by DAFF.

Export consign-
ments monitored

Not reported 
on during this 

period

520 189 (331) Export certification requests are 
demand driven.

BSE samples 
collected.

564 736 338 (398) Finding the correct category 
of animals (bovines older than 
30 months) slaughtered on a 
Tuesday, remains a challenge to 
officials of the sub-programme.

Number of sam-
ples collected 
for national res-
idue monitoring 
programme.

242 240 344 104 Sampling performed according 
to the grid received from DAFF.

Sub-programme 4.4: Veterinary Laboratory Services

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation 
from planned 

target to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of speci-
mens tested.

Not reported 
on during this 

period

125 000 138 944 13 944 This indicator refers to the number of 
sample submissions submitted to the 
laboratory for testing. The laboratory 
is dependent on external clients for 
submission of samples for testing 
and has no control over the number 
of samples submitted by these 
clients. The outbreak of trade-sensi-
tive diseases [AHS, AI] resulted in far 
more tests being performed than 
projected.
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Sub-programme 4.4: Veterinary Laboratory Services

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation 
from planned 

target to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Number of tests 
performed.

177 954 145 000 169 621 24 621 The laboratory is dependent on 
external clients for submission of 
samples for testing and has no 
control over the number of samples 
submitted by clients or the tests 
requested. More tests were request-
ed per sample resulting in 17% more 
tests performed than projected.

Number of con-
trol audit reports.

Not reported 
on during this 

period

20 82 62 When the target figures were 
compiled the fact that the qual-
ity controller (QC) post would be 
vacant was taken into account, re-
sulting in less QC work being done. 
The appointment of an acting 
quality controller resulted in the full 
audit schedule for the year being 
completed. Hence 310% more audit 
reports issued compared to project-
ed figure.

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Total number of 
controlled no-
tifiable disease 
samples tested.

109 854 120 000 115 387 (4 613) The laboratory is dependent on 
external clients for submission of 
samples for testing and has no 
control over the number of samples 
submitted by clients or the tests 
requested. 4% fewer samples for 
controlled disease testing were 
received than projected.

Total number of 
Veterinary Public 
Health samples 
tested.

Not reported 
on during this 

period

2 500 4 195 1 695 The laboratory is dependent on 
external clients for submission of 
samples for testing and has no 
control over the number of samples 
submitted by clients or the tests re-
quested. 68% more Veterinary Public 
Health samples were received than 
projected.

Number of 
samples tested 
for emerging 
farmers.

Not reported 
on during this 

period

800 4 948 4 148 Officials from Veterinary Services 
submitted 519% more samples than 
projected from emerging farmers. 
This indicates an increase in services 
rendered by Programme: VS to the 
emerging farmer community. 

Contribution to outcome of department’s strategic goals 

Support the provincial agricultural sector to at least maintain its export position for the next 5 years by 
growing its value added from R14.014 billion in 2009

The Programme: VS supports the above through certification, inspecting abattoirs and by-products 
establishments.

Through treating and collecting samples, the programme contributed towards maintenance of the 
export position.
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Issuing certification, auditing establishments and evaluating establishments contributed to maintaining 
the province’s export position for livestock and meat products in particular.

Collaborate with farmers and industries to support the sector to increase agricultural production 
(primary provincial commodities) by at least 10% over the next 10 years

By vaccinating animals against anthrax, brucellosis, rabies and Newcastle disease, the programme 
contributed towards increasing agricultural production.

The programme supported the maintenance of agricultural production through collecting specimens 
for notifiable and non-notifiable diseases, conducting epidemiological studies and performing tests.

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance

Underperformance was due to very specific circumstances which could not be foreseen and no 
improvement in approach or planning would have changed that. This must also be compared to 
the cases where the targets were exceeded dramatically, often due to circumstances beyond our 
control.

Changes to planned targets

No in-year changes in performance indicators targets were made.

Linking performance with budgets

Sub-programme expenditure
 

Sub-programme

2012/13 2011/12

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Animal Health 34 577 33 572 1 005 47 605 47 605 0

Export Control 3 647 3 647 0 4 785 4 785 0

Veterinary Public 
Health

4 583 4 583 0 4 510 4 510 0

Veterinary Laboratory 
Services

11 695 11 695 0 12 498 12 498 0

Total 54 502 53 497 1 005 69 398 69 398 0

5.5.	 Programme 5: Research and Technology Development Services 

Purpose

The purpose of the programme is to render expert and needs-based research, development and 
technology transfer services impacting on development objectives.

The purpose of the three sub-programmes is as follows:

Research: Conduct, facilitate and co-ordinate research and participate in multi-disciplinary 
development projects.
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Technology transfer services: Disseminate information on research and technology developed to 
clients.

Infrastructure support services: Provide and maintain infrastructure facilities for the line function to 
perform their research and other functions, i.e. research farms.

The strategic objective of the sub-programme: Research and its three research institutes, viz. Institutes 
for Animal Production, Plant Production and Resource Utilisation, is to execute research and to develop 
new cutting-edge technologies whereby the increase in agricultural production, and sustainability 
and competitiveness of our farmers, will be ensured. 

The strategic objective of the sub-programme: Technology Transfer Services is to serve as the conduit for 
converting the research rand into an information rand. Information on new and adapted technology 
is packaged in the form of user-friendly, client-focused and problem-solving information packages for 
dissemination to internal clients (extension officers and lecturers) and external stakeholders (the ARC 
and its research institutes, tertiary institutions, industry and commodity organisations, agribusinesses, 
technical experts and consultants, interdepartmental networks and working groups, farmers (all 
categories) and the public). Furthermore, technology transfer events and “walk-and-talks” are 
organised on a regular basis in all districts to convey the research message to said stakeholders.

The strategic objective of the sub-programme: Infrastructure Support Services is to render on-farm 
infrastructure and research support to our own research efforts, as well as to external research partners 
such as the institutes of the ARC.

Strategic Objectives

Programme 5: Research and Technology Development Services

Strategic Objec-
tives

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation 
from planned 
target to ac-
tual achieve-
ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

Research: Con-
duct agricultural 
research and 
technology 
development.

100 78 108 30 During the financial year 85 running 
projects were executed and 23 new 
projects approved. As new projects were 
approved, the number of implemented 
projects increased. Approval of new proj-
ects, however, was done in a judicious way 
taking budget and capacity constraints 
into account. Furthermore, several student 
projects as part of our post-graduate 
programme constitute some of the new 
projects approved and had no additional 
budget or capacity implications.

Technology 
Transfer Services: 
Provide scientif-
ic and technical 
information.

422 257 503 246 The demand for technology transfer 
services was extremely high and outputs 
were generated according to invitations 
from commodity groups and other clients 
or in response to technology transfer needs 
observed by the research team.

Infrastructure 
Support Ser-
vices: Pro-
vide on-farm 
infrastructure 
support.

7 7 7 0
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Performance indicators

Sub-programme 5.1: Research

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned 
Target 

2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Devia-
tion from 

planned tar-
get to actual 

achieve-
ment 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of re-
search projects 
implemented 
which address 
specific produc-
tion constraints:
(1)New projects

(2)Implemented 
projects

(3)Completed 
projects

28

72

15

3

75

5

23

85

12

20

10

7

Several new projects by post-graduate 
students were approved. These projects had 
no budget or capacity implications for the 
department, but were addressing departmen-
tal objectives and outcomes. The closing of 
several projects also allowed for the allocated 
resources to be redirected to new projects.

The number of implemented projects was 
75 at the finalisation of the APP for 2012/13. 
During the fourth quarter of 2011/12, the new 
projects approved resulted in the number of 
projects implemented at the start of the new 
financial year being 85.

Projects are completed when sufficient data 
has been obtained and when the project 
objectives have been met. This has resulted in 
7 more projects being completed than was 
envisaged.

Number of scientif-
ic papers pub-
lished:
(1)	 Scientific

(2)	 Semi-scientific

28

15

30

20

32

26

2

6

The target was exceeded by 2 publications. 
This cannot be predicted or planned, as only 
published papers are counted and there is no 
indication when papers will be published once 
they are approved for publication. This de-
pends on the specific journal that the paper 
is submitted to and can vary from months to 
over a year.

The target for semi-scientific publications 
was exceeded due to the higher number 
published in the information booklets for the 
technology transfer events (specifically the 
training workshops) which were conducted. 

Number of presen-
tations made at 
scientific events

90 35 86 51 Scientific events are not always scheduled 
far in advance and this could result in a dif-
ferent output to what was planned. Further-
more, researchers are also not always sure 
about the availability of data, especially 
in the case of student projects, and often 
decide on this just prior to a conference 
registration deadline, or upon invitation by 
the organisers of said event.
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Sub-programme 5.1: Research

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned 
Target 

2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Devia-
tion from 

planned tar-
get to actual 

achieve-
ment 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of re-
search committee 
meetings to evalu-
ate projects.

5 4 5 1 An ad hoc meeting was scheduled to 
accommodate a number of new student 
research projects.

Number of meet-
ings with industry 
organisations to 
establish research 
needs.

52 24 60 36 Meetings with industry organisations are 
attended upon invitation and it is not always 
easy to predict the number correctly in ad-
vance. Only some organisations have pre-set 
dates and scheduling of their research priority 
meetings, whilst the others meet as needs arise. 
Furthermore, the department’s growing role as 
a research group to be reckoned with is result-
ing in more industry involvement than before.

Number of climate 
change projects 
executed.

5 5 5 0

Number of new 
aquaculture proj-
ects.

1 1 0 (1) The research capacity with regard to 
aquaculture is not sufficient and a senior 
mentor is lacking. For this reason no new 
research projects were registered. Further-
more, the junior researcher focused on his 
M.Sc project and had capacity constraints 
in proposing new projects.

Consolidate re-
search and devel-
opment projects.

1 1 2 1 The purpose of this indicator is to streamline 
and align the research programmes and proj-
ects with the needs of the commodities. Two 
consolidation sessions were held (ostrich and 
small stock) to align the research efforts.

Compile a climate 
change plan for 
agriculture.

0 1 0 (1) Due to capacity constraints, compilation of 
this plan was beyond the departmental ex-
pertise and DEADP offered to assist within the 
ambit of PSO7, climate change adaptation 
work group. A framework for the plan was to 
be completed in the latter part of 2012/13, but 
this was not realised. The framework and plan 
will now be completed in 2013/14.

Number of West-
ern Cape Agri-
cultural Research 
Forum (WCARF) 
meetings to co-or-
dinate research.

3 2 3 1 Although only two meetings were planned, 
the activities and discussions necessitated 
two additional meetings. This has been very 
constructive as alignment of the research 
resources in the Western Cape is pivotal to 
optimise the research effort and outputs in 
support of the sector.
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Sub-programme 5.2: Technology Transfer Services

Performance Indi-
cator

Actual 
Achieve-

ments 
2011/12

Planned 
Target 

2012/13

Actual 
Achieve-

ment 
2012/13

Devia-
tion from 

planned tar-
get to actual 

achieve-
ment 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of presen-
tations made at 
technology transfer 
events.

205 120 203 83 The leading role the department is playing 
in public sector research, combined with its 
expertise, has resulted in an increase in invita-
tions to do presentations at farmers’ days and 
other technology transfer events. Furthermore, 
the additional technology transfer events 
organised by the programme also resulted in 
more presentations being made.

Number of demon-
stration trials con-
ducted.

0 0 0 0

Number of articles 
in popular media:

(1)	Articles

(2)	Radio broad-
casts

126

41

50

20

140

40

90

20

The higher output was due to real-time 
information needed on specific topics and 
requests by popular media.

The higher output was due to real-time 
information needed on specific topics and 
requests to do individual or group radio talks.

Number of informa-
tion packs devel-
oped.

17 5 21 16 The higher number was due to additional 
events being organised by the programme 
(resulting in more supporting hard copy infor-
mation) on demand of clients.

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of technol-
ogy transfer events 
conducted.

14 5 15 10 As a result of a new project on soil quality in 
the Southern Cape, 5 technology transfer 
events were organised in 5 regions to lobby for 
farmer support and input. This only happened 
once the project was approved late in 
2011/12. Several other events were organised 
on request of commodities and other stake-
holders.

Number of agri-
cultural conditions 
reports designed 
and disseminated.

19 15 21 6 Reports are disseminated as they become 
available and largely depend on the current 
climatic conditions and documents received 
from DAFF for distribution.

Number of climate 
reports distributed.

38 40 61 21 Reports are disseminated as they become 
available and largely depend on the current 
climatic conditions and documents received 
from DAFF for distribution.

Number of school 
days for learners to 
experience agricul-
ture and research.

3 2 2 0
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Sub-programme 5.3: Infrastructure Support Services

Performance Indicator
Actual 

Achievements 
2011/12

Planned Target 
2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on devi-
ations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of research infra-
structure provided.

7 7 7 0

Number of research infra-
structure maintained.

7 7 7 0

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of technical 
working committee meet-
ings on research farms.

15 14 14 0

Contribution to outcome of department’s strategic goals 

The sub-programme: Research executed its mandate in alignment with the National Agricultural Research 
and Development Strategy (2008), NOs, PSOs and departmental strategic goals.

The success of the agricultural sector in the Western Cape is vested in a combination of critical success 
factors which were identified as the key strategic objectives of the department. The most important of these 
is a sustainable export position, an increase in agricultural production and the optimisation and judicial 
utilisation of our natural resources. Agricultural research and development is key to these success factors.

Support the provincial agricultural sector to at least maintain its export position for the next 5 years by growing 
its value added from R14.014 billion in 2009

A thriving export sector is only sustainable if primary production is supported by sound technology development 
and world-standard sustainable agricultural practices. The research portfolio of the department was aligned 
with the needs of both commercial and smallholder farmers. The sharp increase in the engagement and 
collaboration with industry organisations was a clear indication of the need for cutting-edge technology 
development, especially low-input high-output and climate-smart technologies.

Support the sector (farmers and industries) to increase agricultural production (primary provincial commodities) 
by at least 10% over the next 10 years

The research portfolio (with 85 implemented, 23 new and 12 completed research projects), and its 
technology transfer agenda have supported the knowledge base and sustainability of the agricultural 
sector. Furthermore, the analytical and diagnostic services as well as technical advice contributed to more 
informed decision-making in terms of the choice of farming operation and on-farm resource utilisation. The 
conservation agriculture practices also resulted in higher production figures in small grains on the same land, 
especially in the Swartland and Southern Cape areas.

Optimise the sustainable utilisation of our natural resources through conservation methodologies to increase 
agricultural production

The drive towards climate-smart agriculture has led to technology development in, for example, conservation 
agriculture and the judicious use of fertiliser. Furthermore, the expertise in crop rotation in the Swartland and 
Southern Cape has ensured solutions to sustainable and increased crop production whilst protecting the 
natural environment and resources.
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The sub-programme: Technology Transfer Services was pivotal in converting research results into information 
packages (ranging from scientific to popular) for all farmers.

Support the sector (farmers and industries) to increase agricultural production (primary provincial commodities) 
by at least 10% over the next 10 years; and optimise the sustainable utilisation of our natural resources through 
conservation methodologies to increase agricultural production

The technology transfer and information dissemination agenda was driven by the research portfolio in the 
disciplines of animal production, plant production and resource utilisation. Information and knowledge 
management is the driver for sustainable production. The technical information services portfolio exceeded 
most of its targets and this is a clear indication of the drive from researchers to “push” information to clients 
beyond the farm gate. On the other hand, the “pull” of information from commodities and other clients kept 
the focus on production challenges, emphasising that the competitive edge is vested in novel climate-smart 
agricultural technology development and the implementation of results at farm level.

In order to ensure the outputs and outcomes of the research portfolio, a well-maintained research 
environment in the form of seven research farms was of critical importance. The sub-programme indirectly 
contributed to the departmental strategic objectives and also supported the research efforts of various ARC 
institutes and other industry role-players.

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance

Underperformance was only detected in the case of two indicators, i.e. the number of new aquaculture 
projects and the compilation of a climate change plan for the agricultural sector. With regard to the former, 
the aquaculture research portfolio is currently under discussion as its future as an extension unit is being 
explored in discussions with the Programme: FSD. This is mainly due to human capacity constraints, the lack of 
senior researchers in this field and the fact that research capacity is well vested at two universities and should 
not be duplicated with public funds. The climate change plan will be a joint effort between the department 
and the DEADP and initial challenges have resulted in the plan being commissioned for late 2013/14. 

Changes to planned targets

No in-year changes in performance indicator targets were made.

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure
 

Sub-programme

2012/13 2011/12

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Research 56 157 54 646 1 511 48 055 48 055 0

Technology Transfer 
Services

0 0 0 83 83 0

Infrastructure Support 
Services

32 710 32 710 0 29 478 29 478 0

Total 88 867 87 356 1 511 77 616 77 616 0
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5.6.	 Programme 6: Agricultural Economics Services 

Purpose

The purpose of this programme is to provide timely and relevant agricultural economic support to internal 
and external clients in order to ensure sustainable agricultural and rural development.

The programme executes its mandate through two sub-programmes. 

One of the sub-programmes is Agribusiness Support and Development and its purpose is to enhance 
competitiveness of the agricultural sector through the provision of agribusiness support including 
entrepreneurial development, marketing services, value adding, production economics and resource 
economics.

The other sub-programme is Macroeconomics Support and its purpose is to promote effective decision-
making in the agriculture and agribusiness sector through the provision of macro-economic and statistical 
information on the performance of the agricultural sector.

The strategic objective of sub-programme: Agribusiness Support and Development is to provide 
agricultural stakeholders with agricultural economics advice. 

The strategic objective of sub-programme: Macroeconomics Support is to provide information to 
support sound decision-making.

Strategic Objectives

Programme 6: Agricultural Economics Services

Strategic Objectives
Actual 

Achievements 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

Agribusiness Support 
and Development: 
Provide agricultural 
stakeholders with 
agricultural economics 
advice.

1 331 400 2 175 1 775 This deviation was a result 
of information, awareness 
sessions and enquiries 
which were also demand 
driven. 

Macroeconomics Sup-
port: Provide informa-
tion to support sound 
decision-making.

217 158 303 145 Most activities are de-
mand driven and there-
fore cannot be predeter-
mined to a large degree.
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Performance indicators

Sub-programme 6.1: Agribusiness Support and Development

Performance Indi-
cator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation 
from planned 

target to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of Agribusi-
nesses supported 
with agricultural 
economics services 
towards accessing 
markets.

58 35 70 35 This deviation was due to 
a number of international 
events that were embarked 
on and it is difficult to pre-
empt the number of busi-
nesses that will participate at 
these events as participation 
is demand driven.

Number of clients 
supported with agri-
cultural economics 
advice.

1 273 365 1 936 1 571 This deviation was a result of 
information and awareness 
sessions which were also 
demand driven. 

Number of agricultur-
al economics studies 
conducted.

43 10 16 6 Economics studies are de-
mand driven and therefore 
cannot be predetermined. 

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of marketing 
information outputs 
disseminated.

61 15 54 39 The growing popularity of 
these reports among the cli-
ent base has contributed to 
more reports being compiled 
than was planned.

Value of committed 
investment.

R82 million R50 million R172.2 million R122.2 million This deviation was due to a 
healthy investment pipeline 
and also due to the continui-
ty and stability of the unit.

Number of budgets 
developed.

35 30 11 (19) This deviation is due to a 
lack of capacity as two 
senior personnel members 
resigned. 

Number of budgets 
updated.

14 10 24 14 This deviation was due to 
dedicated capacity at the 
time.

Number of existing 
agricultural co-oper-
atives supported.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

10 10 0

Number of agricul-
tural co-operatives 
developed.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

10 40 30 This deviation was pushed by 
demand especially in the ru-
ral development nodes and 
partly due to the delegated 
responsibility by CPIC.

Number of stakehold-
ers engaged with on 
agricultural econom-
ic activities.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

10 119 109 To broaden access to services 
and to look for efficiency 
gains, a concerted effort 
was made in collaborating 
with various stakeholders as 
the programme has limited 
resources.

Western Cape Government | Department of Agriculture | Annual Report 2012/13 73

Annual Report Financial Year 2012/13
Vote 11: Department of Agriculture

Province of the Western Cape



Sub-programme 6.2: Macroeconomics Support

Performance Indi-
cator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation 
from planned 

target to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of macro-
economics infor-
mation requests 
responded to.

174 140 142 2 Enquiries are demand driv-
en and cannot be prede-
termined.

Number of macro-
economics reports 
developed.

43 18 37 19 Overachievement on 
reports developed was due 
to a number of information 
dissemination platforms 
engaged on through 
invitation. Additional staff 
at Statistics took over some 
responsibilities from the 
economists and this resulted 
in more time allocated to 
other activities.

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of surveys 
conducted.

0 1 1 0

Number of databas-
es populated.

34 29 44 15 A lot of attention was given 
to the databases as structures 
have to be changed for 
the coming year and the 
development of new data-
bases has to be investigated. 
Several new databases were 
constructed resulting from 
enquiries received.

Number of informa-
tion dissemination 
activities conducted.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

11 79 68 The overachievement is 
the result of a number of 
workshops that took place 
on request, which is demand 
driven. 

Contribution to outcome of department’s strategic goals 

Support the provincial agricultural sector to at least maintain its export position for the next 5 years by 
growing its value added from R14.014 billion in 2009

The market access activities, such as the support provided to smallholder farmers through the market 
access programme, the market research conducted and compliance and market development initiatives 
performed under Programme: AES are aimed at achieving the above–mentioned goal.  

Ensure that at least 60% of all agricultural land reform projects in the province are successful over the next 
5 years

The programmes have targeted interventions for land reform beneficiaries to support the beneficiaries 
towards achieving market access by eliminating the barriers up and downstream. The SimFini project 
supports the beneficiaries with capacity-building and actual financial records at farm level.
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Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance

It is the aim of Programme: AES to fill the vacant posts for increased capacity and also to forge relations 
with industry organisations, especially on the development of new enterprise budgets.

Changes to planned targets

No in-year changes in performance indicator targets were made.

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure
 

Sub-programme

2012/13 2011/12

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Agribusiness Support 
and Development

10 410 10 276 134 9 116 9 116 0

Macroeconomics 
Support

4 625 4 625 0 2 759 2 759 0

Total 15 035 14 901 134 11 875 11 875 0

5.7.	 Programme 7: Structured Agricultural Education and Training 

Purpose

The purpose of Programme 7: SAET is to facilitate and provide structured agricultural education 
and training in line with the agricultural education and training (AET) strategy to all participants in 
the agricultural sector in the Western Cape in order to establish a knowledgeable, prosperous and 
competitive sector and to implement the Human Capital Development Strategy of the Department.

The purpose of the sub-programme: HET is to provide formal and informal education on post-grade 
12 level (NQF levels 5 and above) to anybody who qualifies and has the desire to obtain formal 
education.

The purpose of the sub-programme: FET is to provide formal and non-formal training on NQF levels 1 – 4 
through FET structured training programmes to all interested agricultural role-players. 

The strategic objectives of the sub-programmes are as follows:

Sub-programme: Higher Education and Training
	 To provide accredited formal training on post-grade 12 level (NQF level 5 and above) to anybody  

	 who desires and qualifies to study in agriculture and related fields 

Sub-programme: Further Education and Training
	 To provide formal and non-formal training on NQF levels 1 to 4 through FET structured education  

	 and training programmes to all interested agricultural role-players
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Strategic Objectives

Programme 7: Structured Agricultural Education and Training

Strategic Objectives
Actual 

Achievements 
2011/12

Planned Target 
2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation 
from planned 

target to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Higher Education and 
Training: To provide 
accredited higher ed-
ucation and training 
from NQF levels 5 and 
above to anybody 
who desires to study in 
agriculture and relat-
ed fields.

454 350 401 51 The number of students who 
applied has increased, as 
has the number of students 
who took longer to com-
plete their studies.

Further Education and 
Training: To provide 
formal and non-formal 
training on NQF levels 
1-4 through FET struc-
tured education and 
training programmes 
to all interested agri-
cultural role-players.

1 940 1 600 2 482 882 The positive deviation is due 
to the high demand in skills 
courses and where a group 
of beneficiaries normally 
totalled 10 per course, an 
average of 12 beneficiaries 
now attend each course.

Performance indicators

Sub-programme 7.1: Higher Education and Training

Performance Indicator
Actual 

Achievements 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation 
from planned 

target to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of students 
registering for accred-
ited Higher Education 
and Training (HET) 
qualifications.

454 350 401 51 The number of students who 
applied has increased, as 
has the number of students 
who took longer to com-
plete their studies.

Number of students 
completing accredit-
ed Higher Education 
and Training (HET) 
qualifications.

128 70 140 70 The throughput in the final 
year is much higher than 
other years of study.

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of accredited 
short courses offered.

7 7 9 2 Two courses had to be re-
peated because of industry 
demand as there were 
too many students for one 
course.

Number of students 
completing accredit-
ed short courses.

167 120 129 9 Two courses had to be re-
peated because of industry 
demand as there were 
too many students for one 
course.
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Sub-programme 7.1: Higher Education and Training

Performance Indicator
Actual 

Achievements 
2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation 
from planned 

target to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Number of bursaries 
awarded.

14 new
33 existing

10 new
30 existing

37 new
23 existing

27
(7)

Funds were available for 
more existing students; how-
ever, they did not qualify for 
bursaries, hence more funds 
were available for new stu-
dents and the cost of their 
studies is much lower. 

Implementation of stu-
dent equity targets.

150 100 110 10 More diverse students were 
available for selection and 
some took longer to com-
plete their studies.

Sub-programme 7.2: Further Education and Training

Performance Indicator
Actual 

Achievements 
2011/12

Planned Target 
2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation 
from planned 

target to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

National Transversal Indicators:

Number of learners 
completing accredit-
ed skills programmes.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

50 79 29 The positive deviation is due 
to the high demand in learn-
ership training and although 
the annual plan was to have 
70 students enrolled, 91 
students enrolled, with the 
support of AgriSETA funds.

Number of learners 
completing accredit-
ed short courses.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

0 0 0

Number of learners 
completing non-ac-
credited short courses.

1 940 1 600 2 482 882 The positive deviation is due 
to the high demand in skills 
courses and where a group 
of beneficiaries normally 
totalled 10 per course, an 
average of 12 beneficiaries 
now attend each course.

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of learners en-
rolled in learnerships.

100 80 91 11 The positive deviation is due 
to the high demand in learn-
ership training and although 
the annual plan was to have 
70 students enrolled, 91 
students enrolled, with the 
support of AgriSETA funds.

Articulation / recog-
nition of prior learning 
(RPL) of FET learners 
to HET.

12 8 8 0

Number of formal skills 
programmes offered.

6 4 6 2 Positive deviation due to 
increased demand for learn-
ership training.
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Contribution to outcome of department’s strategic goals 

The Programme: SAET has a crucial role to play in implementing the Human Capital Development 
Strategy of the Department in ensuring a skilled and capable workforce to support an inclusive growth 
path and vibrant, equitable and sustainable rural communities and food security for all. 

The broad client base of the department expects this programme to provide quality training and skills 
development, ranging from two-day short courses for farm-aids and commercial and smallholder 
farmers, to B-degree level training of young prospective agriculturalists, including structured learnership 
training over a period of 12 months.

Support the provincial agricultural sector to at least maintain its export position for the next 5 years by 
growing its value added from R14.014 billion in 2009

The Programme: SAET contributed in a very significant way to human capital and skills development in 
the agricultural sector and continued to facilitate and provide formal and non-formal training, on NQF 
levels 1-7 with a focus on youth and all farming groups, i.e. smallholder, subsistence and commercial 
farmers and farm-aids, in the agricultural sector in order to promote and support a knowledgeable, 
prosperous and competitive sector.  

For the period under review, a total of 2 482 agricultural beneficiaries (mainly beneficiaries of the CASP 
and Ilima programmes, including farmers, and farm-aids) were trained in short skills courses. A total initial 
registration of 102 learners for various learnership programmes on NQF levels 1- 4 was recorded at the 
beginning of the academic year, with 70 students graduating in December 2012.

The Programme: SAET offered 4 formal HET training programmes, namely B. Agric (273 students), a Diploma 
(18 students) and Higher Certificate (97 students) in Agriculture, as well as the Certificate in Horse Mastership 
and Preliminary Riding Instruction (13 students) to 401 students. Of these, 20 students discontinued their 
studies for a variety of reasons. A total of 140 students graduated from these programmes. 

Ensure that at least 60% of all agricultural land reform projects in the province are successful over the 
next 5 years

The Programme: SAET (sub-programme: FET), in collaboration with the FSD Programme, presented a variety 
of skills programmes to beneficiaries of CASP and Ilima across the provincial districts. This contributed 
to approximately 2 4 79 beneficiaries trained in total, of which 387 farmers and 1 637 farm-aids can be 
clustered within the subsistence and smallholder farmer groupings.

Support the sector (farmers and industries) to increase agricultural production (primary provincial 
commodities) by at least 10% over the next 10 years

The Programme: SAET partnered with various stakeholders in promoting and supporting skills development 
and capacity-building in agriculture. Skills-based training was provided to 2 482 farmers and farm-aids, 
whilst 401 students enrolled for full-time study in higher education and training programmes. A total of 140 
students graduated from these programmes and will enter the sector primarily as farmers, farm managers, 
assistant farm managers, supervisors, agriculturalists and agricultural advisors.  

Optimise the sustainable utilisation of our natural resources through conservation methodologies 
to increase agricultural production

The Programme: SAET (sub-programme: FET) promotes sustainable agricultural practices in that it presents 
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a module on sustainable farming practices, as well as organic farming, natural resource management and 
principles of food security, as part of a structured learnership programme. The promotion of sustainable 
farming practices also forms a central theme in the teaching of students in all tertiary education and 
training programmes. 

The curricula of all HET training programmes cover a substantial amount of course content on natural 
resource management. It is a module that is offered in each year of study. It forms a third of all course 
content, especially for the Diploma in Agriculture. 

Increase agricultural economic opportunities in selected rural areas based on socio-economic needs 
over a 10-year period

The Programme: SAET is actively involved with skills development in the rural nodes of the province, 
especially within the Comprehensive Rural Development Programme (CRDP) nodes. Training in 
leadership, communication, entrepreneurship, agri-marketing and financial management is provided 
mainly to members of councils of stakeholders. 

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance

There are no areas of underperformance.

Changes to planned targets

No in-year changes in performance indicator targets were made.

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure
 

Sub-programme

2012/13 2011/12

Final 
Appropriation

Actual 
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Final 
Appropriation

Actual 
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Higher Education 
and Training

37 074 36 879 195 35 301 35 301 0

Further Education 
and Training

9 651 9 651 0 9 585 9 585 0

Total 46 725 46 530 195 44 886 44 886 0
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5.8.	 Programme 8: Rural Development Co-ordination 

Purpose

The purpose of the programme is to co-ordinate the comprehensive rural development programme 
in the province and facilitate the development of farm workers 

The Programme: RDC focuses on co-ordinating the implementation of the rural development nodes 
in the province and the facilitation of services: 

	 All provincial departments and local government authorities delivering services in a co-ordinated 
and cohesive way in the selected rural nodes through the establishment of interdepartmental 
steering committees per rural node. 

	 Institutionalisation of community organisational structures in selected rural nodes to empower 
communities in terms of the identification and implementation of new community projects. 

	 Establishment of economic, social development and infrastructure projects to facilitate economic 
growth in the selected rural nodes. 

	 Skills training for unemployed people in selected rural nodes. 
	 Sustainable employment created for unemployed people in the selected rural nodes. 
	 Improvement in food security through interventions at household level in the selected rural nodes. 
	 Enhance the image and the socio-economic conditions of farm workers by providing them with 

life skills to improve their quality of life. 

The programme is structured into two sub-programmes: 
	 Development Planning 
	 Farm Worker Development 

The strategic objectives of the sub-programmes are as follows: 

Sub-programme: Development Planning 
	 Successfully facilitate the implementation of the National Comprehensive Rural Development 

Co-ordination Programme in selected rural nodes in the Western Cape. 

Sub-programme: Farm Worker Development 
	 Enhance the image and the socio-economic conditions of farm workers by providing them with 

life skills to improve their quality of life.
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Strategic Objectives

Programme 8: Rural Development Co-ordination

Strategic 
Objectives

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

Development Plan-
ning: Implement 
the Comprehen-
sive Rural Develop-
ment Programme 
in selected nodes.

2 4 4 0

Farm Worker Devel-
opment: Facilitate 
the development 
of farm workers.

Not reported 
on during this 
period

2 400 3 012 612 The target for the year is esti-
mated before the finalisation 
of the project funding approv-
als, which include the number 
of projects to be supported, 
number of beneficiaries, etc. 
To allow for a more accurate 
setting of targets, the funding 
advertisement process will be 
brought forward in the new 
financial year. 

Performance indicators

Sub-programme 8.1: Development Planning

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Activate rural 
nodes

2 4 4 0 -

Activate node-spe-
cific interdepart-
mental steering 
committees 

2 4 1 (3) The Karatara and Matjiesfontein 
CRDP nodes have been acti-
vated; however, no interdepart-
mental steering committees 
have been established yet as 
the nodes were activated late 
in the year. Planning processes 
are still under way. The Merw-
eville node joined the already 
existing Murraysburg ISC and 
it was not necessary to create 
another committee.

Activate council of 
stakeholders of rural 
node

5 4 18 14 The service provider was able 
to complete the institutionali-
sation process with dedicated 
support from the various munic-
ipalities which expedited the 
process to establish 18 councils 
of stakeholders. Mossel Bay was 
also activated as a node in 
addition to the 15 nodes initially 
selected.
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Sub-programme 8.1: Development Planning

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target to 
actual achieve-

ment 2012/13

Comments on deviations

CRDP rural node 
implementation 
plans completed

2 4 2 (2) The framework document for 
two nodes is still to be complet-
ed by the various stakeholders 
and departments and con-
sistency in representatives at 
the interdepartmental steering 
committees has been a chal-
lenge, causing delays in plan 
completion. 

CRDP rural nodes 
- 3-year phased 
process implemen-
tation completed 

0 0 0 0

Employment cre-
ated (jobs) in rural 
nodes

416 500 755 255 Feedback provided by the var-
ious government departments 
indicates that employment was 
created for 755 people, which 
is well above the target for the 
indicator. A concerted effort 
has been made via the ISCs 
to request accurate reporting 
by various departments and 
this has improved the record of 
output as well.

People trained in 
rural nodes

798 1 000 1 303 303 Feedback provided by the 
various stakeholders indicates 
that 1 303 people were trained 
in various modules, which is 
well above the target for the 
indicator.

A concerted effort has been 
made via the ISCs to request 
accurate reporting by vari-
ous departments and this has 
improved the record of output 
as well.

Co-ordinate the 
implementation 
of rural develop-
ment co-ordination 
meetings for the 
province 

4 4 3 (1) A provincial co-ordination 
meeting scheduled for the third 
quarter had to be cancelled 
due to 3 of the 4 key stake-
holders who were to provide 
feedback to the meeting not 
being able to attend. In addi-
tion, managing the farm worker 
strike crisis also impacted on the 
availability of key officials.
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Sub-programme 8.2: Farm Worker Development

Performance 
Indicator

Actual Achieve-
ments 2011/12

Planned Tar-
get 2012/13

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/13

Deviation from 
planned target 

to actual 
achievement 

2012/13

Comments on deviations

Western Cape Specific Indicators:

Number of farm 
workers referred 
for training

1 666 1 800 2 391 591 The target for the year is estimat-
ed before the receipt of project 
funding applications, which include 
the number of training beneficiaries 
per project. To allow for a more 
accurate setting of the target, the 
funding advertisement process 
will be brought forward in the new 
financial year. 

District forums: 
Farm worker 
development 
meetings co-or-
dinated 

16 12 32 20 Rural nodal development requires 
the involvement of community de-
velopment officers to support social 
upliftment, hence they participate 
in the interdepartmental steering 
committee meetings hosted in 
the nodes. The inclusion of these 
meetings was not foreseen in the 
determination of the annual target. 

Number of farm 
workers assisted 
through the 
referral system

651 200 552 352 The high number of referrals can be 
attributed to the roll-out of regular 
Thusong mobile events that were 
hosted across the province.

Number of 
regional and 
provincial farm 
worker compe-
titions hosted

15 14 15 1 One additional region was con-
vinced to participate in the compe-
tition to also allow their farm workers 
the opportunity for exposure and 
recognition. 

Number of 
farm worker 
development 
projects assisted

Not reported 
on during this 
period

8 18 10 The increase in projects supported 
can be attributed to the fact that 
the indicator definition was expand-
ed to include support through trans-
fer payments as well as donations 
made. 

Number of sub-
stance abuse 
awareness and 
prevention 
campaigns

9 6 4 (2) Fewer substance abuse projects 
were supported due to the fact 
that some projects only includ-
ed small elements of substance 
abuse awareness within the project 
deliverables and did not make it 
the primary focus, which resulted 
in them not being classified for this 
category. 

Active district 
farm worker 
database 

Not reported 
on during this 
period

2 0 (2) It has been established that this 
project is a lot more time-consuming 
than initially expected as only one 
local municipal region within the 
Overberg district could be com-
pleted during the financial year. In 
response to the farm worker protests 
additional resources are being 
made available to expedite the 
process in the new financial year. 
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Contribution to outcome of department’s strategic goals 

Increase agricultural economic opportunities in selected rural areas based on socio-economic needs 
over a 10-year period

Through the co-ordination of rural development in the province the total number of active nodes 
has been brought up to 12 across the province. Four (4) rural development nodes were activated, 
with 18 councils of stakeholders constituted and rendered active. One thousand three hundred and 
three (1 303) people were trained and 755 gained access to employment opportunities in the rural 
development nodes.

In terms of farm worker development a total of 2 391 farm workers were trained in life skills and 
development while 18 projects were supported, four of which focused on substance abuse awareness 
and prevention. A total of 15 regions participated in the Annual Farm Worker of the Year Competition 
and 552 farm workers were assisted through the referral system. 

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance

Activate node-specific interdepartmental steering committees:
Underperformance was due to consolidation of interdepartmental steering committees for rural 
development nodes which are close in proximity to reduce the number of engagements with 
stakeholder departments. This is merely a strategy for efficiency gains.

CRDP rural node implementation plans completed:
Planning sessions to facilitate the establishment of ISCs for newly activated rural development nodes 
soon after activation will be instituted as a standard operating procedure, to ensure that inputs to the 
implementation plan are made timeously for completion.

Co-ordinate the implementation of rural development co-ordinating meetings for the province: 
Meeting dates are circulated far in advance to ensure availability of the relevant parties.

Number of substance abuse awareness and prevention campaigns:
The underperformance related to the substance abuse projects will be addressed by defining the substance 
abuse projects better as many of the projects supported have only elements of substance abuse and 
prevention included. The definition will therefore be considered during the evaluation of projects’ key 
measurable objectives.

Active district farm worker database:
Following the recent farm worker strikes in the province the department has prioritised the completion of the 
farm worker survey (database) as a province-wide survey with the Overberg and Cape Winelands districts 
as the initial focus areas.

Changes to planned targets

No in-year changes in performance indicator targets were made.
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Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure
 

Sub-programme

2012/13 2011/12

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Final 
Appropriation

Actual
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Development Plan-
ning

5 354 5 200 154 2 952 2 952 0

Farm Worker Devel-
opment

10 760 10 760 0 11 063 11 063 0

Total 16 114 15 960 154 14 015 14 015 0

6.	 SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

6.1.	 Departmental receipts

Departmental receipts

2012/13 2011/12

Estimate Actual 
Amount 

Collected

(Over)/Under 
Collection

Estimate Actual 
Amount 

Collected

(Over)/Under 
Collection

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Tax Receipts 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sales of goods and services oth-
er than capital assets

26 277 26 230 47 25 007 29 947 (4 940)

Transfers received 0 276 (276) 0 17 083 (17 083)

Fines, penalties and forfeits 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest, dividends and rent on 
land

47 1 150 (1 103) 12 2 806 (2 794)

Sale of capital assets 20 70 (50) 0 0 0

Financial transactions in assets 
and liabilities

0 458 (458) 11 (161) 150

Total 26 344 28 184 (1 840) 25 030 49 676 (24 646)

As can be seen above, this department does not collect any form of tax revenue. With the exception of 
the revenue received for tertiary education from paying students, all other revenue is incidental or spin-offs 
from either research or training. The department does have an implemented revenue policy.

The tariffs in the tariff register are done on a variety of principles, i.e. market related, cost recovery and 
determined by legislation. Other considerations are influences such as whether the clients are emerging 
farmers, the demand for the product or service as well as whether there is excess stock. On the tariff register 
this is indicated at every individual tariff. The latest tariff register is available on the department’s website. 

Free services that are rendered by the department are extension services that could lead to substantial 
income in consultation fees. However, by far the biggest users of these services are emerging farmers who 
can ill afford to pay for them and rely on the department for advice, information and technology transfer. 
It is determined as the mandate of the department to provide this advice to all citizens for free.

During the reporting period 2 305 (4 220 in 2011/12) cattle belonging to emerging livestock owners were 
tested for tuberculosis, costing R18 302 (R33 507 in 2011/12). 

Western Cape Government | Department of Agriculture | Annual Report 2012/13 85

Annual Report Financial Year 2012/13
Vote 11: Department of Agriculture

Province of the Western Cape



Officials also vaccinated the following number of animals in the emerging livestock sector: 

	 2 955 cattle against anthrax, costing R4 521 (5 016 costing R7 474 in 2011/12)
	 1 009 poultry for Newcastle disease, costing R272 (1 905 costing 504 in 2011/12)
	 375 cattle with RB51 vaccine for brucellosis, at a cost of R15 431 (1 268 costing 52 178 in 2011/12)

State Veterinarians provided free clinical services to the previously disadvantaged communities in 
Beaufort West area where:

	 2 058 companion animals were examined and treated for diseases at a cost of R205 800 (1 789 	
	 costing R178 900 in 2011/12)
	 52 cases of faecal egg count eternal parasite treatments were done, costing R728 (0 in 2011/12)  
	 637 animals were euthanised, costing R44 590 (758 costing R53 060 in 2011/12)
	 167 rams were tested, costing R1 336 (149 costing R1 192 in 2011/12)
	 852 cattle were dipped for external parasites at a cost of R4 260 (555 costing 2 775 in 2011/12) 

In the Swellendam and George municipal areas 165 horses in the emerging communities were 
vaccinated against African Horse Sickness (AHS) at a cost of R16 195. This was done as a preventative 
measure to protect carthorses against AHS to ensure sustainability in communities where these horses 
are people’s livelihood. A total of 1 800 (950 in 2011/12) horses were treated against internal parasites 
at a cost of R171 822 (R41 259 in 2011/12).

A priority key performance objective for veterinary services is the annual rabies vaccinations of 
companion animals. Dogs and cats in the resource-poor communities throughout the province were 
vaccinated as following: 

	 Malmesbury :	 7 558 (10 221 in 2011/12)
	 Boland: 		  28 738 (35 768 in 2011/12)
	 Swellendam: 	 4 102 (3 582 in 2011/12)
	 George:		 3 656 (8 073 in 2011/12)
	 Beaufort West: 	 4 571 (2 366 in 2011/12)
	 Vredendal	 2 112 (0 in 2011/12)

This intervention happened at a cost of R278 546 (R329 455 in 2011/12). This equates to R5.49 for vaccine 
and consumables per animal (R5.13 in 2011/12).

Finally, in Beaufort West 94 Brucella ovis services costing R1 786 were performed for free and 248 cattle were 
dipped for free at a cost of R2 480 (0 in 2011/12).

The total cost for the above free services delivered is R766 129 (R808 986 in 2011/12).

The under-collection of R47 000 (2012/13) is 0.2% of the budget of sales of goods and services and is 
acceptable. The R150 000 (2011/12) under-collection of financial transactions in assets and liabilities cannot 
be foreseen and remains an incidental revenue annually.

The amounts written off as bad debt are divided between staff debt and debts for services rendered. (Staff 
debt amounted to R41 000 in 2012/13, made up of 16 cases of staff leaving the department with debts that 
are uneconomical to pursue or who are untraceable). In 2011/12 this amounted to 27 cases with a total 
amount of R50 000, the other amounts as stated in the paragraph below.

Western Cape Government | Department of Agriculture | Annual Report 2012/1386

Annual Report Financial Year 2012/13
Vote 11: Department of Agriculture

Province of the Western Cape



The other bad debt is for services rendered in 2012/13 and amounts to R120 000 divided amongst 592 cases 
and these are mostly cases of non-payment, but where the amount is too uneconomical to pursue. For 
2011/12 this amounted to R114 000 divided amongst 707 cases.

For 2012/13 the targets exceeded were all incidental revenue that cannot be budgeted for. The ex-
ceptional amount of R17.083 million for transfers received in 2011/12 included R17.078 million which was  
received from DAFF to defray the cost of the culling of ostriches during the outbreak of Avian Influenza 
in the Oudtshoorn district. The province also appropriated the same amount during the Estimate process 
against which the expenditure was paired off. The amount was received as revenue and paid into the 
Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year. This was a once-off occurrence.

The Department is not mandated as a revenue-seeking institution and always needs to be careful when 
considering revenue seeking not to compete with private enterprises.

Capital assets are only sold when obsolete and written off. This only happens when necessary and, 
as can be seen, did not occur in 2011/12.

6.2.	 Programme Expenditure

Programme Name

2012/13 2011/12

Final Appropri-
ation

Actual Expen-
diture

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Final Appropri-
ation

Actual Ex-
penditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Administration 82 088 81 346 742 72 823 70 190 2 633

Sustainable Resource Man-
agement

50 249 49 249 1 000 36 564 36 564 0

Farmer Support and Devel-
opment

206 794 206 794 0 190 015 190 015 0

Veterinary Services 54 502 53 497 1 005 69 398 69 398 0

Research and Technology 
Development Services

88 867 87 356 1 511 77 616 77 616 0

Agricultural Economics 
Services

15 035 14 901 134 11 875 11 875 0

Structured Agricultural Edu-
cation and Training

46 725 46 530 195 44 886 44 886 0

Rural Development Co-or-
dination

16 114 15 960 154 14 015 14 015 0

Total 560 374 555 633 4 741 517 192 514 559 2 633

The amount of R4.741 million that was unspent includes an amount of R1 million that was a compulsory 
saving to be appropriated to the DEADP for an abridged report on the compilation of an environmental 
management framework for the Sandveld, which is of great importance to this department as well. The 
remaining amount was requested for roll-over to honour accruals at 31 March 2013.

If the above is considered, 99.2% of the budget was spent, after having effected virements to the amount 
of R1.945 million (0.4% of budget). The department is satisfied that spending was in line with planning and 
therefore service delivery was performed as planned. 
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6.3.	 Transfer payments, excluding public entities 

The table below reflects the transfer payments made for the period 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Name of Transferee
Purpose for which the 

funds were used

Compliance 
with s 38 (1) (j) 

of the PFMA 

Amount 
transferred

Amount spent 
by the entity Reasons for the funds unspent 

by the entity
R’000 R’000

Agri Expo/Cape of 
Good Hope Agricul-
tural Society

Promoting opportuni-
ties for value adding 
to primary products

Yes 170 170

Deciduous Fruit Pro-
ducers’ Trust (DFPT)

Establishing fruit 
orchards in the fruit in-
dustry and other new 
farmers – 1st tranche

Yes 4 244 4 244

Deciduous Fruit Pro-
ducers’ Trust (DFPT)

Establishing fruit 
orchards in the fruit in-
dustry and other new 
farmers – 2nd tranche

Yes 5 909 5 438 Funds 92% spent. The re-
maining funding is 100% fully 
allocated to projects, but in 
the process of being spent 
because of seasonality.

Deciduous Fruit Pro-
ducers’ Trust (DFPT)

Establishing fruit 
orchards in the fruit in-
dustry and other new 
farmers – 3rd tranche

Yes 1 907 190 Funds 9% spent. The remain-
ing funding is 100% fully 
allocated. Spending is slow 
because of seasonal plant-
ing and supplier hold-ups.

Deciduous Fruit Pro-
ducers’ Trust (DFPT)

Establishing fruit 
orchards in the fruit in-
dustry and other new 
farmers – 4th tranche

Yes 3 500 453 Departmental Project Allo-
cation Committee (DPAC) 
approved funding. Funds 
12% spent, the rest already 
allocated to two projects, 
Uitvlught and Kaapschön 
farming. More than R1 million 
of supplies already ordered.

University of Stellen-
bosch

Funding of the Agri-
futura project that 
presents insights into 
and understanding of 
the strategic environ-
ment of the agricultur-
al sector

Yes 130 130

Sing for Africa Implementation of 
an upliftment pro-
gramme for women, 
men and children on 
28 farms along the 
Bottelary Road - 1st 
tranche

Yes 100 100

Sing for Africa Implementation of 
an upliftment pro-
gramme for women, 
men and children on 
28 farms along the 
Bottelary Road – 2nd 
tranche

Yes 100 11 Only transferred in fourth 
quarter.

Agri Mega Group: 
Dairy Industry

Establishing new 
commercial farmers 
in partnership with the 
commodity group – 1st 
tranche

Yes 6 718 5 437 Temporary moratorium on 
project due to heritage 
investigation (old graves 
discovered during develop-
ment process).
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Name of Transferee
Purpose for which the 

funds were used

Compliance 
with s 38 (1) (j) 

of the PFMA 

Amount 
transferred

Amount spent 
by the entity Reasons for the funds unspent 

by the entity
R’000 R’000

Agri Mega Group: 
Dairy Industry

Establishing new 
commercial farmers 
in partnership with the 
commodity group – 
2nd tranche

Yes 3 782 0 Awaiting renewal of rental 
contracts with municipalities 
on commonage.

Agri Mega Group: 
Grain Industry

Commodity project 
for establishing a col-
laborative relationship 
between the industry 
and Western Cape 
Government and 
establishing new grain 
farmers – 1st tranche

Yes 4 745 2 082 Rest to be spent on planting 
and thereafter which is due 
to start in April.

Agri Mega group: 
Grain Industry

Commodity project 
for establishing a col-
laborative relationship 
between the industry 
and Western Cape 
Government – 2nd 
tranche

Yes 1 755 0 Planting season starts in April.

Industry Association 
for Responsible Alco-
hol Use (ARA)

Social intervention 
and awareness-rais-
ing programmes for 
farm workers and the 
monitoring of three 
crèches – 1st tranche

Yes 68 68

Industry Association 
for Responsible Alco-
hol Use (ARA)

Social intervention 
and awareness-rais-
ing programmes for 
farm workers and the 
monitoring of three 
crèches – 2nd tranche

Yes 68 68

Agri Mega Group: 
United South African 
Agricultural Associa-
tion (USAAA)

Conducting a multi-di-
mensional database 
survey on all farming 
units of its members

Yes 980 980

Agri Mega Group: 
Animal Industry 
(Sheep and Wool)

Establishing a collab-
orative relationship 
between the industry 
and the Western 
Cape Department 
of Agriculture and 
implementing projects 
in the sheep and 
wool commodity – 1st 
tranche

Yes 2 835 2 835

Agri Mega Group: 
Animal Industry 
(Sheep and Wool)

Establishing a collab-
orative relationship 
between the industry 
and the Western 
Cape Department 
of Agriculture – 2nd 
tranche

Yes 1 620 1 620

Agri Mega Group: 
Animal Industry 
(Sheep and Wool)

Establishing new 
commercial farmers 
in partnership with the 
commodity group – 
3rd tranche

Yes 4 550 882 Funds allocated in March 
for expected spending be-
tween April and June.
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Name of Transferee
Purpose for which the 

funds were used

Compliance 
with s 38 (1) (j) 

of the PFMA 

Amount 
transferred

Amount spent 
by the entity Reasons for the funds unspent 

by the entity
R’000 R’000

AgriReap (KOUP) Implementation of 
employee assistance 
programmes (EAPs) 
for farm workers within 
the KOUP region in 
the Central Karoo – 1st 
tranche

Yes 67 35 Funds paid out in September 
2012. No services could be 
rendered before the receipt 
thereof. Activities were 
disrupted by the farm worker 
unrest between November 
2012 and January 2013. The 
backlog is being addressed.

AgriReap (KOUP) Implementation of 
employee assistance 
programmes (EAPs) 
for farm workers within 
the KOUP region in 
the Central Karoo – 
2nd tranche

Yes 67 0 Activities were disrupted by 
the farm worker unrest be-
tween November 2012 and 
January 2013. The backlog is 
being addressed.

Agri Mega Group:
The Bien Donné Agri 
Cape Week

To assist with the 
funding of emerging 
producers to par-
ticipate at the Bien 
Donné Agri Cape 
Week planned for 17-
20 April 2013

Yes 1 361 513 Expo to happen in April.

Agri Mega Group:
Agri Mega Week

This is an established 
event that consists of 
a network of events 
that contributes to 
creating understand-
ing in the sector for 
its role in a national 
context. It provides 
recreational inputs 
but remains the ind-
aba venue consist-
ing of conferences, 
workshops, discussion 
forums and informal 
debates

Yes 1 726 145 Expo to happen in Septem-
ber.

Colors Academy To develop and em-
power farm workers 
and their families 
through the compre-
hensive and integrat-
ed strategies of edu-
cation and training, 
health promotion and 
social development

Yes 148 0 Funds transferred in March 
2013.

Goedgedacht Trust The production, 
printing and distribu-
tion of two issues of 
the magazine called 
“Weltevrede se Doen 
en Late” that will 
focus specifically on 
information related 
to alcohol and drug 
abuse and tubercu-
losis.

Yes 100 0 Funds transferred in March 
2013.
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Name of Transferee
Purpose for which the 

funds were used

Compliance 
with s 38 (1) (j) 

of the PFMA 

Amount 
transferred

Amount spent 
by the entity Reasons for the funds unspent 

by the entity
R’000 R’000

Cape of Good Hope 
Society For Preven-
tion of Cruelty to 
Animals (SPCA - GH)

The project in essence 
hopes to achieve 
several outcomes as 
follows:

	 An effective 
curbing of the pet 
overpopulation in 
the Western Cape

	 Promotion of 
responsible pet 
ownership through 
humane educa-
tion

	 Curbing of the risk 
of zoonosis, espe-
cially rabies

Yes 500 0 Funds transferred in March 
2013.

Municipality of Stel-
lenbosch

Vehicle Licences Yes 53 53

Public Officials Claims against the 
State

Yes 1 835 1 835

Department of the 
Premier

TV Licences Yes 10 10

Government Motor 
Transport

Vehicle Purchase Yes 24 24

All transfer payments budgeted for were paid. 

Agri Mega Group is responsible for implementing projects for the sheep and wool, dairy and grain 
industries. Hortgro takes responsibility for implementing projects within horticulture, deciduous fruit 
being the major commodity here. The requested narrative report for the rest of the institutions to which 
money is transferred, are mentioned under purpose.

All the transfers are done in terms of memoranda of agreement.

All transfers that are linked to memoranda of agreement also have reporting prescripts, including spending, 
for the scrutiny of the department.

In the case of Agri Mega Group and Hortgro a quarterly narrative report is also submitted, including 
spending progress. In all other cases the memorandum of agreement will stipulate reporting within 
practical parameters of that specific project.

In all cases where full spending did not take place it is expected that the money will be fully spent before 
31 March 2014.
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6.4.	 Public Entities 

Name of Public 
Entity

Services rendered by the 
public entity

Amount 
transferred 
to the pub-

lic entity

Amount 
spent by 

the public 
entity

Achievements of the public entity

R’000 R’000

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd

Executing the functions 
and duties as contained in 
the shareholder’s compact 
2012/2013 – 1st tranche

22 039 22 005 To maintain Casidra core business and manage 
three farms.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd

Executing the functions 
and duties as contained in 
the shareholder’s compact 
2012/2013 – 2nd tranche

1 401 1 401 To maintain Casidra core business.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: SimFini 
financial 
record keeping 
programme

To provide financial record 
keeping services to five 
projects and farms within 
each of the six municipal 
districts of the Western 
Cape – 1st tranche

310 310

The tender was much cheaper than the costing 
allowed in the budget. The rest of the funds will 
be used to extend the programme. 

The appointment of the service provider was 
completed in October 2012. Ongoing financial 
record keeping support to farmers and training 
on the basic aspects of financial record keeping 
will be supplied.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: SimFini 
financial 
record keeping 
programme

To provide financial record 
keeping services to five 
projects and farms within 
each of the six municipal 
districts of the Western 
Cape – 2nd tranche

251 193

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: SimFini 
financial 
record keeping 
programme

To provide financial record 
keeping services to five 
projects and farms within 
each of the six municipal 
districts of the Western 
Cape – 3rd tranche

228 0

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: SimFini 
financial 
record keeping 
programme

To provide financial record 
keeping services to five 
projects and farms within 
each of the six municipal 
districts of the Western 
Cape – 4th tranche

267 0

Casidra (Pty) 
Wine grape 
industry project

Commodity project for es-
tablishing a collaborative 
relationship between the 
industry and Western Cape 
Government – 1st tranche

6 375 2 137 In total R6.3 million was allocated to 5 com-
mercial farming projects during the late winter 
months, but it was too late for the planting season 
and the bulk of the establishment of vineyards 
can only be done in autumn of 2013. 27 ha of 
land were prepared for vineyard planting, and 
two tractors and a bakkie were supplied. The 
commodity is struggling to get applications due 
to the negative outlook of the industry.
Committed = R2 552 000.

Casidra (Pty) 
Wine grape 
industry project

Commodity project for es-
tablishing a collaborative 
relationship between the 
industry and Western Cape 
Government – 2nd tranche

 2 125 0

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: vegetable 
industry project

Commodity project for es-
tablishing a collaborative 
relationship between the 
industry and Western Cape 
Government – 1st tranche

5 500 4 687 A total of R8.9 million was allocated to 11 
projects. 3 tractors and implements, 1 bakkie, irri-
gation equipment, a cold room and production 
inputs were supplied. Only requests for assistance 
from smallholder farmers are received and there 
were no commercial applicants.
Committed = R4 979 000

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: vegetable 
industry project

Commodity project for es-
tablishing a collaborative 
relationship between the 
industry and Western Cape 
Government – 2nd tranche

 5 500 0
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Name of Public 
Entity

Services rendered by the 
public entity

Amount 
transferred 
to the pub-

lic entity

Amount 
spent by 

the public 
entity

Achievements of the public entity

R’000 R’000

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd:
animal industry 
project

Commodity project for es-
tablishing a collaborative 
relationship between the 
industry and Western Cape 
Government – 1st tranche

4 260 4 260 A total of R17.6 million was allocated to 7 com-
mercial and 3 smallholder farming projects. 2 
abalone farms, 1 poultry production unit and a 
170 sow pig production unit were supported. Due 
to Avian Influenza in the ostrich industry and prob-
lems encountered with the IDC projects, these 
industries could not commence. 
Committed = R5 637 000.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd:
a) animal in-
dustry project

Commodity project for es-
tablishing a collaborative 
relationship between the 
industry and Western Cape 
Government – 2nd tranche

13 112 65

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd:
b) animal in-
dustry project

Commodity project for es-
tablishing a collaborative 
relationship between the 
industry and Western Cape 
Government – 3rd tranche

6 495 0

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: viticulture 
table grape 
industry project

Commodity project for es-
tablishing a collaborative 
relationship between the 
industry and Western Cape 
Government – 1st tranche

7 420 2 499 A total of R8.2 million was allocated to 1 small-
holder and 5 commercial farms. The farms were 
mostly supported with production inputs. The 
commodity is struggling to get new applications 
due to the negative economic outlook of the 
industry and labour unrest.
Committed = R2 579 000.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: viticulture 
table grape 
industry project

Commodity project for es-
tablishing a collaborative 
relationship between the 
industry and Western Cape 
Government – 2nd tranche

2 080 0

Wesgro: 
Agribusiness 
Investment Unit 
(The Western 
Cape Invest-
ment and 
Trade Promo-
tion Agency)

Attraction of increased 
levels of direct investment 
into the agribusiness sector 
through the establishment 
of an Agribusiness Invest-
ment Unit – 1st tranche

1 110 1 110 Committed investments secured for agriculture 
totalled R172.2 million creating 125 jobs, 15 in 
production and 110 in agro-processing.

Wesgro: 
Agribusiness 
Investment Unit 
(The Western 
Cape Invest-
ment and 
Trade Promo-
tion Agency)

Attraction of increased 
levels of direct investment 
into the agribusiness sector 
through the establishment 
of an Agribusiness Invest-
ment Unit 2nd tranche

1 110 520

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd:
c) rural de-
velopment 
project

Operational management 
of the nine councils of 
stakeholders in the Mossel 
Bay municipal area

180 90 This is a social facilitation process and groups 
are organising themselves slowly. Groups’ COSes 
were supported with office furniture and equip-
ment.
Committed = R90 000.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: compre-
hensive rural 
development

Implementation of eco-
nomic development initia-
tives in the identified nodes 
in the Western Cape 

600 253 Some of the earmarked funds were re-allocated 
from salaries to direct costs after an arrangement 
with Casidra.

Two business advisors were appointed.

215 names were reserved for prospective co-op-
eratives

43 business development workshops were facili-
tated for co-operatives and other entrepreneurs.
Committed = R253 000.
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Name of Public 
Entity

Services rendered by the 
public entity

Amount 
transferred 
to the pub-

lic entity

Amount 
spent by 

the public 
entity

Achievements of the public entity

R’000 R’000

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: rural devel-
opment proj-
ect: Waaikraal

For the purpose of imple-
menting the rural develop-
ment project on the farm 
Waaikraal – 1st tranche 

2 500 2 500 Funds were used to establish 22 ha lucerne, 1.5 
ha tomatoes, 9 ha essential oils and irrigation 
infrastructure for 44 ha as well as a pump house. 
A tractor was also purchased. The rest of the 
funds were allocated to production inputs and 
an irrigation system that was on tender at the 
year end. 
Committed = R1 342 000

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: rural devel-
opment proj-
ect: Waaikraal

For the purpose of imple-
menting the rural develop-
ment project on the farm 
Waaikraal – 2nd tranche 

1 500 158

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: rehabilita-
tion project

Implementation of the 
household food pro-
duction programme to 
enhance household food 
security of the vulnerable 
in the Western Cape.

938 162 Funds were reallocated to World Food Day 
(October 2012) and the balance to community 
gardens.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: households 
project

Implementing the house-
hold food security project 
for the 2012/13 financial 
year – 1st tranche

2 188 1 722 The full budget was allocated to projects, but 
seasonal requirements meant that projects could 
not be implemented during the dry season. A 
total of 294 households were supported with 
equipment and production inputs.
Committed = R1 789 000.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: households 
project

Implementing the house-
hold food security project 
for the 2012/13 financial 
year 2nd tranche

 1 700 0

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: households 
project

Implementing the house-
hold food security project 
for the 2012/13 financial 
year 2nd tranche

 1 500 0 Reallocated to community gardens.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: communal 
food security 
project

Implementing the commu-
nal food security project 
for 2012/13 financial year 
– 1st tranche

 2 752 2 234 A budget amount of R5.5 million (including funds 
from reallocated R1.5 million) was allocated to 16 
community gardens but seasonal requirements 
resulted in projects not being implemented in the 
dry season.
Committed = R2 275 000

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: communal 
food security 
project

Implementing the commu-
nal food security project 
for 2012/13 financial year 
– 2nd tranche

2 000 0

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: training 
project

Implementing the training 
project for 2012/13 finan-
cial year – 1st tranche

 2 200 760 Due to a shortage of funds in 2011, extra funds 
were allocated and these funds extended into 
2012. A total of 3 695 people were trained in 
accredited and non-accredited training. This is a 
demand-driven service.
Committed = R2 368 000

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: training 
project

Implementing the training 
project for 2012/13 finan-
cial year – 2nd tranche

 1 800 0

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: market ac-
cess project

To provide continued 
support on existing 2011/12 
projects to facilitate 
domestic and interna-
tional market access – 1st 
tranche

 1 559 118 The project of the previous year extended into 
the 2012 /13 financial year. Tenders will be award-
ed early in 2013/14. 
The reappointment of the consultants to imple-
ment the programme was concluded in June 
2012. On-going implementation of the agreed 
plan as developed per farmer. On-going quarter-
ly monitoring and evaluation meetings conduct-
ed with the consultants. On-going consultation 
with farmers to improve day-to-day manage-
ment of their farms.
Committed = R118 000.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: market ac-
cess project

To provide continued 
support on existing 2011/12 
projects to facilitate 
domestic and interna-
tional market access – 2nd 
tranche

 615 0
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Name of Public 
Entity

Services rendered by the 
public entity

Amount 
transferred 
to the pub-

lic entity

Amount 
spent by 

the public 
entity

Achievements of the public entity

R’000 R’000

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: Grootfon-
tein project

For the purpose of an 
erosion control structure on 
the farm Grootfontein in 
the Murraysburg area

450 313 Project will be completed early in the 2013 /14 
financial year. An erosion control structure was 
successfully built.
Committed = R137 000

The National 
Agricultural 
Marketing 
Council 

To provide continued 
support to the black small-
holder and commercial 
farmers in the fruit industry 
for improved market ac-
cess in the domestic and 
international markets

326 50 Black smallholder and commercial farmers in 
the fruit industry supported for improved markets 
access, domestically and internationally, on an 
ongoing basis.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: Unit for 
Technical Assis-
tance (UTA) 

For implementing the Unit 
for Technical Assistance 
project 2012/2013

3 500 0 Due to the late creation of the unit in 2011, the 
previous year’s funds were used and the new 
funds for 2012 were only transferred in March 
2013. Committed = R57 000

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: Intshona 
Workers Trust 
project

Trust project which focuses 
on the holistic devel-
opment of farm worker 
communities

190 0 The entity experienced financial stress and an 
investigation into their financial matters was  con-
ducted. The project was later cancelled. Funds 
are to be reallocated.

Casidra (Pty) 
Ltd: Shine 
development 
project

Focuses on the improve-
ment of the abilities, life 
skills and self-image of 
farm workers and their 
children

187 0 Project was referred to Casidra in March 2013. No 
time for implementation.

Casidra (Pty) Ltd is the main implementing agent of the Comprehensive Agricultural Support Programme 
(CASP) and Ilima\Letsema grants for projects regarding the following commodities: Vegetables, beef, 
poultry, ostrich, piggery, aquaculture, viticulture and all other commodities not implemented by the 
Agri Mega Group and Hortgro (Deciduous Fruit Producers’ Trust). The requested narrative report for the 
rest of the institutions to which money is transferred, are mentioned under purpose.

All the transfers are done in terms of memoranda of agreement, except for the amount of R22.005 
million (amount at the top of the table), which was done in terms of the shareholder’s compact with 
Casidra (Pty) Ltd. Later in the year this was augmented by R1.401 million (second from the top).

All transfers that are linked to memoranda of agreement also have reporting prescripts, including 
spending, for the scrutiny of the department. In the case of Casidra (Pty) Ltd monthly financial 
reporting is done and a quarterly narrative report is also submitted, including spending progress. In 
all other cases the memorandum of agreement will stipulate reporting within practical parameters of 
that specific project.

In all cases where full spending did not take place it is expected that the money will be fully spent 
before 31 March 2014.
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6.5.	 Conditional grants and earmarked funds paid 

No conditional grants or earmarked funds are paid by the department.

6.6.	 Conditional grants and earmarked funds received 

Comprehensive Agricultural Support Programme:

Department which 
transferred the grant 

Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries

Purpose of the grant To expand the provision of agricultural support services, and promote and facilitate agricultural 
development by targeting subsistence, smallholder and commercial farmers.

Expected outputs of the 
grant

	 Number of subsistence, smallholder and commercial farmers supported

	 Number of youth and women famers supported through CASP

	 Number of beneficiaries of CASP trained in farming methods

	 Number of beneficiaries of CASP with markets identified

	 Number of jobs created

	 Number of extension personnel recruited and maintained in the system

	 Number of extension officers upgrading qualifications in various institutions

	 Successful partnerships created to support farmers

Actual outputs achieved 	 13 smallholder farmers/projects and 39 commercial farmers/projects were supported

	 A total of 2 146 women and 458 youth have been supported

	 1 701 beneficiaries of CASP were trained

	 4 949 farmers were linked to markets

	 1 345 jobs were created

	 No new extension personnel were recruited and 81 extension personnel were 	 	
	 maintained

	 17 extension officers are busy upgrading their qualifications
The department is following the commodity approach and has formed 10 partnerships 		
with the following commodities: fruit, grain, dairy products, viticulture, vegetables, beef, ostrich, 
sheep and wool, piggery and aquaculture

Amount per amended DoRA 
(R’000)

91 863

Amount received (R’000) 91 863

Reasons if amount as per 
DoRA was not received

All amounts were received

Amount spent by the depart-
ment (R’000)

91 777

Reasons for the funds unspent 
by the entity

R86 000 unspent due to actual expenditure lower than allocated for.

Monitoring mechanism by the 
receiving department

Commodity project allocation committees (CPACs) report on a monthly and quarterly basis to 
the department on project progress and expenditure. Extension officers do monthly monitoring 
on projects through site visits conducted using the Smart Pen.

Ilima/ Letsema:

Department which 
transferred the grant 

Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries

Purpose of the grant To assist vulnerable South African farming communities to achieve an increase in agricultural 
production.

Expected outputs of the grant 	 Number of hectares (ha) planted

	 Number of tons produced within agricultural corridors

	 Number of beneficiaries/entrepreneurs supported 

	 Number of jobs created

	 Number of community and household food gardens
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Actual outputs achieved 	 A total of 71 ha were planted 

	 168 tons of vegetables and 372 tons of grain were produced

	  661 beneficiaries were supported

	 425 jobs were created

	 77 community and 894 household gardens were established

Amount per amended DoRA 
(R’000) 

50 400

Amount received (R’000) 50 400

Reasons if amount as per 
DoRA was not received

All amounts were received

Amount spent by the depart-
ment (R’000)

50 400

Reasons for the funds unspent 
by the entity

No funds were unspent

Monitoring mechanism by the 
receiving department

Commodity project allocation committees (CPACs) report on a monthly and quarterly basis to 
the department on project progress and expenditure. Extension officers do monthly monitoring 
on projects through site visits conducted using the Smart Pen.

LandCare:

Department which transferred 
the grant 

Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries

Purpose of the grant 	 To enhance sustainable conservation of natural resources through a community-based, 	
	 participatory approach

	 To create job opportunities through the Expanded Public Works Programme (EPWP)

	 To improve food security within the previously disadvantaged communities

Expected outputs of the grant Implementation of 30 LandCare projects that will contribute to the sustainable utilisation and 
conservation of our natural resources

Actual outputs achieved 30 LandCare projects completed within budget and timeframes

Amount per amended DoRA 
(R’000)

7 740

Amount received (R’000) 7 740

Reasons if amount as per 
DoRA was not received

All amounts were received

Amount spent by the depart-
ment (R’000)

7 741

Reasons for the funds unspent 
by the entity

No funds were unspent

Monitoring mechanism by the 
receiving department

Monthly monitoring of expenditure vs project implementation and reaching the objectives of 
the project. At the end of the year an evaluation of the projects is done.

Expanded Public Works Programme:

Department which transferred 
the grant 

Department of Public Works

Purpose of the grant The training of and creation of employment for rural unemployed people whilst maintaining or 
creating infrastructure to the benefit of the broader community.

Expected outputs of the grant Implementation of 15 projects with the aim of conserving our natural resources whilst creating 
jobs and provide training.

Actual outputs achieved Implementation of KOUP fencing project. 84 km of new and reinstatement of 102 km of existing 
jackal-proof fencing to keep predator animals out of sheep and goat farms were completed. 
14 alien plant removal projects were also completed. In total 26 705 person days of work were 
created through the 15 projects.

Amount per amended DoRA 
(R’000)

4 000

Amount received (R’000) 4 000
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Reasons if amount as per 
DoRA was not received

All amounts were received

Amount spent by the depart-
ment (R’000)

4 005

Reasons for the funds unspent 
by the entity

No funds were unspent

Monitoring mechanism by the 
receiving department

Monthly monitoring of expenditure vs project implementation and reaching the objectives of 
the project.

All objectives were met with the CASP, Ilima/Letsema, LandCare and EPWP grants.

The Programme: SRM received a LandCare grant of R7.74 million for the implementation of projects 
aimed at restoring sustainability to land and water management in the rural areas. It encompasses 
Integrated Sustainable Natural Resource Management where the primary causes of natural resource 
decline are recognised and addressed.

The full LandCare grant of R7.74 million was spent on 30 approved projects.

The Programme: SRM received a new grant from the EPWP amounting to R4 million. The full amount 
was spent on 21 projects of fencing and the clearing of alien plants by using unemployed local labour.

The Programme: FSD received R138.263 million in total for conditional grants. The spending can be 
broken down as follows per grant:

1.	 Comprehensive Agricultural Support Programme:
	 	 Implementation of infrastructure projects amounting to R66.659 million; and
	 	 Extension Revitalisation Programme funding amounting to R21.204 million.

2.	 Ilima/Letsema:
	 	 Implementation of Ilima/Letsema projects amounting to R50.4 million. 

The programme utilised three implementing agents, with Casidra still being the main implementing 
agent, receiving R75.494 million and also acting as the secretariat for the animal industry, vegetable 
industry, viticulture and table grape industry, as well as food security projects. They are also responsible 
for the implementation of some strategic projects on behalf of the department. Hortgro (DFPT) received 
R15.56 million for the fruit commodity and Agri Mega received R26.005 million, representing the dairy, 
grain and sheep and wool industries. The programme complied with DORA by utilising its allocated 
budget for its intended purpose. The department worked within the conditions of the Act and also 
within the frameworks of CASP and Ilima/Letsema. Ten commodity groups in the Western Cape were 
supported in this way to establish new farmers within their ranks.

The Programme: SAET received an amount of R4 million in CASP funding to initiate the implementation 
of the nationally accepted set of Norms and Standards for Agricultural Training Institutes.  

The amount of R3.914 million was spent on the 5 pillars, namely infrastructure development, learning 
programmes and quality assurance, training of staff, strengthening of governance and curricula 
review, and provision of ICT. An amount of R86 000 of these funds was not spent due to expenditure 
being lower than initially provided for.

The total amount of R154.003 million for all four grants was received in four quarterly tranches as 
published.
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All the above grants were deposited into the accredited bank account of the provincial treasury.

CASP, Ilima/Letsema, LandCare and EPWP quarterly reports, as well as monthly financial reports were 
submitted on time as required by the Division of Revenue Act (DoRA).

6.7.	 Donor Funds

No donor assistance was received.

6.8.	 Capital investment, maintenance and asset management plan

The departmental asset management plan was done, linked to the budget and implemented.

The fourth infrastructure asset management plan (IAMP) in terms of GIAMA was completed and will form 
the basis for the accommodation, maintenance and capital needs of the department for the next five 
years. Of major concern is the deterioration of the infrastructure, sewerage and water resources at the 
head office of the department at Elsenburg.

The laboratories and other research buildings are inadequate for the research work needed and 
considerable upgrading has to be done to meet the standards for the Health and Safety Act and other ISO 
standards. A plan to totally redesign the department’s outdated research infrastructure facilities is taken 
up in the IAMP.

Similarly, the department is in need of a campus plan for its college infrastructure and facilities. This has also 
been taken up in the IAMP. 

Water supply problems at the head office continued during the reporting year and have highlighted the 
urgent need for an Elsenburg resources master plan. This plan is part of the IAMP.

Completed building projects will be reported on by the Department of Transport and Public Works (Vote 
10) as the budget and all processes lie with them.

There are no plans to close down or downgrade any current facilities.

At present the department does not keep to its own maintenance schedule in terms of immovable assets 
and infrastructure and is solely reliant on the provincial Department of Transport and Public Works for its 
maintenance needs, since these are centralised with them in the province.

The Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries transferred 72 tractors and 324 related implements to 
the department. The value of these tractors and implements, amounting to R38.6 million, has been added 
to the department’s asset register as at 31 March 2013. However, these items will be transferred to Casidra 
during the 2013/14 financial year to create mechanisation centres for the support of emerging farmers. 
If this once-off outlier is taken out of the equation, the department has not really improved on its assets.

Assets with a cost value of R16.2 million but no book value were written off and sold as scrap.

Losses in terms of assets during the year were for damage (R8  000), theft (R348  000) and vehicles 
(R2 000).

The department is, per prescript, using LOGIS as an asset register. This system meets the minimum 
conditions of asset record keeping and is a constraint as an asset management tool, especially where 
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the asset register is sizable, as in the case of this department where in excess of 34 000 line items are 
kept. It cannot provide for all the needs of changing biological assets.

A monthly reconciliation between LOGIS and BAS ensures an updated asset register.

The condition of moveable assets varies from very good to poor. Firstly, there are vehicles (sedans and 
one-tonners) that are mostly in good maintained condition, but the buses and bigger trucks are already 
beyond the normal replacement date. However, this situation improved, with one bus being replaced this 
year. The tractors and other implements on the research farms are improved as compared to previous 
years, there having been a couple of new replacements. The normal lifespan of the tractors is 8 years. We 
are still exceeding this, but have improved on the previous year’s average. The condition of expensive 
high-technology equipment like seed planters, combine harvesters and crop spraying equipment varies 
from average to poor, with some being irreparable but replacement is not affordable. 

All major maintenance projects on infrastructure will be reported on by the Department of Transport and 
Public Works (Vote 10) as the budget and all processes lie with them. No other major maintenance projects 
were undertaken.

The complete list of infrastructure maintenance needs remains longer than the available funding and 
capacity can support, which is an ever-growing concern.

The maintenance of other asset items is under control.

No major capital projects were undertaken.
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1.	 INTRODUCTION 

The department views good corporate governance as an essential building block for success. 
Governance is therefore a fundamental element in ensuring that public finances and resources are 
utilised effectively, efficiently and economically. Good governance is essentially about effective 
leadership and embodies all processes and systems by which institutions are directed, controlled and 
held accountable. 

The department has an approved strategic plan (setting out the department’s policy priorities, 
programmes and project plans for a five-year period) and an annual performance plan (setting out 
what the department intends doing in the upcoming financial year and during the Medium-Term 
Expenditure Framework to implement its strategic plan). Performance indicators and targets are set 
to assist the department in realising its goals and objectives as set out in the annual performance and 
strategic plans. 

Quarterly performance reports provide progress updates on the implementation of the department’s 
annual performance plan with particular reference to monitoring delivery against quarterly 
performance targets. The aforementioned takes place in accordance with Chapter 5 of the National 
Treasury Regulations and ensures that financial and non-financial performance information underpins 
planning, budgeting, implementation management and accountability reporting to promote 
transparency and expenditure control towards the economic, efficient and effective use of public 
resources1.

With reference to the King III Report on Corporate Governance and sections 38 to 40 of the Public 
Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999, this department puts extra emphasis on the responsibilities 
of the Accounting Officer to ensure that its revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities are managed 
effectively and efficiently. 

The King III report highlights the role of the internal audit as an assurance provider on governance, risk 
management and control processes as well as the governance of risk through formal risk management 
processes. Risk-based auditing is therefore a central focus of King III. A system of internal audit under 
the control and direction of the audit committee is in place. The audit committee is established as 
an oversight body providing oversight over the internal audit, external audit, financial reporting, 
governance and risk management processes. The audit committee has adopted appropriate formal 
terms of reference. The department has an established enterprise risk management committee 
(ERMCO). The duties of ERMCO are set out in its formal terms of reference.

A number of other departmental structures are also in place that contribute to the improvement of 
governance. These include an established (i) health and safety committee, as well as a safety and 
security committee; (ii) departmental information technology committee (DITCOM) which, amongst 
others, is responsible for information technology governance; (iii) internal control unit, which renders 
financial compliance management support and maintains the governance improvement plan for 
the department; (iv) compliance monitoring function within supply chain management; and (v) 
management performance assessment committee, which oversees the assessment of performance 
with regard to the Management Performance Assessment Tool that assesses the quality of management 
practices across a comprehensive range of management areas. 

In addition, the department realised that external independent evaluations of specific projects and 
programmes can add value to the implementation and management frameworks by adjusting these 
to deliver better services to the department’s clients. A departmental evaluation plan for 3 years has 
1 Performance Information Handbook April 2011
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been developed and submitted to the Department of the Premier (who is the provincial co-ordinator) 
and this serves as the department’s contribution to the provincial evaluation plan approved by 
Cabinet. The first three evaluations will be completed at the end of the March 2014.

2.	 RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Accounting Officer’s (AO) responsibility for enterprise risk management (ERM) arises from section 
38 (1) (a) (i) of the PFMA that requires that the AO for a department must ensure that the department 
has and maintains an effective, efficient and transparent system of financial and risk management 
and internal control. In accordance with the King III Report on Corporate Governance, risk has also 
been positioned as a cornerstone in good governance.

National Treasury has developed the National Treasury Public Sector Risk Management Framework in 
response to the requirements of the PFMA for institutions to implement and maintain effective, efficient 
and transparent systems of risk management and control. The Accounting Officer (AO) is accountable 
for realising enterprise risk management in accordance with the framework with the support of the 
Directorate: Enterprise Risk Management (D:ERM) in the Department of the Premier that provides a 
centralised strategic support service to departments. D:ERM systematically manages a sustainable 
ERM journey. The D:ERM further works closely with the appointed risk champion to assist in driving the 
ERM process in the department.

The Western Cape Government (WCG) adopted an enterprise risk management policy which sets out 
the province’s overall intention with regard to ERM to further embed risk management. An enterprise 
risk management strategy and implementation plan has been developed to give effect to the 
enterprise risk management policy in a structured, coherent and systematic manner. This will ultimately 
enable the department to deliver on its departmental goals, objectives and indicators, enhance risk-
informed decision-making and optimise compliance with applicable legislation. It further outlines the 
roles and responsibilities of managers and staff in embedding risk management in the department 
and defines the enabling legislation, standards, mechanisms, tools and resources to be used to realise 
the ERM plan. 

ERMCO, made up of executive management and chaired by the AO, continues to support the AO in 
the effective discharge of her responsibilities and fosters a culture that supports the principles of good 
corporate governance. The duties of ERMCO are set out in its terms of reference. During the year 
under review ERMCO met quarterly to, amongst other things, monitor and review the strategic risks 
of the department as well as monitor performance against the implementation plan. Programme risk 
assessments are conducted quarterly in order to review and update existing risks, identify emerging 
risks, and devise risk treatment plans with target dates and allocated responsibility for risk treatments. 

Whilst it is acknowledged that not all risks can be eliminated, it is good practice for leaders to 
acknowledge that risk management is an essential enabler for the desired risk management culture 
that will support (Western Cape Government and department) efforts to meet objectives, maximise 
opportunity and minimise adverse consequences. Risk management has introduced a different 
language and thinking within the department.

3.	 FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 

The Western Cape Government adopted an anti-corruption strategy which confirms the province’s 
zero tolerance stance toward fraud and corruption. The department’s fraud prevention plan 
remained unchanged for the year and will be subject to review within the first quarter of the 2013/14  
financial year. 
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Forensic investigations continued to be offered by the shared Forensic Investigation Unit (FIU) that 
was corporatised to the Corporate Services Centre in the Department of the Premier. FIU services 
all departments across the WCG and assists departments with the investigation, prevention and 
detection of fraud, theft and corruption-related incidents. 

Fraud prevention initiatives for the year were directed towards increasing awareness about the Fraud 
Prevention Plan, as well as increasing awareness about the Western Cape Government provincial 
anti-corruption strategy, fighting fraud and corruption in the public sector, financial misconduct and 
conflict of interest. During the year the Department of Public Service and Administration conducted 
an effectiveness assessment on the implementation of the minimum anti-corruption capacity (MACC) 
requirements. The department is currently awaiting the results. The results will direct future interventions.

In order to promote and facilitate effective, varied and anonymous mechanisms to report suspected 
fraud, theft and corruption, various channels for reporting allegations of fraud and corruption exist. 
These are described in detail in the anti-corruption strategy and the departmental fraud prevention 
plan.

We protect employees who blow the whistle on suspicions of fraud, corruption and theft if the disclosure 
is a protected disclosure (i.e. not malicious). The opportunity to remain anonymous is afforded to any 
person who would like to report acts of fraud, theft and corruption and, should they do so in person, 
their identities are kept confidential by the person to whom they are reporting.

Each allegation received by the FIU is recorded in a case management system which is used as a 
management tool to report on progress made in cases relating to the department. 

Once fraud or corruption is confirmed, and after completion of an investigation, the relevant employee 
who participated in these acts is subjected to a disciplinary hearing. Where prima facie evidence of 
criminal conduct is detected, a criminal matter is reported to the South African Police Service.

4.	 MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

A high standard of professional ethics must be promoted and maintained in the Public Service. To this 
effect, all members of the Senior Management Service (SMS) are required to disclose to the executive 
authority particulars of all their registrable interests in accordance with Chapter 3 of the Public Service 
Regulations. The objective of Chapter 3 is to identify any conflicts of interest in order to promote just 
and fair administrative actions of officials in senior positions and thereby to protect the Public Service 
from actions that may be detrimental to its functioning. Such disclosures take place annually. Should 
any conflict of interest arise it will be dealt with in accordance with the Public Service Regulations and 
related prescripts. 

The Code of Conduct (COC) for the Public Service and the Code of Conduct for Supply Chain 
Practitioners lay down norms and standards in promoting integrity and guide employees as to what 
is expected of them ethically (both in their individual conduct and in their relationships with others). 
All employees are expected to comply with the COC for the Public Service. With regard to supply 
chain management, the declaration of interest has been expanded to include all members of 
the bid adjudication committee, specification committee and evaluation committee. Should any 
breaches in the COC be identified they will be managed in accordance with the Disciplinary Code 
and Procedures for the Public Service. 

With respect to potential conflict of interest within supply chain management, all bidders and now 
also all prospective bidders who intend doing business with the department are required to register 
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on the Western Cape supplier database and complete a declaration of interest, bidder’s past supply 
chain management practices and independent bid determination form. 

The provincial treasury, in collaboration with provincial departments, instituted a process through which 
potential conflicts of interest can be identified by comparing similar and comparable information 
from the Personnel Salary System (PERSAL) with information provided by suppliers of their directors, 
members, shareholders and employees. Should any potential conflict of interest be identified such 
cases are referred to departments for “investigation” (determining whether identified employee/s 
was/were involved in the procurement process and ascertaining whether the employee/s has/have 
the required approval for remunerative work outside the public service). This process only applies 
to transactions in excess of R2 000. No cases relating to the department have been identified since 
implementation. 

With respect to “remunerative work outside the Public Service” (RWOPS), employees are required 
to apply in accordance with approved provincial policy governing RWOPS. All applications must 
be in writing and must, amongst others, address the nature and extent of remunerative work to be 
performed, including the times/hours of duty and relation thereof (possible conflict of interest or areas 
of concern) to the normal duties that the employee performs in the Public Service. Such applications 
are then subject to review. Where non-compliance is detected such instances will be dealt with in 
accordance with the policy and, where appropriate, in terms of the Disciplinary Code and Procedures 
for the Public Service.

5.	 CODE OF CONDUCT 

The Code of Conduct for the Public Service, as included in Chapter 2 of the Public Service Regulations, 
is the “adopted” code. The code of conduct:

-	 Lays down norms and standards in promoting integrity, and efficient and effective delivery of 	
	 services to the public;
-	 is a set of standards describing the behaviour we expect from our employees;
-	 guides employees as to what is expected of them ethically, both in their individual conduct 	
	 and in their relationships with others; and
-	 forms an integral part of the way we work every day.
	
All employees are expected to comply with the code of conduct. During the year the code of 
conduct was circulated to employees. Awareness about the code of conduct was also raised 
through “induction training” for new employees. The code is furthermore strengthened by the Code of 
Conduct for Supply Chain Management Practitioners. All bid committee members and supply chain 
management practitioners are required to acknowledge that they will abide by the Code of Conduct 
for Supply Chain Management Practitioners. The Disciplinary Code and Procedures for the Public 
Service are used to promote acceptable conduct, and to avert and correct unacceptable conduct.

6.	 HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 

The risks relating to health, safety and environment are diverse as the department is administrative 
and agricultural in nature. Safe evacuation of employees in emergencies, poor ergonomics, exposure 
to chemicals and pesticides, transmission of diseases between animals and humans (zoonosis) and 
exposure to extreme weather conditions are among the diverse risk areas faced by the department 
and its employees. 
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The department has an occupational health and safety officer who is responsible for monitoring 
compliance with health and safety standards, with internal and external assessments being conducted. 
An occupational health and safety committee is in place and operates in accordance with approved 
terms of reference. Safety representatives are appointed within programmes. Additionally, a safety 
and security committee has been established. All matters relating to safety and security are elevated 
to this committee. The chairperson of the safety and security Committee furthermore reports to the 
enterprise risk management committee, and is also a member of this committee.

The vision of the department embraces its commitment to responsible environmental stewardship (in 
balance with nature).  The application of environmental governance forms an integral part of how 
the department conducts its operations, both internal and external, and supports the principle of 
being a “responsible corporate citizen”.
 
The effect of climate change on agriculture in the Western Cape is one of the major determinants 
of the sustainability of the natural resource base, the agricultural sector and the competitiveness of 
its farmers.   Therefore the department’s long-term response to climate change is being developed 
as part of Provincial Strategic Objective 7 (PSO7) - “Mainstreaming sustainability and optimising 
resource-use efficiency”. This PSO is, in turn, linked to National Outcome 10: “Protect and enhance our 
environmental assets and natural resources”. PSO7 will in this regard be of the utmost importance, with 
special emphasis on water management, land use and renewable energy.
 
The department is also part of PSO1 – “Increasing opportunities for growth and jobs” – and in particular 
the green economy working group, where the goal of establishing the Western Cape as the leading 
green hub on the African continent is supported. This includes smart agri-production as one of the 
drivers of the green economy strategic framework.

The Department is also part of the 2wise2waste programme of the province and has also established 
a green committee.  The aim and the purpose of the green committee is to (i) oversee departmental 
actions and give advice to management on resource use and future environmentally and climate-
smart actions to be undertaken to turn the department into a climate-smart department and (ii) to 
align internal departmental activities with climate-smart principles in the broad categories of RETHINK, 
REDUCE, RE-USE & RECYCLE.

7.	 INTERNAL CONTROL UNIT 

The establishment of an effective system of internal control arises from section 38 of the Public Finance 
Management Act (PFMA), Act 1 of 1999. Internal control is broadly defined as a process effected by 
an institution’s accounting officer, management and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the achievement of objectives. Amongst others, it includes all processes and 
procedures that management implements to ensure that revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities 
are managed effectively and efficiently. 

Management is accountable to the Accounting Officer for designing, implementing and monitoring 
the process of internal control. The internal control unit forms an integral part of the system of internal 
control. In order to carry out its role effectively, the internal control unit maintains a degree of 
independence from the other financial management activities, although it is part of the organisational 
structure of the Office of the Chief Financial Officer. 

During the year the unit supported the improvement of financial governance mainly through 
(i) maintaining the governance improvement plan for the department, (ii) rendering financial 
compliance management support, (iii) making recommendations for improvement in internal control, 
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(iv) rendering advice/support on risk management and fraud-related matters, (v) rendering support 
in respect of the Management Performance Assessment Tool (MPAT) and fulfilling an integral part 
of the effectiveness assessment on compliance with the minimum anti-corruption capacity (MACC) 
requirements as conducted by the Department of Public Service and Administration.

The unit also fulfils a key role in respect of the work performed by assurance providers (internal and 
external audit) in ensuring that appropriate action is taken to address identified areas for improvement. 

8.	 AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2013. We commend the 
department in obtaining a clean audit.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance

In terms of Cabinet Resolution 55/2007, the Department of Agriculture is served by the Economic 
Cluster Audit Committee. The audit committee consists of the members listed below and should meet 
at least 4 times per annum as per its approved terms of reference. During the financial year under 
review, 7 meetings were held.

Name of Member							       Number of Meetings Attended 

Ms J Gunther (Appointed as Chairperson from 1 January 2013)			   1
Mr Z Hoosain (Chairperson until 30 November 2012)					     6
Mr F Barnard (Appointed from 1 January 2013)					     1
Mr R Kingwill 										          6
Mr K Larkin											           6
Mr B van Staaden									         7

Audit Committee Responsibility

The audit committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 38 (1) (a) 
(ii) of the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulation 3.1. The audit committee also 
reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its audit committee charter, 
has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as 
contained therein. 

The Effectiveness of Internal Control

We have reviewed the reports of the internal auditors, the Audit Report on the Annual Financial 
Statements and the Management Report of the Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA). Other than 
the matters reflected in the AGSA’s audit and management reports and the matters highlighted 
below, no material deficiencies in the system of internal control were noted. 

During the year key control deficiencies were noted by Internal Audit in the following areas;
	 Climate Change – Formulation and implementation of the Climate Change Plan.
	 Food Security – Food security projects oversight

Corrective actions have been agreed by management and are being monitored by the audit 
committee.
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The department has taken full responsibility and ownership for the implementation of the Enterprise-
wide Risk Management (ERM) methodology and function. The challenge remains to institutionalise 
ERM throughout the organisation. The audit committee noted a number of emerging risks and will be 
monitoring these on a regular basis.

We have reviewed and concur with management’s acceptance of the AGSA’s management report. 
We can confirm there are no unresolved issues.

The audit committee is satisfied with the content and quality of quarterly reports in respect of in year 
management and quarterly performance reports submitted in terms of the PFMA and the Division of 
Revenue Act prepared and issued by the accounting officer of the department during the year under 
review. 

We have fulfilled our mandate with regards to the annual financial statements as mentioned below.

Evaluation of Financial Statements

The audit committee has:

	 reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the Annual 	
	 Report, with the AGSA and the accounting officer;
	 reviewed the AGSA’s Management Report and management’s response thereto;
	 reviewed changes to accounting policies and practices as reported in the annual 			

	 financial statements;
	 reviewed the department’s processes for compliance with legal and regulatory provisions;
	 reviewed the information on predetermined objectives as reported in the annual report; 
	 reviewed material adjustments resulting from the audit of the department and 
	 reviewed and where appropriate recommended changes to the interim financial statements 	

	 as presented by the department for the six months ending 30 September 2012.

The audit committee concurs and accepts the AGSA’s opinion regarding the annual financial 
statements, and proposes that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read 
together with the report of the AGSA. 

Internal Audit 

In line with the PFMA and the King III Report on Corporate Governance requirements, internal audit 
provides the audit committee and management with reasonable assurance that the internal controls 
are adequate and effective. This is achieved by a risk based internal audit plan, internal audit assessing 
the adequacy of controls mitigating the risks and the audit committee monitoring implementation of 
corrective actions. 

The following internal audit work was planned and completed during the year under review:

	 Food Security
	 Transfer Payments
	 Climate Change
	 Performance Information Management

The audit committee remains concerned that further audit coverage is required to cover a significant 
percentage of high risk areas. The audit committee will encourage increased assurance over significant 
risks by overseeing the implementation of combined assurance principles.

Western Cape Government | Department of Agriculture | Annual Report 2012/13108

Annual Report Financial Year 2012/13
Vote 11: Department of Agriculture

Province of the Western Cape



Auditor-General’s Report

We have reviewed the department’s implementation plan for audit issues raised in the prior year on 
a quarterly basis. The audit committee has met with the AGSA to ensure that there are no unresolved 
issues that emanated from the regulatory audit. Corrective actions on the detailed findings emanating 
from the current regulatory audit will be monitored by the audit committee on a quarterly basis.

Appreciation

The audit committee wishes to express its appreciation to the management of the department, the 
AGSA, Provincial Enterprise Risk Management Unit, Forensic Investigative Unit and the Internal Audit 
Unit for the co-operation and information they have provided to enable us to compile this report.

Ms J Gunther
Chairperson of the Economic Cluster Audit Committee
August 2013
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1.	 LEGISLATION THAT GOVERNS HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 

The information provided in this section is prescribed by the Public Service Regulations (Chapter 1, Part 
III J.3 and J.4). In addition to the Public Service Regulations, 2001 (as amended on 30 July 2012), the 
following prescripts direct human resource management within the Public Service:

	 Occupational Health and Safety Act, Act 85 of 1993 
	 To provide for the health and safety of persons at work and for the health and safety of persons 

in connection with the use of plant and machinery; the protection of persons other than persons 
at work against hazards to health and safety arising out of or in connection with the activities 
of persons at work; to establish an advisory council for occupational health and safety; and to 
provide for matters connected therewith.

	 Public Service Act 1994, as amended by Act 30 of 2007 
	 To provide for the organisation and administration of the Public Service of the Republic, the 

regulation of the conditions of employment, terms of office, discipline, retirement and discharge of 
members of the Public Service, and matters connected therewith.

	 Labour Relations Act, Act 66 of 1995
	 To regulate and guide the employer in recognising and fulfilling its role in effecting labour peace 

and the democratisation of the workplace. 

	 Basic Conditions of Employment Act, Act 75 of 1997 
	 To give effect to the right to fair labour practices referred to in section 23(1) of the Constitution 

by establishing and making provision for the regulation of basic conditions of employment; and 
thereby to comply with the obligations of the Republic as a member state of the International 
Labour Organisation; and to provide for matters connected therewith.

	 Skills Development Act, Act 97 of 1998
	 To provide an institutional framework to devise and implement national, sector and workplace 

strategies to develop and improve the skills of the South African workforce; to integrate those 
strategies within the National Qualifications Framework contemplated in the South African 
Qualifications Authority Act, 1995; to provide for Iearnerships that lead to recognised occupational 
qualifications; to provide for the financing of skills development by means of a levy-grant scheme 
and a National Skills Fund; to provide for and regulate employment services; and to provide for 
matters connected therewith.

	 Employment Equity Act, Act 55 of 1998
	 To promote equality, eliminate unfair discrimination in employment and to ensure the implementation 

of employment equity measures to redress the effects of discrimination; to achieve a diverse and 
efficient workforce broadly representative of the demographics of the province. 

	 Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999
	 To regulate financial management in the national government and provincial governments; to 

ensure that all revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities of those governments are managed 
efficiently and effectively; to provide for the responsibilities of persons entrusted with financial 
management in those governments; and to provide for matters connected therewith.
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	 Skills Development Levies Act, Act 9 of 1999, 
	 To provide any Public Service employer in the national or provincial sphere of government with 

exemption from paying a skills development levy; and for exemption from matters connected 
therewith.

	 Promotion of Access to Information Act, Act 2 of 2000
	 To give effect to the constitutional right of access to any information held by the State and any 

information that is held by another person and that is required for the exercise or protection of any 
rights; and to provide for matters connected therewith.

	 Promotion of Administrative Justice Act (PAJA), Act 3 of 2000
	 To give effect to the right to administrative action that is lawful, reasonable and procedurally fair 

and to the right to written reasons for administrative action as contemplated in section 33 of the 
Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996; and to provide for matters incidental thereto.

2.	 INTRODUCTION 

The Value of Human Capital in the Department 

Our people are the foremost contributors to the achievements of the department and the successes 
of the Western Cape Government. Service excellence depends on the wellbeing of our organisation 
and its people. Hence, we: 
	 	 value people who act with integrity, and are engaged, caring, competent, accountable  
		  and responsive;
	 	 see people management to be the responsibility of everyone;
	 	 ground the management of our people in the principles of dignity, respect, transparency  
		  and equity;
	 	 grow, develop, empower and enable our people to reach and use their full potential; 
	 	 embrace diversity and have a deep respect for one another’s culture, individuality, language,  
		  values and beliefs.

Overview of Human Resource Matters 

People are a key element in achieving the strategic objectives of the department. Therefore human 
resource planning aims to ensure that the department has the right people, with the right skills, at the 
right place at the right time, all the time. 

It is within this context that the department’s strategic HR plan was developed and implemented 
for the period 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2013. The HR plan was reviewed to determine whether the 
human resource strategic objectives were still valid and whether it addressed the HR priorities in the 
department. Bi-annual progress reports monitored the implementation of the key activities contained 
within the HR plan and were submitted to DPSA as directed. 

By means of workforce planning, the department identified the current and future human resource 
needs and flagged the potential challenges that could impact on the achievement of the 
department’s strategic objectives.
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Set Human Resource Priorities for the Year under Review and the Impact of these Priorities 

After analysing the current workforce profile and the future demand, the following HR priorities were 
identified:

NR HR PRIORITY IMPACT

1 Organisational Design (including job evaluation and 
issues relating to the facilitation and/or execution of 
human resource functions)

Appropriate structure and staff estab-
lishment

2 Recruitment and Staffing (including employment equi-
ty, succession planning, retention)

Fill vacancies with suitable appoint-
ments

3 Training and Development (including leadership devel-
opment, competency development)

Trained to address employer, employ-
ee, client and job needs and require-
ments

4 The application of Change Management and Transfor-
mation (values, ethics, employee wellness, health and 
safety, labour relations, incentives)

Content and satisfied staff

5 Institutionalise Knowledge Management (including 
information sharing, surveys, monitoring and evalua-
tion results)

Informed employer and employee

Workforce Planning Framework and Key Strategies to Attract and Recruit a Skilled and Capable 
Workforce 

Without people the department cannot deliver an optimal service, and without an adequate budget 
it cannot recruit, develop or retain people needed to deliver optimal services. 

The challenges facing the department have been identified. These challenges have been addressed 
by identifying key activities which have been incorporated into the action plan.

The following are the key activities as set out in the action plan:

HR PRIORITY NO. 
AS ABOVE

KEY ACTIVITIES (Table 52 – HR Plan)

1 	 Execute organisational development investigations
	 Identify retention groups
	 HR operations and procedures

2 	 Fill vacancies
	 Attain EE targets
	 Develop internal recruitment options

3 	 Ensure suitably trained staff
4 	 Content and satisfied staff

	 Assessment
5 	 Solicit feedback/input

	 Information, openness and transparency

Employee Performance Management Framework 

One of the cornerstones of the staff performance management system is the basic requirement that 
all employees are obliged to do what is expected of them. These expectations and the required 
performance standards are concretised by means of job descriptions, performance agreements, 
business plans and/or service level agreements. Rewards and incentives are therefore only granted 
for work that qualitatively and quantitatively surpasses work that earns the pay. 
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Employees who are nominated for performance bonuses are assessed by moderation panels, who 
then examine the evidence of superior performance. Underperforming staff members, on the other 
hand, are required to complete the actions stipulated in a performance improvement plan.  These 
are closely monitored to ensure absolute compliance with acceptable performance standards. 

This system represents a more equitable, fair and open process. Moreover, it sets the framework in 
which both the employer and employee can equally realise their goals and objectives.  

Employee Wellness 

Developing a wellness culture in the department is of strategic importance to ensure that employees 
achieve optimal levels of performance while feeling cared for and supported in the work context. 
The WCG’s transversal employee health and wellness (EHW) programme follows a holistic approach 
to employee wellbeing and is largely preventative in nature, offering both primary and secondary 
services. The EHW programme is monitored in the department through monthly utilisation reports for 
primary services (24/7/365 telephonic counselling service, online e-Care service and reporting) and 
secondary services (face-to-face counselling, trauma and critical incidents, training and targeted 
intervention, executive coaching, advocacy). A quarterly report is prepared by the Directorate: 
Organisational Behaviour within the Corporate Services Centre that provides a trend analysis of 
utilisation, risk identification and its impact on productivity. Furthermore, ongoing reporting to the 
Department of Public Service and Administration (DPSA) is a requirement and such reporting focuses 
on four areas, namely HIV/AIDS, health and productivity, wellness management and SHEQ (safety, 
health, environment and quality) management.    

Policy Development 
	
The following policies were adopted during the year under review:
a)	 Special Leave Policy, which sets transversal standards and conditions for leave categories  

that are not regulated in the national Determination on Leave of Absence (August 2012). These 
categories include study leave, substance abuse treatment, participation in sporting events, etc. 

b)	 Policy on Remunerative Work Outside the Public Service, which manages and regulates the 
conditions under which the employer would provide authorisation for employees to conduct 
remunerated work outside the Public Service.

c)	 Policy on Secondment of Employees, which provides directives and general measures, and 
prescribes uniform conditions for secondment.
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3.	 HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS 

3.1	 Personnel-related expenditure

The following tables summarise final audited expenditure by programme (Table 3.1.1) and by salary 
bands (Table 3.1.2). In particular, they provide an indication of the amount spent on personnel in terms 
of each of the programmes or salary bands within the department.

The figures in Table 3.1.1 are drawn from the Basic Accounting System and the figures in Table 3.1.2 
are drawn from the PERSAL [Personnel Salary] system. The two systems are not synchronised for 
salary refunds in respect of staff appointments and resignations and/or transfers to and from other 
departments. This means there may be a difference in total expenditure reflected on these systems.
 

Programme Programme Designation

Programme 1 Administration

Programme 2 Sustainable Resource Management

Programme 3 Farmer Support & Development

Programme 4 Veterinary Services

Programme 5 Research & Technology Development Services

Programme 6 Agricultural Economics Services

Programme 7 Structured Agricultural Education & Training

Programme 8 Rural Development Co-ordination

Table 3.1.1:	 Personnel expenditure by programme, 2012/13

Programme
Total 

Expenditure 
(R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Training 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Goods & 
Services 
(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure 

as a % of total 
expenditure

Average 
personnel 

expenditure per 
employee (R’000)

Number of 
Employees

Programme 1 81 346 40 589 112 36 618 49.9 202 201

Programme 2 49 249 21 728 366 25 506 44.1 286 76

Programme 3 206 794 39 465 248 18,765 19.1 263 150

Programme 4 53 497 40 427 272 10 396 75.6 304 133

Programme 5 87 356 57 923 193 22 000 66.3 194 299

Programme 6 14 901 8 786 83 2 200 59.0 237 37

Programme 7 46 530 25 846 60 15 191 55.6 89 290

Programme 8 15 960 8 317 37 3 088 52.1 185 45

Total 555 633 243 081 1 371 133 764 43.8 197 1 231

Note:	 The number of employees refers to all individuals remunerated during the reporting period, excluding the Minister.
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Table 3.1.2:	 Personnel expenditure by salary bands, 2012/13

Salary bands Personnel Expendi-
ture (R’000)

% of total person-
nel expenditure

Average personnel 
expenditure per 

employee (R’000)

Number of Em-
ployees

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 19 834 7.9 51 392

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 47 457 19.0 140 339

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 66 629 26.7 258 258

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12) 95 771 38.4 437 219

 Senior management (Levels 13-16) 19 998 8.0 870 23

Total 249 689 100.0 203 1 231

Note:	 The number of employees refers to all individuals remunerated during the reporting period, excluding the Minister.

The following tables provide a summary, per programme (Table 3.1.3) and salary bands (Table 3.1.4), 
of expenditure incurred as a result of salaries, overtime, housing allowance and medical assistance. 
In each case, the table provides an indication of the percentage of the personnel budget that was 
used for these items.

Table 3.1.3:	 Salaries, Overtime, Housing Allowance and Medical Assistance by programme, 2012/13

Programme

Salaries Overtime Housing allowance Medical assistance

Amount 
(R’000)

Salaries as a 
% of person-
nel expendi-

ture

Amount 
(R’000)

Overtime 
as a % of 
personnel 
expendi-

ture

Amount 
(R’000)

Housing 
allowance 
as a % of 
personnel 
expendi-

ture

Amount 
(R’000)

Medical 
assistance 
as a % of 
personnel 

expenditure

Programme 1: 27 415 11.0 325 0.1 966 0.4 1 713 0.7

Programme 2: 15 066 6.0 0 0.0 481 0.2 893 0.4

Programme 3: 27 875 11.2 53 0.02 843 0.3 1 467 0.6

Programme 4: 27 435 11.0 1 084 0.4 914 0.4 1 927 0.8

Programme 5: 38 653 15.5 1 352 0.5 2 241 0.9 3 569 1.4

Programme 6: 6 450 2.6 0 0.0 218 0.1 357 0.1

Programme 7: 17 439 7.0 415 0.2 850 0.3 1 594 0.6

Programme 8: 6 039 2.4 39 0.0 255 0.1 226 0.1

Total 166 372 66.6 3 268 1.3 6 768 2.7 11 746 4.7

Note: The totals in Table 3.1.3 & 3.1.4 are the same; however, due to the fact that the data is grouped by either programme or 
salary band and that it is rounded off to thousands they reflect differently.
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Table 3.1.4:	 Salaries, Overtime, Housing Allowance and Medical Assistance by salary bands, 2012/13

Salary Bands

Salaries Overtime Housing allowance Medical assistance

Amount 
(R’000)

Salaries 
as a % of 
personnel
expendi-

ture

Amount 
(R’000)

Overtime 
as a % of 
personnel 
expendi-

ture

Amount 
(R’000)

Housing 
allow-ance 

as a % of 
personnel 

expenditure

Amount 
(R’000)

Medical 
assistance 
as a % of 
personnel 

expenditure

Lower skilled
(Levels 1-2)

12 372 5.0 678 0.3 1 108 0.4 1 525 0.6

Skilled
(Levels 3-5)

31 307 12.5 968 0.4 2 509 1.0 4 027 1.6

Highly skilled produc-
tion (Levels 6-8)

46 089 18.5 1 012 0.4 1 624 0.7 2 986 1.2

Highly skilled supervi-
sion
(Levels 9-12)

63 974 25.6 610 0.2 1 306 0.5 2 895 1.2

Senior management
(Levels 13-16) 

12 628 5.1 0 0.0 220 0.1 313 0.1

Total 166 370 66.6 3 268 1.3 6 767 2.7 11 746 4.7

Note:	 The totals in Table 3.1.3 & 3.1.4 are the same; however, due to the rounding off to thousands they reflect differently.

3.2	 EMPLOYMENT AND VACANCIES

The following tables summarise the number of posts on the establishment, the number of employees, 
the percentage of vacant posts, and whether there are any staff members who are additional to the 
establishment. This information is presented in terms of three key variables: programme (Table 3.2.1), 
salary band (Table 3.2.2) and critical occupations (Table 3.2.3). Departments have identified critical 
occupations that need to be monitored. Table 3.2.3 provides establishment and vacancy information 
for the key critical occupations of the department.

Table 3.2.1:	 Employment and vacancies by programme, as at 31 March 2013

Programme

Number of 
funded posts

Number of posts 
filled

Vacancy rate % Number 
of persons 

additional to the 
establishment

Vacancy rate 
taking additional 

staff into 
account

Programme 1 156 128 17.9 16 7.7

Programme 2 77 58 24.7 13 7.8

Programme 3 142 119 16.2 17 4.2

Programme 4 143 118 17.5 6 13.3

Programme 5 332 275 17.2 3 16.3

Programme 6 36 27 25.0 0 25.0

Programme 7 143 117 18.2 2 16.8

Programme 8 15 13 13.3 29 0.0

Total 1 044 855 18.1 86 9.9
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Table 3.2.2:	 Employment and vacancies by salary bands, as at 31 March 2013

Salary Band

Number of 
funded posts

Number of posts 
filled

Vacancy
rate %

Number of
 persons 

additional 
to the 

establishment

Vacancy rate 
taking 

additional staff 
into account

Lower skilled

(Levels 1-2)

221 199 10.0 4 8.1

Skilled

(Levels 3-5)

286 255 10.8 51 0.0

Highly skilled production

(Levels 6-8)

273 206 24.5 21 16.8

Highly skilled supervision

(Levels 9-12)

242 179 26.0 9 22.3

Senior management

(Levels 13-16) 

22 16 27.3 1 22.7

Total 1 044 855 18.1 86 9.9

Note: The information in each case reflects the situation as at 31 March 2013. For an indication of changes in staffing patterns 
over the year under review, please refer to section 3.4 of this report.

Table 3.2.3:	 Employment and vacancies by critical occupation, as at 31 March 2013

Critical Occupations

Number of 
funded posts

Number of
posts filled

Vacancy
rate %

Number of 
persons 

additional 
to the 

establishment

Vacancy rate 
taking 

additional staff 
into account

Agricultural Engineer 37 22 40.5 0 40.5

Agricultural Advisor 58 55 5.2 0 5.2

Veterinary Services 88 72 18.2 4 13.6

Agricultural Scientist and Technician 83 56 32.5 1 31.3

Agricultural Economist 24 17 29.2 0 29.2

Lecturer 36 28 22.2 0 22.2

Project Manager 2 2 0.0 0 0.0

Total 328 252 23.2 5 21.6
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3.3 	 JOB EVALUATION

The Public Service Regulations, 2001 as amended, introduced job evaluation as a way of ensuring that 
work of equal value is remunerated equally. Within a nationally determined framework, executing 
authorities may evaluate or re-evaluate any post in their organisation. 

Table 3.3.1 summarises the number of posts that were evaluated during the year under review. The 
table also provides statistics on the number of posts that were upgraded or downgraded.

Table 3.3.1:	 Job evaluation, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Salary Band
Total 

number of 
posts

Number 
of posts 
evaluat-

ed

% of posts 
evaluat-

ed

Posts Upgraded Posts Downgraded

Number % of 
number 
of posts

Number % of num-
ber of posts

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 221 7 0.7 6 0.6 0 0.0

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 286 1 0.1 3 0.3 0 0.0

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 273 4 0.4 2 0.2 0 0.0

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12) 242 0 0.0 9 0.9 0 0.0

Senior Management
Service Band A (Level 13)

14 0 0.0 1 0.1 0 0.0

Senior Management
Service Band B (Level 14)

6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

Senior Management
Service Band C (Level 15)

1 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

Senior Management
Service Band D (Level 16)

1 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

Total 1044 12 1.1 21 2.0 0 0.0

Note: 	 Existing Public Service policy requires departments to subject specifically identified posts (excluding educator and OSD 
[occupation-specific dispensation] posts) to a formal job evaluation process. These include newly created posts as well as posts 
where the job content has changed significantly. This job evaluation process determines the grading and salary level of a post.

The majority of posts on the approved establishment were evaluated during previous reporting years, and the job 
evaluation results are thus still applicable.

Table 3.3.2 provides a summary of the number of employees by race, gender and disability whose 
salary positions were upgraded due to their posts being upgraded. 

Table 3.3.2:	 Profile of employees whose salary positions were upgraded due to their posts being 	
		  upgraded, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Beneficiaries African Indian Coloured White Total

Female 4 0 9 5 18

Male 0 0 1 2 3

Total 4 0 10 7 21

Employees with a disability 0

Note:	 The number of employees might differ from the number of posts upgraded since not all employees are automatically 
absorbed into the upgraded posts and some of the upgraded posts could also be vacant.
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Table 3.3.3 summarises the number of cases in which salary levels exceeded the grade determined  
by job evaluation (including higher notches awarded). Reasons for the deviation are provided  
in each case.

Table 3.3.3:	 Employees whose salaries exceed the level determined by job evaluation, 1 April 2012 	
		  to 31 March 2013

Total number of employees whose salaries exceed the level determined by job evaluation 
(including awarding of higher notches) in 2012/2013 None

3.4.	 EMPLOYMENT CHANGES

Turnover rates provide an indication of trends in the employment profile of the department during the year 
under review. The following tables provide a summary of turnover rates by salary band (Table 3.4.1) and by 
critical occupation (Table 3.4.2). 

Table 3.4.1:	 Annual turnover rates by salary band, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Salary Band

Number of 
employees as 
at 31 March 

2012

Turnover 
rate 

2011/12 
%

Appoint-
ments into 
the depart-

ment

Transfers 
into the 
depart-

ment

Termina-
tionsout of 
the depart-

ment

Transfers 
out of the 
depart-

ment

Turnover 
rate 

2012/13 
%

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 161 2.3 11 0 6 0 3.7

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 316 8.8 26 0 15 5 6.3

Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 249 9.0 19 1 17 6 9.2

Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels 9-12) 203 6.6 6 2 11 3 6.9

Senior Management
Service Band A (Level 13) 15 0.0 0 0 1 0 6.7

Senior Management
Service Band B (Level 14) 6 0.0 0 0 1 0 16.7

Senior Management
Service Band C (Level 15) 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0

Senior Management
Service Band D (Level 16) 1 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0

Total
951 6.8 62 3 51 14 6.8

65 65

Note: 	 A transfer is when a Public Service official moves from one department to another, on the same salary level.

Table 3.4.2:	Annual turnover rates by critical occupation, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Critical Occupation

Number of 
employees 

as at 
31 March 2012

Turnover 
rate 

2011/12 
%

Appoint-
ments

into the de-
partment

Transfers
into the de-

partment

Termina-
tions out 

of the de-
partment

Transfers out 
of the de-
partment

Turnover 
rate 

2012/13 
%

Agricultural Engineer 23 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0

Agricultural Advisor 61 4.9 1 0 2 2 6.6

Veterinary Services 78 22.2 3 0 2 2 5.1

Agricultural Scientist and 
Technician 58 2.9 0 0 0 0 0.0

Agricultural Economist 15 6.7 7 1 5 1 40.0

Lecturer 30 7.4 4 0 4 0 13.3

Total
265 6.5 15 1 13 5 6.8

16 18
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Table 3.4.3:	  Staff leaving the employ of the department, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Exit Category Number % of total exits

Number of exits as a 
% of total number of 
employees as at 31 

March 2012

Death 6 9.2 0.6

Resignation * 26 40.0 2.7

Expiry of contract 10 15.4 1.1

Dismissal – misconduct 1 1.5 0.1

Transfers to other Public Service departments 14 21.5 1.5

Total 65 100 6

Note: 	 Table 3.4.3 identifies the various exit categories for those staff members who have left the employ of the department.  
* Resignations are further discussed in tables 3.4.4 and 3.4.5.

Table 3.4.4:	 Reasons why staff resigned, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Resignation Reasons Number % of total resignations

Bad health        1 3.8

Better remuneration   20 76.9

Domestic problems    1 3.8

Further studies     1 3.8

Resigning of position 2 7.7

No reason 1 3.8

Total 26 100.0

Table 3.4.5:	 Different age groups of staff who resigned, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Age group Number % of total resignations

Ages <19 0 0.0

Ages 20 to 24 1 3.8

Ages 25 to 29 6 23.1

Ages 30 to 34 5 19.2

Ages 35 to 39 7 26.9

Ages 40 to 44 1 3.8

Ages 45 to 49 4 15.4

Ages 50 to 54 2 7.7

Ages 55 to 59 0 0.0

Ages 60 to 64 0 0.0

Ages 65 > 0 0.0

Total 26 100.0
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Table 3.4.6 shows that during the year under review no employee-initiated severance packages were granted.
 

Total number of employee-initiated severance packages in 2012/ 2013 None

Table 3.4.7:	 Promotions by salary band, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Salary Band Employees as
at 31 March 2012

Promotions to
another salary 

level

Promotions as a 
% of employees

Progressions to 
another notch 
within a salary 

level

Notch progres-
sions as a % of 

employees

Lower skilled
(Levels 1-2) 161 0 0.0 112 69.6

Skilled
(Levels 3-5) 316 4 1.3 268 84.8

Highly skilled production
(Levels 6-8) 249 1 0.4 167 67.1

Highly skilled supervision
(Levels 9-12) 203 4 2.0 128 63.1

Senior management
(Levels 13-16) 22 1 4.5 12 54.5

Total 951 10 1.1 687 72.2

Table 3.4.8:	 Promotions by critical occupation, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Critical Occupation
Employees as
at 31 March 

2012

Promotions to
another salary 

level

Promotions as 
a % of employ-
ees by salary 

band

Progressions to 
another notch 
within a salary 

level

Notch progres-
sions as a % of 
employees by 

salary band
Agricultural Engineer 23 0 0.0 17 73.9

Agricultural Advisor 61 0 0.0 46 75.4

Veterinary Services 78 0 0.0 50 64.1

Agricultural Scientist and Technician 58 1 1.7 47 81.0

Agricultural Economist 15 0 0.0 7 46.7

Lecturer 30 1 3.3 15 50.0

Total 265 2 0.8 182 68.7

3.5.	 EMPLOYMENT EQUITY

The information provided in this section depicts the department’s demographic composition by race, 
gender and disability, as required by the Employment Equity Act and the Department of Public Service 
and Administration.  Positions on our establishment require various academic qualifications such as a Senior 
Certificate, technical qualification or graduate and post-graduate degrees, as well as certain competency 
levels.

The Employment Equity Act states that in determining whether designated groups are equitably represented 
within an occupational category and level in an employer’s workforce a number of factors must be taken 
into account, including the pool of suitably qualified people from designated groups from which the 
employer may reasonably be expected to promote or appoint employees. 

The figures presented in this section do not take these factors into account and do not reflect the fact that 
the population statistics provided by the 2011 Census reveal that a very small percentage of the Western 
Cape population, which constitutes the pool of “suitably qualified people” from which the Western Cape 
Government can employ staff (as specified by the Employment Equity Act and Public Service Regulations), 
has tertiary qualifications. The department is continuing to invest in measures to broaden the pool of 
suitably qualified people who can compete for its employment opportunities to broaden its equitable 
representation in all occupational categories and levels in the workforce.
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Table 3.5.1:	 Total number of employees (including employees with disabilities) in each of the 
		  following occupational levels, as at 31 March 2013

Occupational Levels
Male Female Foreign 

Nationals
Total

A C I W A C I W Male Fe-
male

Top management (Levels 15-16) 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Senior management (Levels 13-14) 2 4 0 9 1 3 0 1 0 0 20

Professionally qualified and expe-
rienced specialists and mid-man-
agement (Levels 9-12)

20 19 0 100 12 14 2 34 0 0 201

Skilled technical and academi-
cally qualified workers, junior man-
agement, supervisors, foremen, 
and superintendents (Levels 6-8)

26 42 1 39 23 45 0 59 0 1 236

Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision- making (Levels 3-5)

16 151 0 7 35 94 1 17 0 0 321

Unskilled and defined deci-
sion-making (Levels 1-2)

16 102 0 0 6 38 0 0 0 0 162

Total 80 318 1 155 77 195 3 111 0 1 941

Temporary employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand total 80 318 1 155 77 195 3 111 0 1 941

A = African; C = Coloured; I = Indian; W = White.
Note:	 The figures reflected per occupational level include all permanent, part-time and contract employees. Furthermore the 
information is presented by salary level and not post level. For the number of employees with disabilities, refer to Table 3.5.2. 
Temporary employees refers to workers who are employed for three consecutive months or less.

Table 3.5.2:	 Total number of employees (with disabilities only) in each of the following 
		  occupational levels, as at 31 March 2013

Occupational Levels
Male Female Foreign Nation-

als
Total

A C I W A C I W Male Fe-
male

Top management (Levels 15-16) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior management (Levels 13-14) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professionally qualified and expe-
rienced specialists and mid-man-
agement (Levels 9-12)

0 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior manage-
ment, supervisors, foremen, and 
superintendents (Levels 6-8)

0 1 0 3 0 0 0 2 0 0 6

Semi-skilled and discretionary deci-
sion-making (Levels 3-5) 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 4

Unskilled and defined deci-
sion-making (Levels 1-2) 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 0 4 0 7 1 1 0 3 0 0 16

Temporary employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand total 0 4 0 7 1 1 0 3 0 0 16

A = African; C = Coloured; I = Indian; W = White.
Note:	 The figures reflected per occupational level include all permanent, part-time and contract employees. Furthermore, the 
information is presented by salary level and not post level.
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Table 3.5.3:	 Recruitment, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Occupational Levels
Male Female Foreign 

Nationals
Total

A C I W A C I W Male Female

Top management (Levels 15-16) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior management (Levels 13-14) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professionally qualified and expe-
rienced specialists and mid-man-
agement (Levels 9-12)

2 1 0 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 8

Skilled technical and academical-
ly qualified workers, junior man-
agement, supervisors, foremen, 
and superintendents (Levels 6-8)

5 1 0 1 3 5 0 5 0 0 20

Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision-making (Levels 3-5)

2 11 0 0 3 6 0 4 0 0 26

Unskilled and defined deci-
sion-making (Levels 1-2)

1 8 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 11

Total 10 21 0 3 6 13 0 12 0 0 65

Temporary employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand total 10 21 0 3 6 13 0 12 0 0 65

A = African; C = Coloured; I = Indian; W = White.
Note:  Recruitment refer to new employees, including transfers into the department, as per Table 3.4.1.

Table 3.5.4:	 Promotions, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Occupational Levels
Male Female Foreign 

Nationals
Total

A C I W A C I W Male Fe-
male

Top management (Levels 15-16) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior management (Levels 13-14) 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Professionally qualified and expe-
rienced specialists and mid-man-
agement (Levels 9-12)

0 0 0 3 0 0 0 1 0 0 4

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior manage-
ment, supervisors, foremen, and 
superintendents (Levels 6-8)

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Semi-skilled and discretionary deci-
sion-making (Levels 3-5)

0 3 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4

Unskilled and defined deci-
sion-making (Levels 1-2)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 4 0 4 0 1 0 1 0 0 10

Temporary employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand total 0 4 0 4 0 1 0 1 0 0 10

A = African; C = Coloured; I = Indian; W = White.
Note: 	 Promotions refer to the total number of employees promoted within the department, as per Table 3.4.7. 
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Table 3.5.5:	 Terminations, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Occupational Levels
Male Female Foreign 

Nationals
Total

A C I W A C I W Male Fe-
male

Top management (Levels 15-16) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior management 
(Levels 13-14) 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and 
mid-management (Levels 9-12)

1 0 0 7 2 0 0 4 0 0 14

Skilled technical and academ-
ically qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, 
foremen, and superintendents 
(Levels 6-8)

3 2 0 2 4 4 0 7 0 1 23

Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision-making (Levels 3-5) 2 9 0 0 3 6 0 0 0 0 20

Unskilled and defined deci-
sion-making (Levels 1-2) 1 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 6

Total 7 15 0 11 9 11 0 11 0 1 65

Temporary employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand total 7 15 0 11 9 11 0 11 0 1 65

A = African; C = Coloured; I = Indian; W = White.
Note: 	 Terminations refer to those employees who have left the employ of the department, including transfers to other departments, 
as per Table 3.4.1. 

Table 3.5.6:	 Disciplinary actions, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Disciplinary actions
Male Female Foreign Nationals

Total
A C I W A C I W Male Female

Final written warning 0 5 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 6

Suspension without pay 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

Dismissal/ desertion 0 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4

Case withdrawn 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

TOTAL 0 10 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 14

A = African; C = Coloured; I = Indian; W = White.
Note: 	 The disciplinary actions total refers to formal outcomes only and not headcount. For further information on the outcomes of 
the disciplinary hearings and types of misconduct addressed at disciplinary hearings, please refer to Table 3.12.2 and Table 3.12.3. 
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Table 3.5.7:	 Skills development, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Occupational Levels
Male Female

Total
A C I W A C I W

Top management
(Levels 15-16)

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Senior management
(Levels 13-14)

0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 3

Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and 
mid-management
(Levels 9-12)

6 4 0 14 0 1 0 13 38

Skilled technical and academ-
ically qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, 
foremen, and superintendents
(Levels 6-8)

21 10 0 31 14 16 1 26 119

Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision-making
(Levels 3-5)

22 36 1 6 41 49 0 12 167

Unskilled and defined deci-
sion-making
(Levels 1-2)

2 21 0 1 1 9 0 0 34

Total 51 71 1 54 57 76 1 51 362

Temporary employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand total 51 71 1 54 57 76 1 51 362

A = African; C = Coloured; I = Indian; W = White.
Note: 	 The above table refers to the total number of personnel who received training, and not the number of training courses 
attended by individuals. For further information on the actual training provided, please refer to Table 3.13.2. 

3.6.	 SIGNING OF PERFORMANCE AGREEMENTS BY SMS MEMBERS

Table 3.6.1: 	 Signing of performance agreements by SMS members, as at 31 May 2012

SMS Level

Number of 
funded SMS 

posts per level

Number of SMS 
members per 

level

Number of signed 
Performance 

Agreements per 
level

Signed Perfor-
mance Agree-

ments as % of SMS 
members per level

Director-General/ Head of Department 1 1 1 100

Salary level 16, but not HOD 0 0 0 0.0

Salary Level 15 0 0 0 0.0

Salary Level 14 4 5 5 100

Salary Level 13 11 12 12 100

Total 16 18 18 100

Note: 	 The allocation of performance-related rewards (cash bonus) for Senior Management Service members is dealt with later 
in the report. Please refer to Table 3.8.5. Two SMS members appointed on contract.
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Table 3.6.2: 	 Reasons for not having concluded performance agreements with all SMS members on 
		  31 May 2012

Reasons for not concluding performance agreements with all SMS members

Not applicable

Table 3.6.3: 	 Disciplinary steps taken against SMS members for not having concluded performance 	
		  agreements on 31 May 2012

Disciplinary steps taken against SMS members for not having concluded Performance Agreements

Not applicable

3.7.	 FILLING OF SMS POSTS

Table 3.7.1: 	 SMS posts information, as at 30 September 2012

SMS Level
Number of fund-

ed SMS posts 
per level

Number of SMS 
posts filled per 

level

% of SMS posts 
filled per level

Number of SMS 
posts vacant 

per level

% of SMS posts 
vacant per level

Director-General/ Head of De-
partment 1 1 100.00 0 0.00

Salary level 16, but not HOD 0 0 0.00 0 0.00

Salary Level 15 0 0 0.00 0 0.00

Salary Level 14 4 4 100.00 0 0.00

Salary Level 13 11 11 100.00 0 0.00

Total 16 16 100.00 0 0.00

Table 3.7.2: 	 SMS posts information, as at 31 March 2013

SMS Level
Number of fund-

ed SMS posts 
per level

Number of SMS 
posts filled per 

level

% of SMS posts 
filled per level

Number of SMS 
posts vacant 

per level

% of SMS posts 
vacant per level

Director-General/ Head of De-
partment 1 1 100.00 0 0.00

Salary level 16, but not HOD 0 0 0.00 0 0.00

Salary Level 15 1 0 0.00 1 100.00

Salary Level 14 6 5 83.33 1 16.67

Salary Level 13 14 10 71.43 4 28.57

Total 22 16 72.73 6 27.27
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Table 3.7.3: 	 Advertising and filling of SMS posts, as at 31 March 2013

SMS Level

Advertising Filling of Posts

Number of vacancies 
per level advertised 

within 6 months of post 
becoming vacant

Number of vacancies 
per level filled within 6 
months of post becom-

ing vacant

Number of vacancies 
per level not filled within 
6 months but filled within 

12 months

Director-General/ Head of Department 0 0 0

Salary level 16, but not HOD 0 0 0

Salary Level 15 0 0 0

Salary Level 14 0 0 0

Salary Level 13 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0

Table 3.7.4: 	 Reasons for not having complied with the filling of funded vacant SMS posts
		   – advertised within 6 months and filled within 12 months of post becoming vacant

SMS Level Reasons for non-compliance

Director-General/ Head of Department None

Salary level 16, but not HOD None

Salary Level 15 None

Salary Level 14 None

Salary Level 13 None

Table 3.7.5: 	 Disciplinary steps taken for not complying with the prescribed timeframes for filling 
		  SMS posts within 12 months

Disciplinary steps taken for not complying with the prescribed timeframes for filling SMS posts within 12 months 

Not required

3.8.	 EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE 

Table 3.8.1:	 Notch progressions by salary band, 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

Salary Band Employees as at
31 March 2012

Progressions to another 
notch within a salary level

Notch progressions as a % of 
employees by salary band

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 161 112 69.6

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 316 268 84.8

Highly skilled production
(Levels 6-8)

249 167 67.1

Highly skilled supervision
(Levels 9-12)

203 128 63.1

Senior management
(Levels 13-16) 

22 12 54.5

Total 951 687 72.2
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Table 3.8.2:	 Notch progressions by critical occupation, 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

Critical Occupations Employees as at
31 March 2012

Progressions to another 
notch within a salary level

Notch progressions as a % of 
employees by salary band

Agricultural Engineer 23 17 0.0

Agricultural Advisor 61 46 0.0

Veterinary Services 78 50 0.0

Agricultural Scientist and 
Technician

58 47 1.7

Agricultural Economist 15 7 0.0

Lecturer 30 15 3.3

Project Manager 0 0 0.0

Total 265 182 68.7

To encourage good performance, the department has granted the following performance rewards 
allocated to personnel for the performance period 2011/12, but paid in the financial year 2012/13. The 
information is presented in terms of race, gender and disability (Table 3.8.3), salary bands (Table 3.8.4 
and Table 3.8.5) and critical occupations (Table 3.8.6).

Table 3.8.3:	 Performance rewards by race, gender, and disability, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Race and Gender

Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of bene-
ficiaries

Total number of 
employees in 
group as at  

31 March 2012

% of total within 
group

Cost
(R’000)

Average cost 
per beneficiary

African 27 161 16.8 268 9 912

Male 13 79 16.5 113 8 661

Female 14 82 17.1 155 11 073

Coloured 132 502 26.3 1 093 8 279

Male 81 310 26.1 499 6 158

Female 51 192 26.6 594 11 648

Indian 0 4 0.0 0 0

Male 0 1 0.0 0 0

Female 0 3 0.0 0 0

White 94 267 35.2 1 935 20 593

Male 53 157 33.8 1 304 24 613

Female 41 110 37.3 631 15 395

Employees with a disabil-
ity

2 17 11.8 38 18 786

Total 255 951 26.8 3 334 13 073

Note:	 The above table relates to performance rewards for the performance year 2011/12 with payment effected in the 
2012/13 reporting period.
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Table 3.8.4:	 Performance rewards by salary bands for personnel below Senior Management  
		  Service level, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Salary Bands

Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of 
beneficia-

ries

Total number of 
employees in 
group as at 31 

March 2012

% of total 
within sal-
ary bands

Cost
(R’000)

Average 
cost per 

beneficiary
(R)

Cost as a % 
of the total 
personnel 

expenditure

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 40 161 24.8 153 3 823 0.1

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 82 316 25.9 496 6 047 0.2

Highly skilled production (Levels 
6-8)

68 249 27.3 886 13 032 0.4

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 
9-12)

62 203 30.5 1 575 25 409 0.7

Total 252 929 27.1 3 110 12 343 1.4

Note: The cost is calculated as a percentage of the total personnel expenditure for salary levels 1-12, reflected in Table 3.1.2.

Table 3.8.5:	 Performance rewards (cash bonus), by salary band, for Senior Management 
		  Service level, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Salary Bands

Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of 
beneficia-

ries

Total number 
of employ-

ees in group 
as at 31 

March 2012

% of total 
within salary 

bands

Cost
(R’000)

Average cost 
per benefi-

ciary
(R)

Cost as a % 
of the total 
personnel 

expenditure

Senior Management
Service Band A (Level 13)

1 15 6.7 46 45 599 0.2

Senior Management
Service Band B (Level 14)

2 6 33.3 178 88 877 0.9

Senior Management
Service Band C (Level15)

0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0

Senior Management
Service Band D (Level 16)

0 1 0.0 0 0 0.0

Total 3 22 13.6 224 74 451 1.1

Note: 	 The cost is calculated as a percentage of the total personnel expenditure for salary levels 13 -16, reflected in Table 3.1.2.
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Table 3.8.6:	 Performance rewards by critical occupations, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Critical Occupation

Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of 
beneficia-

ries

Total number of 
employees in 
group as at 31 

March 2012

% of total 
within sal-
ary bands

Cost
(R’000)

Average 
cost per 

beneficiary
(R)

Cost as a % of 
total person-
nel expendi-

ture

Agricultural Engineer 6 23 26.1 167 27 775 0.1

Agricultural Advisor 12 61 19.7 189 15 738 0.1

Veterinary Services 21 78 26.9 488 23 230 0.2

Agricultural Scientist and Tech-
nician

20 58 34.5 545 27 248 0.2

Agricultural Economist 5 15 33.3 81 16 244 0.0

Lecturer 16 30 53.3 178 11 139 0.1

Project Manager 0 0 0.0 0 0 0.0

Total 80 265 30.2 1648 20 597 0.7

3.9.	 FOREIGN WORKERS

The tables below summarise the employment of foreign nationals in the department in terms of salary 
bands and by major occupation. The tables also summarise changes in the total number of foreign workers 
in each salary band and by each major occupation.

Table 3.9.1:	 Foreign workers by salary band, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Salary Band
1 April 2012 31 March 2013 Change

Number % of total Number % of total Number % change

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 0 0.0 1 100.0 1 100.0

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12) 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

 Senior management (Levels 13-16) 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0

Total 0 0.0 1 100.0 1 100.0

Note: 	 The table above excludes non-citizens with permanent residence in the Republic of South Africa.

Table 3.9.2:	 Foreign workers by major occupation, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Major Occupation
1 April 2012 31 March 2013 Change

Number % of total Number % of total Number % change

Lecturer 0 0.0 1 100.0 1 100.0

Total 0 0.0 1 100.0 1 100.0

Note:	  The table above excludes non-citizens with permanent residence in the Republic of South Africa.
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3.10.	LEAVE UTILISATION FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2012 TO 31 DECEMBER 2012

The Public Service Commission identified the need for careful monitoring of sick leave within the Public 
Service. The following tables provide an indication of the use of sick leave (Table 3.10.1) and incapacity 
leave (Table 3.10.2). In both cases, the estimated cost of the leave is also provided.

Table 3.10.1:	Sick leave, 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012

Salary Band

Total 
days

% days with 
medical 
certifica-

tion

Number of 
employ-
ees using 
sick leave

Total 
number of 
employ-

ees

% of total 
employ-
ees using 
sick leave

Average 
days per 

employee

Estimated 
cost 

(R’000)

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 937 82.9 129 168 76.8 7 252

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 1 522 83.0 232 338 68.6 7 592

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 1 031 79.7 161 258 62.4 6 772

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12) 605 81.5 112 219 51.1 5 712

Senior management (Levels 13-16) 75 93.3 13 23 56.5 6 184

Total 4 170 82.2 647 1 006 64.3 6 2 512

Note: 	 The three-year sick leave cycle started in January 2010. The information in each case reflects the totals excluding 
incapacity leave taken by employees. For an indication of incapacity leave taken, please refer to Table 3.10.2.

Table 3.10.2:	Incapacity leave, 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012

Salary Band

Total 
days

% days 
with medi-
cal certifi-

cation

Number of 
employ-
ees using 

incapacity 
leave

Total 
number of 
employ-

ees

% of total 
employ-
ees using 
incapaci-
ty leave

Average 
days per 

employee

Estimated 
cost 

(R’000)

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 59 100.0 10 168 6.0 6 15

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 145 100.0 13 338 3.8 11 61

Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 161 100.0 11 258 4.3 15 106

Highly skilled supervision
(Levels 9-12) 163 100.0 8 219 3.7 20 161

Senior management 
(Levels 13-16) 6 100.0 1 23 4.3 6 15

Total 534 100.0 43 1 006 4.3 12 358

Note: 	 The leave dispensation as determined in the “Leave Determination”, read with the applicable collective agreements, 
provides for normal sick leave of 36 working days in a sick leave cycle of three years. If an employee has exhausted his or her 
normal sick leave, the employer must conduct an investigation into the nature and extent of the employee’s incapacity. Such 
investigations must be carried out in accordance with item 10(1) of Schedule 8 of the Labour Relations Act (LRA).

Incapacity leave is not an unlimited amount of additional sick leave days at an employee’s disposal. Incapacity leave is 
additional sick leave granted conditionally at the employer’s discretion, as provided for in the Leave Determination and Policy 
and Procedure on Incapacity Leave and Ill-Health Retirement (PILIR).
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Table 3.10.3 summarises the utilisation of annual leave. The wage agreement concluded with trade unions 
in the Public Service Commission Bargaining Chamber (PSCBC) in 2000 requires management of annual 
leave to prevent high levels of accrued leave having to be paid at the time of termination of service.

Table 3.10.3:	Annual Leave, 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012

Salary Band Total days taken Total number of employ-
ees using annual leave

Average days per employee

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 3 615 170 21

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 7 206 325 22

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 5 329 255 21

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12) 4 661 214 22

 Senior management
(Levels 13-16) 532 23 23

Total 21 343 987 22

Table 3.10.4:	Capped leave, 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012

Salary Band

Total capped 
leave avail-

able
as at

31 Dec 2011

Total 
days of 
capped 

leave 
taken

Number of 
employ-
ees using 
capped 

leave

Average 
number 
of days 

taken per 
employee

Number of 
employees 

with capped 
leave as at
31 Dec 2012

Total capped 
leave avail-

able
as at

31 Dec 2012

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 541 2 1 2 36 523

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 4 287 35 11 3 127 3 767

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 2 982 28 4 7 70 2 608

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12) 4 741 3 2 2 91 4 397

 Senior management (Levels 13-16) 994 1 1 1 12 990

Total 13 545 69 19 4 336 12 285

Table 3.10.5 summarises payments made to employees as a result of leave that was not taken.

Table 3.10.5:	Leave pay-outs, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Reason
Total 

Amount 
(R’000)

Number of 
employ-

ees

Average payment 
per employee

Leave pay-outs for 2012/13 due to non-utilisation of leave for the previous 
cycle

60 2 29 868

Capped leave pay-outs on termination of service for 2012/13 500 7 71 445

Current leave pay-outs on termination of service 2012/13 46 7 6 612

Total 606 16 37 883
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3.11.	HIV AND AIDS & HEALTH PROMOTION PROGRAMMES

Table 3.11.1:	Steps taken to reduce the risk of occupational exposure, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Units/categories of employees identified to be at high 
risk of contracting HIV & related diseases (if any)

Key steps taken to reduce the risk

The nature of the department’s work does not expose 
employees to increased risk of contracting HIV/AIDS. 
Despite the very low occupational risk, all employees 
have been targeted at all levels within the Department.

HIV/AIDS Counselling and Testing [HCT] and Wellness screenings 
were delivered in general. The outsourced health and wellness con-
tract (employee health and wellness programme [EHWP]) provides 
employees and their immediate family members [this means the 
spouse or partner of an employee or children living with an employ-
ee] with a range of services. These services include the following: 
	 24/7/365 telephone counselling 
	 Face to face counselling (6 + 2 session model)
	 Trauma and critical incident counseling
	 Training, coaching and targeted Interventions where these 

were required.

Table 3.11.2:	Details of health promotion and HIV and AIDS programmes, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Question Yes No Details, if yes

1. Has the department des-
ignated a member of the 
SMS to implement the pro-
visions contained in Part VI 
E of Chapter 1 of the Public 
Service Regulations, 2001? If 
so, provide her/his name and 
position.

√
Due to the corporatisation of the employee health and wellness function, the Acting 
Director: Organisational Behaviour, Denver Heynes (Department of the Premier), fulfilled 
this role. 

2. Does the department have 
a dedicated unit or has it des-
ignated specific staff mem-
bers to promote the health 
and wellbeing of employees? 
If so, indicate the number of 
employees who are involved 
in this task and the annual 
budget that is available for 
this purpose. 

√

The Corporate Services Centre (CSC) within the Department of the Premier provides a 
transversal service to eleven (11) participating departments, including the Department of 
Agriculture.
A designated employee health and wellness unit within the Directorate: Organisational 
Behaviour and the Chief Directorate: Organisation Development serves to promote the 
health and wellbeing of employees in the eleven (11) departments.
The unit consists of a deputy director, three (3) assistant directors, four (4) team members 
and one (1) intern (who has since left the Directorate: Organisational Behaviour in the 
fourth quarter to further her studies.)
Budget : R2,5m

3. Has the department intro-
duced an employee assis-
tance or health promotion 
programme for employees? If 
so, indicate the key elements/
services of this Programme. 

√

The department has entered into a service level agreement with ICAS [service provider] to 
render an employee health and wellness service to the eleven departments serviced by 
the Corporate Services Centre [CSC].
The department conducted interventions, namely managerial induction, employee 
induction, stress management, abuse and sexual health awareness, work-life balance, 
employee advocacy awareness, personal finance, managerial referral, substance abuse, 
financial wellbeing and coaching for employees. These interventions were planned 
based on the trends reported quarterly through the EHWP reports provided by the service 
provider, ICAS, for the period 2012/13.  The reports were based on the utilisation of the 
EHW services and management information in order to target appropriate interventions 
to address these trends. 
The targeted interventions were aimed at improving employee engagement through 
awareness and educational interventions that promote healthy lifestyles and coping 
skills. This involves presentations to create awareness and encourage employees to 
have a proactive approach to limit the impact of these problems in the workplace. The 
above-mentioned interventions were conducted for the targeted departments, including 
managers and supervisors.
The department also provided information sessions, as requested by various departments 
in the WCG, to inform employees of the EHW service and how to access the EHWP. 
Promotional material such as pamphlets, posters and brochures were distributed.
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Question Yes No Details, if yes

4. Has the department es-
tablished (a) committee(s) as 
contemplated in Part VI E.5 
(e) of Chapter 1 of the Public 
Service Regulations, 2001? If 
so, please provide the names 
of the members of the com-
mittee and the stakeholder(s) 
that they represent. 

√

A new health and wellness steering committee has been established with members 
nominated by each department. 
Committee members are:
	 Agriculture: JH Jordaan 

5. Has the department re-
viewed its employment poli-
cies and practices to ensure 
that these do not unfairly 
discriminate against employ-
ees on the basis of their HIV 
status? If so, list the employ-
ment policies/practices so 
reviewed. 

√

The transversal management framework for employee health and wellness programmes 
in the Western Cape Government is in effect and was adopted by the Co-ordinating 
Chamber of the PSCBC for the Western Cape province on 10 August 2005.
The DPSA developed several national policy documents in 2007/8 that govern employee 
health and wellness in the Public Service and that co-ordinate the programmes and 
services in a uniform manner. 
In this regard, all employment policies make provision for fair practices, regardless of the 
HIV status of staff or applicants. 
During the period under review, the Department of the Premier developed a transversal 
employee health and wellness policy. The draft document is being consulted on for 
ratification.
Further to this, the Department of Health has approved the Transversal Framework Policy 
on HIV and AIDS/STIs that will be applicable to all departments of the Western Cape 
Government. The document is in line with the four pillars of the EHW Strategic Framework 
2008.

6. Has the department in-
troduced measures to pro-
tect HIV-positive employees 
or those perceived to be 
HIV-positive from discrimina-
tion? If so, list the key elements 
of these measures. 

√

The department has implemented existing legislative and policy frameworks as well as 
monitoring and evaluation guidelines, which have been developed by the DPSA. The 
overarching aim of these frameworks is to protect HIV-positive employees by advocating 
the implementation of the Three Zeros in line with the Joint United Nations Programme 
on HIV & AIDS (UNAIDS). These are educational programmes and information sessions 
developed to eradicate stigma and discrimination as well as to raise awareness through:
	 Zero new HIV, STI and TB infections 
	 Zero deaths associated with HIV and TB
	 Zero discrimination 

The department, through the CSC, is conducting the HCT and Wellness screenings to 
ensure that every employee in the departments of the Western Cape Government is 
tested for HIV and screened for TB, at least annually, 
The aim is to:
	 Reduce HIV and TB discrimination in the workplace. This included campaigns against 	

	 unfair discrimination and empowerment of employees.
	 Reduce unfair discrimination in access to services. This included ensuring that the 	

	 Employee Relations Directorate addresses complaints or grievances and provides 	
	 training to employees.
Other key elements that addressed HIV/AIDS discrimination issues were the following: 
wellness screenings and TB testing sessions, on request of departments were conducted, 
posters and pamphlets were distributed, HIV/AIDS counselling [HCT] and TB testing were 
conducted, condom programmes and spot talks, including the HIV/AIDS Speak Out 
programme, were conducted as well.  

7. Does the department en-
courage its employees to 
undergo voluntary counsel-
ling and testing (VCT)? If so, 
list the results that you have 
achieved. 

√

HCT SESSIONS 
The following screening sessions were conducted:
Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, TB, BMI [body mass index] and spot talks. 

	 The Department of Agriculture participated in 20
	 HCT and Wellness screenings.
	 193 Employees were tested and counselled for HIV, tuberculosis and sexually transmitted  

	 infections (STIs). 
	 There were 4 clinical referrals for TB, HIV or any other STIs.

8. Has the department devel-
oped measures/indicators to 
monitor & evaluate the im-
pact of its health promotion 
programme? If so, list these 
measures/indicators.

√

The impact of health promotion programmes is indicated through information provided 
through the employee health and wellness contract with an external EAP service provider.
The EHWP is monitored through quarterly and annual reporting. This reporting is provided 
by the external service provider. The most recent annual health review period was 1 April 
2012 – 31 March 2013.
The quarterly and annual reviews provide a breakdown of the EHWP human capital 
demographic i.e. age, gender, length of service, dependent utilisation, language 
utilisation, employee vs. manager utilisation, and number of cases.
The reviews further provide, amongst others, information on service utilisation, problem 
profiling and trending, assessment of employee and organisational risk and the impact 
thereof on individual functioning in the workplace.
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3.12.	 LABOUR RELATIONS

The following collective agreements were entered into with trade unions within the department. 

Table 3.12.1:	The department did not enter into collective agreements with any trade unions in 
		  the period under review. 

Total collective agreements None

Table 3.12.2 summarises the outcome of disciplinary hearings conducted within the department for the 
year under review.

Table 3.12.2:	Misconduct and disciplinary hearings finalised, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Outcomes of disciplinary hearings Number % of total

Correctional counselling 0 0.0

Verbal warning 0 0.0

Written warning 0 0.0

Final written warning 6 42.9

Suspension without pay 3 21.4

Fine 0 0.0

Demotion 0 0.0

Dismissal/desertion 4 28.6

Not guilty 0 0.0

Case withdrawn 1 7.1

Total 14 100.0

Percentage of total employment 1.1

Note: 	 Outcomes of disciplinary hearings refer to formal cases only.
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Table 3.12.3:	Types of misconduct addressed at disciplinary hearings, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Type of misconduct Number % of total

Unauthorised absence 8 50.0

Unbecoming conduct 1 6.3

Failing to obey a lawful instruction 1 6.3

Absconding 1 6.3

Theft 2 12.5

Misuse of GG vehicle 1 6.3

Victimisation 1 6.3

Dishonesty 1 6.3

Total 16 100.0

Table 3.12.4:	Grievances lodged, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Grievances lodged Number % of total

Number of grievances resolved 12 38.7

Number of grievances not resolved 19 61.3

Total number of grievances lodged 31 100.0

Note: 	 Grievances lodged refer to cases that were finalised within the reporting period. Grievances not resolved refers to 
cases finalised, but where the outcome was not in favour of the aggrieved and found to be unsubstantiated.

Table 3.12.5:	Disputes lodged with councils, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Disputes lodged with councils Number % of total

Number of disputes upheld 2 66.7

Number of disputes dismissed 1 33.3

Total number of disputes lodged 3 100.0

Note: Councils refer to the Public Service Co-ordinating Bargaining Council (PSCBC) and General Public Service Sector 
Bargaining Council (GPSSBC).

Table 3.12.6:	Strike action, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Incidents of strike action Number

Total number of person working days lost 0

Total cost (R’000) of working days lost 0

Amount (R’000) recovered as a result of “no work, no pay” 0
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Table 3.12.7:	Precautionary suspensions, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Precautionary suspensions Number

Number of people suspended 0

Number of people whose suspension exceeded 30 days 0

Average number of days suspended 0

Cost (R’000) of suspensions 0

Note: 	 Precautionary suspensions refer to staff being suspended with pay whilst the case is being investigated.

3.13.	SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

This section highlights the efforts of the department with regard to skills development. Table 3.13.1 reflects the 
training needs as at the beginning of the period under review, and Table 3.13.2 the actual training provided. 

Table 3.13.1:	Training needs identified, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Occupational
 Categories Gender

Number of em-
ployees as at 1 

April 2012

Training needs identified at start of reporting period

Learnerships
Skills programmes 

& other short 
courses

Other forms 
of training Total

Legislators, senior officials 
and managers

Female 7 0 17 0 17

Male 11 0 19 0 19

Professionals
Female 80 0 41 0 41

Male 127 0 132 0 132

Technicians and associate 
professionals

Female 83 0 47 0 47

Male 136 0 78 0 78

Clerks 
Female 148 0 119 0 119

Male 40 0 11 0 11

Service and sales workers
Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled agriculture and 
fishery workers

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 0 0 0 0 0

Craft and related trades 
workers

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 8 0 4 0 4

Plant and machine opera-
tors and assemblers

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 36 0 15 0 15

Elementary occupations
Female 64 0 25 0 25

Male 184 0 27 0 27

Sub Total
Female 388 0 249 0 249

Male 553 0 286 0 286

Total 941 0 535 0 535

Employees with disabilities
Female 6 0 0 0 0

Male 11 0 0 0 0

Note: 	 The above table identifies the training needs at the start of the reporting period as per the department’s workplace  
skills plan.
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Table 3.13.2:	Training provided, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Occupational
 Categories Gender Number of employees 

as at 31 March 2013

Training provided within the reporting period

Learnerships Skills programmes 
& other short 

courses

Other 
forms of 
training

Total

Legislators, senior offi-
cials and managers

Female 6 0 5 0 5

Male 11 0 2 0 2

Professionals
Female 83 0 65 0 65

Male 117 0 84 0 84

Technicians and associ-
ate professionals

Female 83 0 65 0 65

Male 147 0 82 0 82

Clerks 
Female 143 0 358 0 358

Male 40 0 194 0 194

Service and sales 
workers

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled agriculture and 
fishery workers

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 0 0 0 0 0

Craft and related trades 
workers

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 12 0 0 0 0

Plant and machine op-
erators and assemblers

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 36 0 0 0 0

Elementary occupations
Female 67 0 18 0 18

Male 180 0 27 0 27

Sub Total
Female 387 0 511 0 511

Male 554 0 389 0 389

Total 941 0 900 0 900

Employees with disabil-
ities

Female 5 0 0 0 0

Male 11 0 0 0 0

Note: 	 The above table identifies the number of training courses attended by individuals during the period under review.
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3.14.	INJURY ON DUTY

Table 3.14.1 provides basic information on injury on duty.

Table 3.14.1:	Injury on duty, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Severity of injury on duty Number % of total

Required basic medical attention only 20 22.7

Temporary disablement 50 56.8

Permanent disablement 9 10.2

Fatal 9 10.2

Total 88 100.0

Percentage of total employment 7.1

3.15.	UTILISATION OF CONSULTANTS

Table 3.15.1: 	Report on consultant appointments using appropriated funds, 
		  1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Project Title Total number of consultants that worked 
on the project

Duration:
work days Contract value in rand

None

Total number of projects Total individual consultants Total duration:
work days Total contract value in rand

None

Table 3.15.2:	Analysis of consultant appointments using appropriated funds, in terms of historically 	
		  disadvantaged individuals (HDIs), 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Project Title Percentage ownership by 
HDI groups

Percentage management 
by HDI groups

Number of consultants from HDI 
groups that worked on the project

None

Table 3.15.3:	Report on consultant appointments using Donor funds, 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Project Title Total number of consultants that worked 
on the project

Duration:
work days Donor and contract value in rand

None

Total number of projects Total individual consultants Total duration:
work days Total contract value in rand

None

Table 3.15.4:	Analysis of consultant appointments using Donor funds, in terms of historically 		
		  disadvantaged individuals (HDIs), 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Project Title Percentage ownership 
by HDI groups

Percentage management 
by HDI groups

Number of consultants from HDI 
groups that worked on the project

None
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Report by the Accounting Officer to the Executive Authority and the Provincial Legislature of 
the Western Cape.

1.	 General review of the state of financial affairs

The Spatial Planning and Land Use Management Bill (SPLUMB) and the Western Cape Land Use Planning 
Bill (LUPB), that will replace the Land Use Management Ordinance, are still under discussion and in various 
stages of the legislative process. At the same time the Subdivision of Agricultural Land Act, Act 70 of 1970, is 
being revamped by the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF) to accommodate recent 
developments and policy changes. Only after these pieces of legislation become new Acts can the 
impact on the service delivery of the Department in terms of the subdivision and/or rezoning of agricultural 
land be determined.

The clearing of alien vegetation along the banks of the Berg River is a work in progress and has already 
demonstrated great value in promoting the green economy strategy approved by Cabinet of adding 
financial value to alien biomass, which could result in the beginning of the end of one of the greatest 
threats to biodiversity in South Africa, namely alien plant infestation. The ultimate aim of this project is to 
restore the most important river system in the Cape Town metropole area to a healthy river system that will 
promote human wellbeing. To remove the alien vegetation and replace this with indigenous vegetation 
would cost the government approximately R300 million. This project is therefore aimed at creating a value 
for the biomass and thereby adding value, and reducing the problem. This value would then partially or 
even totally fund the restoration of the river system and the biomass could be used to enhance energy 
production, further aiding in future sustainability.

The FruitLook real-time web application, through which irrigators are provided with updated information on 
the actual water use of their crops and 7 other growth parameters on a weekly basis, was continued and 
provided the data to all fruit crop orchards and vineyards in the area covered by the satellite image. The 
FruitLook project runs annually from 1 October to the end of the irrigation season on 30 April. Three hundred 
and eleven (311) farmers and/or advisors are currently registered on the web portal to obtain the weekly 
information and during the 2012/13 irrigation season 3 205 visits to the web portal were recorded, with 996 
visits from outside the borders of our country.
	
DAFF embarked on a process of developing an extension policy for South Africa. To this end, a provincial 
workshop was held with internal and external stakeholders on 2 October 2012 to solicit information and 
assess the extension environment. It is expected that the policy will provide a framework on how the 
extension service is to be delivered in future.

The department commemorated the World Food Day event on 12 October 2012 in Bella Vista, Witzenberg 
municipality, which is one of the identified rural development nodes. As part of the celebration, the 
department supported households with food production packages (suitcase) to enable own food 
production. 

The department held its third extension and advisory services symposium from 18 – 20 July 2012. The event 
was aimed at creating a platform for information sharing and integrated service delivery amongst all 
extension officials across all programmes within the department. This symposium also allows the department 
to recognise individuals and groups executing excellent work.

The Programme: Veterinary Services (VS) suffered a second year with severe capacity constraints that were 
brought about by the sudden transfer of all veterinary export certification from the DAFF to the programme 
in the province (February 2011). This transfer of function was unfortunately not accompanied by a transfer 
in either funds or personnel and caused a sudden and severe personnel constraint in the programme.  
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A policy option was prepared and submitted to create the required capacity.

Recent scientific research performed by various local scientists on accurate and reliable meat 
labelling led to heightened consumer awareness and interest in the safety of meat produced and 
offered to the consumer. Officials of the Veterinary Public Health (VPH) sub-programme experienced 
many enquiries with regard to regulatory compliance and the safety of meat products. Against this 
background it is of the utmost importance that three major developments in the VPH field of work, that 
should all enhance the overall safety of meat supply, be implemented as soon as possible. These three 
developments were published as draft documents in the Government Gazette: 
	
1.	 Game scheme: This scheme aims to regulate the supply of all game meat for consumption by 

the public. In short, it will entail that current slaughter facilities on numerous game farms in the 
province will have to be evaluated and issued with a registration certificate based on the level of 
compliance. Besides registering these facilities, depending on the model chosen, as referred to in 
point 2 below, meat inspection services, provided by government officials, might also be needed 
at these facilities. Currently vast amounts of game meat are being harvested in the province 
in an unregulated manner, with no regulatory control at the point of harvesting. Eviscerated 
carcasses are often slaughtered and processed illegally at butcheries, creating a troublesome 
regulatory burden on officials of local authorities.

2.	 Implementation of independent meat inspection (IMI) at all abattoirs: This aspect is seen as a 
very positive development in line with international meat safety assurance principles, in an effort 
to provide the consumer with safe meat. Depending on the final model chosen by the national 
Minister of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, this could increase the workload and responsibility 
of the VPH sub-programme significantly, by adding to the responsibility for performing meat 
inspection at infrequently slaughtering, low throughput and rural abattoirs, throughout the 
province.

3.	 NARS scheme: The aim of this scheme is to establish a uniform rating system for all abattoirs in the 
country by means of four Hygiene Assessment System (HAS) audits for each abattoir per year. 
The current organisational structure and human resource capacity within the sub-programme 
VPH, coupled with existing performance indicators as well as potential additional performance 
requirements as mentioned in points 1 and 2, where service delivery is required over such a wide 
geographical area, require urgent attention.

A successful mass sterilisation campaign was launched in Khayamandi. A holistic and multi-stakeholder 
approach was employed. As a result more than 80% of the targeted dog and cat population was 
vaccinated for rabies and sterilised. The initial target was to reach at least 70% of the existing population. 
Lessons learned made it possible to conduct a similar campaign in Klapmuts with corresponding success. 
Future campaigns are planned in a different municipality.

The New Growth Path and National Development Plan have placed major emphasis on agriculture 
and agro-processing as the sectors to maintain existing and create new jobs. There is no doubt that 
these will exert some pressure on the department. In international trade, geographical indications (GIs) 
might play a key role in negotiations with the European Union (EU). South Africa, especially the Western 
Cape province, needs to take a proactive stance on this. However, capacity will have to be created 
to support the industries in this endeavour. International economic realities changed irrevocably and 
this had a serious impact on the agricultural sector of the province with its large exposure to the 
international export markets. The fact that the province is the highest contributor to the country’s 
agricultural exports necessitates a new way of doing so that the province can improve and sustain 
its export contribution. Hence, the department focused its support to the sector on diversification 
activities to new markets and activities aimed at sustaining existing markets. 
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The department facilitated the participation of agricultural businesses in five international promotional 
events aimed at opening up new markets in Africa and China while also maintaining the existing 
ones. These included the Yantai International Wine Festival, which provided a platform to 18 South 
African wine companies to showcase their products in China. Two additional linked events included 
the Yantai and Beijing tastings, the latter of which was attended by more than 300 delegates from 
the wine trade and media. Other events included the Grand Tasting in Nigeria and Cape Wine in 
Cape Town where seven BEE wineries were supported to participate. Five smallholder farmers were 
supported to attend the Fruit Logistica exhibition in Germany and to visit various importers in Sweden. 
The department, through its Programme: Agricultural Economics Services (AES), hosted the annual 
BFAP baseline launch and this event is a highlight on the sector’s calendar in the province. 

The market access programme is one of the major projects of the department. As a result, about 70 
agribusinesses have been supported towards accessing both domestic and international markets. 
More support is also offered through the SimFini project that offers comprehensive support to land 
reform beneficiaries on financial record keeping. One of the major projects that the department runs in 
collaboration with Wesgro, the Agribusiness Investment Unit, has attracted investment worth R172.2 million 
for the sector despite the economic challenges facing various countries worldwide.

A process has been initiated by DAFF to develop a Green Paper on Agricultural Education and Training 
Institutes. A status report from DAFF is awaited. The implementation of the Norms and Standards 
for Agricultural Training Institutes of South Africa framework will have profound implications for the 
functioning of the Elsenburg Agricultural Training Institute, especially with regard to governance 
structure, training offerings, and qualifications of staff, accreditation and staff remuneration. 

The Programme: Structured Agricultural Education and Training (SAET) continued to offer training 
programmes on NQF levels 1 to 7 to all clients of the department. Skills and structured learnership programmes 
were offered to a vast number of beneficiaries in the province. The Programme: SAET was commended 
by the AgriSETA on the high standard of quality management, norms and standards achieved with the 
learnership training programme.

In terms of creating access to higher learning programmes, 7 FET learners were successfully articulated to 
the higher education stream, with 1 learner admitted to the B. Agric programme and 6 learners accepted 
to the Higher Certificate programme. 

The development of a framework document for future campus development of the Elsenburg 
Agricultural Training Institute, initiated in 2012, will be concluded. This will pave the way for further 
detailed planning to ensure a coherent and structured approach to future expansion of training 
facilities at Elsenburg. 

In 2012 a significant investment was made in improving safety and security at the main campus of the 
Elsenburg Agricultural Training Institute, i.e. training facilities were fully fenced and solar street lighting installed. 
Energy efficiency was further enhanced through installation of heat pumps in hostels and student houses. 
In addition, the Old Post Office building at Elsenburg and training facilities at the Outeniqua decentralised 
training centre were upgraded. Facilities at the equine school, training administration building and student 
houses will be upgraded.

The Programme: Rural Development Co-ordination (RDC) continues to co-ordinate the Department 
of Rural Development and Land Reform’s Comprehensive Rural Development Programme (CRDP), 
bringing the number of activated rural development nodes to 12. A target to activate 15 rural 
development nodes by 2014 was captured at the outset of the RDC Programme in 2010; however, 
the approach to the expansion of the CRDP will require careful consideration in terms of provision of 
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further comprehensive support to already activated nodes versus expansion to activate additional nodes. 

The agricultural sector has faced a challenging year, with the farm worker protest actions highlighting 
the need to take a holistic approach to address challenges faced by farm workers and rural 
communities. In response, the Department of Labour published a minimum wage determination for 
the agricultural sector and major structural changes are expected to take place.

The sector is currently experiencing significant structural changes and all relevant stakeholders from all 
three spheres of government, farm worker unions and organisations, religious institutions and farmers 
need to collaborate to seek the necessary solutions. The department crafted an Agricultural Rural 
Response Plan to address some key issues in rural areas for implementation in the next financial year, 
2013/14, and beyond. Further details on specific interventions will be reported on as the plans unfold. 

Some of these interventions include a long-term initiative to secure long-term stability in the sector 
through broad consultation and development initiatives. This process, called the Future of Agriculture 
and the Rural Economy (FARE), is an attempt to ensure that a broad range of stakeholders engage on 
the future of agriculture and the rural economy. 

The Western Cape Farm Worker of the Year Competition was very successful and concluded with a gala 
function at the Cape Town Convention Centre on 9 November 2012. The competition, including the 
prestigious function, is one of the department’s flagship events and is regarded as an important process to 
give recognition to farm workers and highlight the important work farm workers do in the sector. 

With reference to spending trends the following needs to be emphasised:

The amount under-spent - R4.741 million or 0.85% of the adjusted budget - is well within the national 
benchmark of 2%.

However, further investigation reveals the following:

Equitable share unspent amounts to R4.656 million or 0.83% of the adjusted budget, which compares even 
more favourably with the national benchmark. Of this amount, R1 million is treated as a compulsory saving 
to be transferred to the Department of Environmental Affairs and Development Planning (DEADP) in 2014 
for an abridged report on the compilation of an environmental management framework for the Sandveld. 
The balance of R3.656 million is funds relating to assets and liabilities that have not been transacted against 
an expenditure or revenue item, but influenced cash available.
 
This department under-spent on the Comprehensive Agricultural Support Programme by R86 000 due to an 
actual cost being lower than the initial estimate.

As the above was an over-estimation of expenditure no negative impact was reported.

Virements were done to relieve unforeseen cost pressures caused by higher than expected price increases, 
as well as unforeseen commitments through the reprioritisation of the available budget, like increased 
pressure to increase the roll-out of food gardens due to the current economic situation and the impact 
thereof on the vulnerable.

Virements were made from Programme 1(R1.363 million), Programme 2 (R392  000) and Programme 8 
(R190 000) to Programme 3 (R1.945 million). In all cases the virements were approved by the Accounting 
Officer in terms of section 43 (1) of the PFMA and the virements were kept within the 8% limitation in terms 
of section 43 (2) of the PFMA.
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No unauthorised expenditure has been incurred.

For 2012/13 four cases of irregular expenditure, one regarding the absence of a tax clearance certificate 
for transactions in excess of R30 000, and three regarding fewer than three quotations, were found in the 
current year. However, after investigation none were found to have caused any losses to the department 
and the cases were on that basis, approved by the Accounting Officer. The total amount of these 
transactions is R1.488 million. Five cases amounting to R50 000 were found where BBBEE prescripts were not 
adhered to in the procurement process. 

With regard to cellular phone contracts, irregular expenditure in the amount of R35 000 was reported due 
to the fact that they were finance leases. This has been condoned in terms of National Practice Note 5 of 
2006/07.

With regard to 2011/12 irregular expenditure cases in the amount of R28.003 million were condoned by the 
Accounting Officer regarding the “fewer than 3 quotes” principle after a thorough investigation revealed 
that no losses to the department were incurred.

Currently under investigation is one case of incorrect declaration of interest amounting to R8 000, 19 cases 
regarding the absence of a tax clearance certificate for transactions in excess of R30 000 amounting to 
R1.058 million, and seven cases of procurement not in terms of BBBEE prescripts amounting to R54 000. 

A total of 103 different cases of possible fruitless and wasteful expenditure were reported to a total amount 
of R59 000, while one case amounting to R19 000 originating from 2011/12 was also investigated in the period 
under review. Of these, 87 cases to the value of R77 000 have been condoned by the Accounting Officer. 
This happened after a thorough investigation into the origin of each individual case to ascertain whether 
these expenses could not have been avoided through diligent circumspection and better planning. In all 
these cases the expenditure was found to be unavoidable.

At 31 March 2013 no cases of fruitless and wasteful expenditure were outstanding. 

2.	 Service rendered by the department

2.1	 A list of services rendered by Agriculture can be divided into the following categories:

	 Provide an engineering support service to enhance environmentally and economically 
sustainable farming practices such as conservation agriculture, to prevent pollution through 
agricultural activities and to increase water use efficiency of all irrigation farmers.

	 Provide sustainable resource management solutions and methodologies through the provision 
of agricultural engineering and LandCare services, proactive communication, facilitation and 
implementation of projects as well as technology transfer to our clients and partners.

	 Manage the verification, survey, planning, design and implementation of disaster relief to 
farmers and provide the required technical support during the rehabilitation phase.

	 Prevent the fragmentation of agricultural land by providing comments according to the 
applicable legislation to the relevant authority as to the recommended land use.

	 Facilitate, co-ordinate and provide support to smallholder and commercial farmers through 
sustainable development within agrarian reform initiatives.

	 Provide extension and advisory services to farmers.
	 Support, advise and co-ordinate the implementation of the Integrated Food Security Strategy 

for South Africa (IFSS).
	 Prevent and control animal diseases, facilitate the exports of animals and animal products, 

render veterinary diagnostic services and ensure the safety of meat and meat products through 
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the implementation of, amongst others, the Meat Safety Act (Act 40 of 2000), the Animal Diseases 
Act (Act 35 of 1984) and other relevant legislation.

	 Provide cutting-edge technology to commercial and smallholder farmers and other stakeholders 
through a client-focused and problem-driven research and technology development portfolio 
executed by the Institutes for Animal Production, Plant Production and Resource Utilisation.

	 Disseminate appropriate new and adapted technology and scientific information in the form 
of user-friendly information packages, scientific and popular publications, and target-group-
focused information days and on-farm “walk and talks”.

	 Provide research and infrastructure support services to the three research institutes, external 
research institutions and other clients from the seven research farms.

	 Provide relevant and reliable agricultural statistics for informed decision-making. 
	 Provide macro and resource economics intelligence to inform planning and sound decision-

making.
	 Provide production economics services to inform planning and business management in support 

of optimal farming.
	 Promote AgriBEE to ensure full participation by new entrepreneurs in the entire value chain and 

the uptake of new opportunities by established ones.
	 Provide marketing and agribusiness support services and intelligence to enhance competiveness 

of the agricultural and agribusiness sector. 
	 Facilitate and provide structured and accredited agricultural education and training in line with the 

agricultural education and training strategy to all participants in the agricultural sector in order to 
establish a knowledgeable, prosperous and competitive sector.

	 Promote and implement the Human Capital Development Strategy for the agricultural sector in the 
Western Cape in an effort to attract more individuals to the agricultural sector as part of the broader 
transformation of the sector.

	 Facilitate improved synergy and co-operation between training service providers and industry 
bodies through, inter alia, the Provincial Agricultural Education and Training Forum (PAET Forum), 
National Agricultural Education and Training Forum (NAET Forum) and a renewed focus on 
regional agricultural commodity groups and rural stakeholder bodies.

	 Co-ordinate focused support of the three spheres of government in selected rural development 
nodes and support the social facilitation phase of the CRDP to establish rural community 
organisational structures. 

	 Facilitate farm worker development through partnerships, funding support and implementation 
of specific projects in farm worker communities and the execution of referrals to appropriate 
service delivery departments or stakeholders.

2.2	 Tariff policy: 

This department does not collect any form of tax revenue. With the exception of the revenue received for 
tertiary education from paying students, all other revenue is incidental or spin-offs from either research or 
training. The department does have an implemented revenue policy.

The tariffs in the tariff register are done on a variety of principles, i.e. market related, cost recovery and 
determined by legislation. Other considerations are influences like whether the clients are emerging 
farmers, the demand for the product or service as well as whether there is excess stock. On the tariff 
register this is indicated at every individual tariff. The latest tariff register is available on the department’s 
website.
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2.3	 Free Services: 

Free services that are rendered by the department are extension services that could lead to substantial 
income in consultation fees. However, by far the biggest users of these services are emerging farmers, who 
can ill afford to pay for these services and rely on the department for advice, information and technology 
transfer. It has been determined as the mandate of the department to provide this advice to all citizens 
for free.

During the reporting period 2 305 cattle belonging to emerging livestock owners were tested for tuberculosis, 
costing R18 302. 

Officials from the Programme: VS have also vaccinated the following number of animals in the emerging 
livestock sector: 

	 2 955 cattle against anthrax, costing R4 521
	 1 009 poultry for Newcastle disease, costing R272 
	 375 cattle with RB51 vaccine for brucellosis at a cost of R15 431.

State Veterinarians provided free clinical services to the previously disadvantaged communities in 
Beaufort West area where:

	 2 058 companion animals were examined and treated for diseases at a cost of R205 800 
	 52 cases of faecal egg count eternal parasite treatments were done, costing R728  
	 637 animals were euthanised, costing R44 590
	 167 rams were tested, costing R1 336
	 852 cattle were dipped for external parasites at a cost of R4 260. 

In the Swellendam and George municipal areas 165 horses in the resource-poor communities were 
vaccinated against African Horse Sickness (AHS) at a cost of R16 195. This was done as a preventative 
measure to protect cart horses against AHS to ensure sustainability in communities where these horses 
are people’s livelihood. A total of 1 800 horses were treated against internal parasites at a cost of 
R171 822.

A priority key performance objective for veterinary services is the annual rabies vaccinations of 
companion animals. Dogs and cats in the resource-poor communities throughout the province were 
vaccinated as following: 

	 Malmesbury :	 7 558 
	 Boland:	 28 738 
	 Swellendam: 	 4 102 
	 George:	 3 656 
	 Beaufort West: 	 4 571 
	 Vredendal	 2 112 

This intervention happened at a cost of R278 546.

Finally, in Beaufort West 94 Brucella Ovis services, costing R1 786 were performed for free and 248 cattle 
were dipped for free at a cost of R2 480.

The total amount for the above free services delivered is R766 129.
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2.4	 Inventories 

Refer to annexure 6 of the financial statements.

3.	 Capacity constraints 

Finding suitably qualified engineers and engineering technicians to appoint remains an ongoing challenge. 
The implementation of the OSD for engineers and engineering technicians did not result in finding and 
appointing technical staff in the Programme: Sustainable Resource Management (SRM) due to the lack of 
suitably qualified candidates who applied for the advertised posts. The bursary programme that has been 
implemented to attract more people of the designated groups to agriculture and thereby improve our 
equity status and service delivery to clients continues to provide candidates who can be appointed on 
contract. This is in line with the OSD prescripts that require that only engineers and engineering technicians 
registered with the Engineering Council of South Africa (ECSA) may be appointed permanently. The full 
complement of ten candidate engineering technicians has been placed in the districts and they are on 
their way to working independently. Two candidate engineers, both from the designated groups, have 
been appointed on contract.

An increase in the natural disasters that affected the agricultural sector occurred over the last few years. The 
administrative and technical support to land owners affected by these disasters creates an administrative, 
financial and human resource strain on the limited number of engineering officials of the Programme: SRM. 
Quite often the reactive nature of disaster management results in a delay in other engineering-related 
projects such as LandCare and infrastructure projects for smallholder farmers.

The Programme: Farmer Support and Development (FSD) has not been able to appoint staff against 
vacancies owing to the delays in the matching and placing process. This has affected, to a certain degree, 
the programme’s ability to achieve its target for the year, i.e. number of farm plans completed.

For the sub-programme: Export Control the year was marked by severe capacity constraints in terms of 
available state veterinarians. The sub-programme had no deputy director until the last quarter of the year. 
Two of the three permanent state veterinary posts at three of the EU-approved abattoirs were vacant for 
the entire year. One of the crucial veterinary export control posts was vacant during the last quarter of the 
year. The permanent meat inspector in the office of the Deputy Director: Export Control was seconded to 
the Boland state veterinary office for export control inspections. With the severe personnel constraints it was 
not possible to deliver services to many of the clients of the department, or to do so within a reasonable 
period of time. 

During the 2013/14 financial year the Programme: VS aims to improve the service delivery for the sub-
programme: Export Control. This will be done by extending the current establishment by adding three more 
veterinarians and filling all existing vacant posts. The possibility of opening a centrally located veterinary 
export certification office in Cape Town will also be investigated.

Climate-smart agri-production will undoubtedly bring capacity constraints in terms of research capacity 
(both human and infrastructure). This will specifically be the case in the disciplines of soil sciences, alternative 
crop production and modelling, to name but a few, and on-farm research infrastructure. Although the new 
microstructure of Programme: Research Technology Development Services (RTDS) makes provision for new 
posts, the budget does not allow for more appointments. Innovative human capacity development plans 
have been initiated to attract students in our post-graduate programmes to execute research projects 
of importance to the department, whilst financial support of these students is being sought from other 
financial sources (tertiary institutions and commodity organisations). With subsequent succession planning 
for senior researchers, these students could be the new generation of scientists to be appointed. In terms 
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of infrastructure, new models of research executed on farms of commercial research collaborators have 
been executed with success. It is envisaged that these models will also be rolled out to smallholder farmers, 
where the new technology developed on farms will be adopted by fellow farmers, similar to the Kenyan 
research model which was explored during a visit by the management of the programme to Kenya.

The Programme: AES continues to have high staff turnover challenges. This situation is worsened by the 
programme having fewer funded positions. This had an impact on service delivery, especially under 
production, and macroeconomics and resource economics divisions. Therefore the human capital 
development initiatives of the Department and those in collaboration with various universities and research 
institutions are envisaged to bridge the scarce skills gap in future. The programme will also continue its drive 
to work with various stakeholders to close the capacity gap. Hence 109 stakeholders were engaged.

The filling of posts that become vacant in the Programme: SAET is difficult as in most instances few 
applicants qualify for the advertised posts, which necessitates the use of part-time lecturers. This places 
an added administrative burden on the full-time lecturing staff. 

A number of staff resigned in the past year. Two posts which were filled became vacant again in 
agribusiness management. This faculty has the highest turnover rate. The Pomology division’s senior 
lecturer resigned, which left a huge gap. At the same time the part-time lecturers who assisted over 
many years also terminated their services. Great difficulty was experienced in replacing the staff, with 
part-time lecturers assisting in this regard.

The administrative burden has increased drastically for a variety of reasons and takes away time from 
service delivery. In addition, in the student administration division one staff member was transferred 
and one staff member retired. The filling of these posts was delayed due to the matching and placing 
process taking place in the Branch: Agricultural Development Support Services (ADSS). The student 
affairs division requires more support and it is envisaged that a work study will be done in this area. 

With 12 rural development nodes activated, 30 rural villages and towns participating in the CRDP process 
and 10 intergovernmental steering committees (ISC) functional across the province, the limited capacity 
within the Development Planning (DP) sub-programme, with only two deputy directors, is becoming 
challenging. This has manifested in delays in ensuring that development plans are completed with 
stakeholder inputs. Administrative support for the two deputy directors has been identified as a priority and 
filling current vacant unfunded positions will also be explored in the new financial year as further nodes are 
due for activation.
 
The recent farm worker protest action and the subsequent development of an Agricultural Rural Response 
Plan will mean that the current human and other resources within the department’s Farm Worker 
Development (FWD) sub-programme will need to be managed with extreme efficiency to ensure that all 
objectives set as part of the response interventions are met. 

4.	 Utilisation of donor funds 

No donor funds were received during the reporting period.

5.	 Trading entities and public entities

Casidra (Pty) Ltd  was established under the Companies Act of 1973 (Act 61 of 1973) – No 1973/006186/07.  
The department has an oversight role with regard to this provincial business enterprise. Accountability 
of this institution rests with its board, which is appointed by the Provincial Minister of Agriculture and Rural 
Development. The Provincial Government of the Western Cape holds all the shares in this institution.
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Functions:

In terms of resolution 271/2007 of 24 October 2007 Casidra (Pty) Ltd was given the mandate of 
“agricultural and economic development within a rural and land reform context”. 

Accountability Arrangements:

a)	 Casidra complies with the Companies Act and the PFMA.
b)	 A shareholder’s compact has been drafted with the department and is monitored through 	
		 quarterly reports.
c)	 It submits a monthly cash flow report to the department.
d)	 A year-end audit of the financial statements is performed (attached).

6.	 Organisations to whom transfer payments have been made

Beneficiary Reason for Transfer Accounting 
Arrangements

Amount 
Appropriated

R’000

Amount
Paid

R’000

Casidra (Pty) Ltd

Executing the functions 
and duties as contained in 
the shareholder’s compact 
2012/2013.

Shareholder’s 
compact 23 440 23 440

Casidra (Pty) Ltd
Implementation of 
infrastructure and other 
projects.

Memoranda of 
agreement 80 282 80 282

Wesgro (The 
Western Cape 
Investment and 
Trade Promotion 
Agency)

Attraction of increased levels 
of direct investment into the 
agribusiness sector.

Memorandum 
of agreement 2 220 2 220

The National 
Agricultural 
Marketing Council

To provide continued support 
to the black smallholder and 
commercial farmers in the fruit 
industry for improved market 
access in the domestic and 
international markets.

Memorandum 
of agreement 326 326

Agri Expo/Cape 
of Good Hope 
Agricultural Society

Promoting opportunities for 
value adding to primary 
products.

Memorandum 
of agreement 170 170

Deciduous Fruit 
Producers’ Trust

Establishing fruit orchards in 
the fruit industry and other new 
farmers.

Memoranda of 
agreement 15 560 15 560

University of 
Stellenbosch

Funding of the Agrifutura 
project that presents insights 
into and understanding of the 
strategic environment of the 
agricultural sector.

Memorandum 
of agreement 130 130

Sing for Africa

Implementation of an 
upliftment programme for 
women, men and children on 
28 farms along the Bottelary 
Road.

Memorandum 
of agreement 200 200

Agri Mega Group
Implementation of 
infrastructure and other 
projects and two expos.

Memoranda of 
agreement 30 072 30 072

Industry Association 
for Responsible 
Alcohol Use (ARA)

Social intervention and 
awareness-raising programmes 
for farm workers and the 
monitoring of three crèches.

Memorandum 
of agreement 136 136
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Beneficiary Reason for Transfer Accounting 
Arrangements

Amount 
Appropriated

R’000

Amount
Paid

R’000

AgriReap (KOUP)

Implementation of an 
employee assistance 
programme (EAP) for farm 
workers within the KOUP region 
in the Central Karoo.

Memorandum 
of agreement 134 134

Colors Academy

To develop and empower 
farm workers and their families 
through the comprehensive 
and integrated strategies 
of education and training, 
health promotion and social 
development.

Memorandum 
of agreement 148 148

Goedgedacht Trust

The production, printing and 
distribution of two issues of the 
magazine called “Weltevrede 
se Doen en Late” that will focus 
specifically on information 
related to alcohol and drug 
abuse and tuberculosis.

Memorandum 
of agreement 100 100

Cape of Good 
Hope Society 
For Prevention of 
Cruelty to Animals 
(SPCA -GH)

The project in essence hopes to 
achieve several outcomes as 
follows:
	 An effective curbing of 

the pet over-population in the 
Western Cape.
	 Promotion of 

responsible pet ownership 
through humane education.
	 Curbing of the risk of 

zoonosis especially rabies.

Memorandum 
of agreement 500 500

Municipality of 
Stellenbosch

Vehicle Licences Licences 53 53

Public Officials Claims against the State Agreement 1 835 1 835
Department of the 
Premier

TV Licences Licences 10 10

Government Motor 
Transport

Vehicle Purchase Agreement 24 24

7.	 Public-private partnerships (PPP)

No public private partnerships were entered into in the year under review.

8.	 Corporate governance arrangements

Risk Management - The Accounting Officer’s (AO) responsibility for enterprise risk management (ERM) 
arises from section 38 (1) (a) (i) of the PFMA. The AO is responsible for ensuring that the institutional 
environment supports the effective functioning of risk management. However, these responsibilities 
are extended to all levels of management in terms of the provisions of the PFMA. Management is 
accountable to the Accounting Officer for designing, implementing and monitoring the process of 
risk management and integrating it into the day-to-day activities of the department. In line with the 
PFMA (section 38 to 40) and the King III Report on Corporate Governance, risk has been positioned as 
a cornerstone of governance. 

The Western Cape Government adopted an enterprise risk management policy which sets out the 
province’s overall intention with regard to ERM to further embed risk management. An enterprise risk 
management strategy and implementation plan has been developed and approved to give effect 
to the enterprise risk management policy in a structured, coherent and systematic manner. 
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The enterprise risk management committee (ERMCO) continues to support the AO in the effective 
discharge of her responsibilities and fosters a culture that supports the principles of good corporate 
governance. The duties of ERMCO are set out in its terms of reference. 

During the year under review ERMCO met quarterly to, amongst other things, monitor and review the 
strategic risks of the department as well as monitor performance against the implementation plan. 
Programme risk assessments are conducted quarterly in order to review and update existing risks, 
identify emerging risks and devise risk treatment plans with target dates and allocated responsibility 
for risk treatments.

Fraud Prevention - The Western Cape Government adopted an anti-corruption strategy which confirms 
the province’s zero tolerance stance toward fraud and corruption. The department’s fraud prevention 
plan remained unchanged for the year. Forensic investigations continued to be offered by the shared 
Forensic Investigation Unit (FIU) that was corporatised to the Corporate Services Centre (CSC) in the 
Department of the Premier (DotP). As reported during the previous financial year the ERMCO has also 
expanded its representation through the inclusion of the FIU and Labour Relations into the committee.

Fraud prevention initiatives for the year were directed towards increasing awareness about the fraud 
prevention plan as well as increasing awareness about the Western Cape Government provincial 
anti-corruption strategy. Mechanisms for the reporting (to promote and facilitate effective, varied 
and anonymous reporting of suspected fraud, theft and corruption) tracking and resolution of fraud, 
theft and corruption cases are in place. 

Internal Audit Activity and Audit Committee – The King III Report on Corporate Governance highlights 
the role of the internal audit as an assurance provider on governance, risk management and control 
processes. Risk-based auditing is therefore a key focus of King III. 

The department is served by the Economic Cluster Audit Committee. All members are independent 
members, appointed by the head of the provincial treasury after consultation with the relevant 
executive authorities. The audit committee operates according to of terms of reference, approved 
on 18 July 2012. The audit committee meets at least quarterly to give effect to its responsibilities as 
per the approved terms of reference. The audit committee further meets privately with the executive 
authority and AO to discuss matters of concern.

Internal audits continued to be offered independently by the shared internal audit unit that was 
corporatised to the CSC in the DotP. In line with the PFMA and King III, the internal audit unit provides 
the audit committee and management with the assurance that the internal controls relating to 
governance, risk management and control processes are adequate and effective. Consistent with 
the PFMA and King III a risk-based, 3-year rolling strategic and annual operational internal audit plan 
was approved by the audit committee, and the audit committee monitored the execution of the 
operational plan and management’s implementation of corrective actions.

No further funding was made available for the increase in internal audit capacity and this year the 
focus was on the optimal utilisation of the existing resources. Internal audit continues to recognise the 
role played by other assurance providers and envisages a combined assurance approach for the 
next year which will ensure that internal audit resources are applied to the most relevant risk areas.

Code of Conduct - All employees are expected to comply with the Code of Conduct for the Public 
Service. The purpose of the code is to guide employees as to what is expected of them ethically, both 
in their individual conduct and in their relationships with others. The Code of Conduct for the Public 
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Service, as included in Chapter 2 the Public Service Regulations, is the “adopted” code. During the 
year the code of conduct was circulated to employees and awareness on the code of conduct was 
raised through “induction training” for new employees. 

The Code of Conduct for the Public Service is furthermore strengthened by the Code of Conduct for 
Supply Chain Management Practitioners. All bid committee members and supply chain management 
practitioners are required to acknowledge that they will abide by the Code of Conduct for Supply 
Chain Management Practitioners.

Safety, Health and Environment - The risks relating to health, safety and environment are diverse as the 
department is administrative and agricultural in nature. Safe evacuation of employees in emergencies, 
poor ergonomics, exposure to chemicals and pesticides, transmission of diseases between animals 
and humans (zoonosis) and exposure to extreme weather conditions are amongst the diverse risk 
areas faced by the department and its employees. 
 
The department has an occupational health and safety officer who is responsible for monitoring 
compliance with health and safety standards. An occupational health and safety committee is in 
place and operates in accordance with approved terms of reference. Safety representatives are 
appointed within programmes. Additionally, a safety and security committee has been established. 
All matters relating to safety and security are elevated to this committee. The chairperson of the safety 
and security committee furthermore reports to the ERMCO, and is also a member of this committee.

The vision of the department embraces its commitment to responsible environmental stewardship (in 
balance with nature). The application of environmental governance forms an integral part of how the 
department conducts its operations, both internal and external, and supports the principle of being a 
“responsible corporate citizen”. 

Conflict of Interest - A high standard of professional ethics must be promoted and maintained in 
the Public Service. To this effect, all members of the Senior Management Service (SMS) are required 
to disclose to the executive authority particulars of all their registrable interests in accordance with 
Chapter 3 of the Public Service Regulations. Such disclosures take place annually. Should any conflict 
of interest arise it will be dealt with in accordance with the Public Service Regulations and related 
prescripts.

With regard to supply chain management, the declaration of interest has been expanded to include 
all members of the bid adjudication committee, specification committee and evaluation committee. 
Should any breaches in the code of conduct be identified they will be managed in accordance with 
the Disciplinary Code and Procedures for the Public Service. 

All bidders and now also all prospective bidders who intend doing business with the department are 
required to register on the Western Cape Supplier Database and complete a declaration of interest, 
bidder’s past supply chain management practices and independent bid determination form (this 
process only applies to transactions in excess of R2,000). Furthermore, a process to identify potential 
conflicts of interest within supply chain management was also instituted by the provincial treasury in 
collaboration with provincial departments. 

With respect to “Remunerative Work Outside the Public Service” (RWOPS), employees are required to 
make application in accordance with approved provincial policy governing RWOPS. All applications 
must be in writing and must, amongst others, address the nature and extent of remunerative work to 
be performed, including the times/hours of duty and the relation thereof (possible conflict of interest 
or areas of concern) to the normal duties that the employee performs in the Public Service. Such 
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applications are then subject to review. Where non-compliance is detected such instances will be 
dealt with in accordance with the policy and, where appropriate, in terms of the Disciplinary Code 
and Procedures for the Public Service.

Other Governance Structures – The department has an established departmental information technology 
committee (DITCOM) which, amongst others, is responsible for information technology governance. 
The department also has an Internal control unit which, amongst others, renders financial compliance 
management support and maintains the governance improvement plan for the department. A 
compliance monitoring function within supply chain management has also been established.

9.	 Discontinued activities/activities to be discontinued 

No activities were discontinued.

10.	 New/proposed activities 

No new/proposed activities were entered into.

11.	 Asset Management 

It was the decision of this province to proceed with LOGIS as the asset register of departments. All the assets 
of this department are recorded on LOGIS and reconciliations between LOGIS and BAS are performed 
monthly through the year.

There is an asset management unit separate from the supply chain management section consisting of 
four people under the management of a deputy director and each sub-section has an appointed asset 
controller or responsible person. A competent person was appointed on contract to assist the department 
in improving its asset control and management and expedite the asset management reform processes 
embarked upon.

To the best of my knowledge this department currently complies with the minimum requirements of 
reporting.

12.	 Inventories 

Refer to annexure 6 of the financial statements for detail on inventory.

13.	 Events after the reporting date

None to report.

14.	 Information on predetermined objectives 

Of the 155 measured indicators, 75% were reached or exceeded while 25% were not reached.

Refer to Part B, Programme Performance, of the Annual Report in terms of reporting on the actual 
performance of the period under review by the different programmes.

For the year under review monthly and quarterly reports on conditional grants, as well as this Annual Report, 
were used to deliver performance information.
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The department relies on the assessment of the internal audit unit, the internal control component, the 
Auditor-General’s Report and management letters for independent verification of its own performance.

15.	 SCOPA resolutions 

Root cause of 
problem

SCOPA resolution Action taken on SCOPA 
resolutions including 

associated costs

Impact on future 
financial years

Inadequate 
internal audit 
coverage due 
to capacity 
constraints 
– 39.13% in 
2011/12

The Minister and HOD continue 
to engage with Cabinet and the 
provincial treasury in this regard with 
a view to significantly increasing audit 
coverage over the medium term, in 
order to reduce the negative impact 
on future audit outcomes, service 
delivery and on the achievement 
of predetermined objectives, 
particularly in high-risk areas.

The department has, 
through the audit 
committee, requested that 
the internal audit inputs 
to the department be 
increased. However, this is 
a centralised function with 
capacity constraints.
No cost to the department.

Limited 
assurance and 
impact on the 
effectiveness 
of risk 
management.

Department 
utilised 
prescribed 
SCOPA 
resolution 
template

A new report template to be 
designed relating to the department’s 
actions on SCOPA resolutions and 
that the department replaces the 
old report template with this for the 
2012/13 Annual Report and onwards, 
once received.

A new template has been 
implemented.
No cost to the department.

SCOPA’s ability 
to assess 
progress will be 
improved. 

No adequate 
process 
available 
for settling 
creditors within 
30 days and 
dependency 
on creditor 
to provide 
required 
documentation 
timeously

The department drafts a clause to 
be inserted into the accounting 
policies of the department confirming 
its commitment to complying 
with generally accepted creditor-
payment periods and legislated 
requirements for payment of creditors 
within 30 days of receipt of invoice.

On instruction of the 
provincial treasury 
(Treasury Circular 20/2013) 
it was decided that this 
issue will be addressed in 
the Accounting Officer’s 
report (section 19) and not 
in the accounting policy.

Total 
compliance with 
prescript.

No heritage 
asset register 
exists 

The department drafts and adopts 
such a policy and compiles such 
a register, in collaboration with the 
Western Cape Provincial Parliament, 
and Heritage Western Cape where 
necessary. The committee further 
resolved that the department tracks 
and monitors all movement relating 
to heritage assets including details, 
with costs, of acquisition, damage, 
disposal and loss of heritage assets, 
and that all such details be included 
in its future Annual Reports.

Assessment of assets on 
asset register. No heritage 
assets were identified. 

None

No policy on 
gifts/
donations/
sponsorships

The department drafts and adopts a 
policy that guides the HOD regarding 
the receipt, assessment and awarding 
or refusal of applications for gifts, 
donations and sponsorships to be 
made, and that it presents this to the 
committee for deliberation; further 
that the department includes more 
details relating to this in future Annual 
Reports.

Policy, written, adopted, 
implemented and 
submitted to SCOPA on 15 
April 2013. 

Improved 
governance
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16.	 Prior modifications to audit reports

There were no qualifications, one emphasis of matter and 7 other matters of the annual financial statements 
in the audit report for the 2011/12 financial year.

Reference to previous audit report Subject Findings on progress

Goods and services with a transaction value below 
R500 000 were procured without obtaining written price 
quotations as required by Treasury Regulation 16A6.1.

Compliance with 
laws and regulations

Condonation 
requested and 
obtained.

The accounting officer did not take effective steps to 
prevent irregular expenditure, as required by section 38(1)
(c)(ii) of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 9.1.1.

Compliance with 
laws and regulations

Condonation 
requested and 
obtained.

The matters under the fundamentals of internal control are 
limited to the significant deficiencies that resulted in the 
findings on compliance with laws and regulations in this 
report.

Internal control Condonation 
requested and 
obtained.

The accounting officer did not adequately evaluate 
whether management has implemented effective internal 
controls to ensure that senior management has met their 
responsibilities. This is evident in the non-compliance 
identified relating to supply chain management (SCM) 
regulations.

Internal control Condonation 
requested and 
obtained.

Adherence to the requirements of SCM regulations was not 
adequately monitored by the supply chain managers due 
to inadequate monitoring controls exercised by them.

Internal control Condonation 
requested and 
obtained.

Although external audit identified supply chain 
management as a significant transversal risk and 
communicated it as such to the department, the 
department’s risk assessment did not prioritise the 
identified risks. Accordingly, this risk was also not included 
in the risk-based internal audit work plans for the year 
under review.

Governance Risk assessment 
done.

17.	 Exemptions and deviations received from National Treasury 

No exemptions or deviations were received from National Treasury.

18.	 Interim Financial Statements 

Complete (including disclosure notes) interim financial statements were submitted to the provincial treasury 
for the first three quarters of the financial year. The last quarter was submitted without disclosure notes, as 
agreed to, since it was too close to preparation for the AFS and would have been nothing more than a 
duplication. All these were assessed and found to be correct by the provincial treasury.

Interim annual financial statements were submitted to the provincial treasury and the audit committee. 
With the exception of a few transactions these statements fairly reflected the department’s financial 
position as at 31 March 2013.
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19.	 Compliance with 30-day payments

The monthly average number of transactions for goods and services as submitted to the provincial treasury 
is 630, for an average amount of R7.259 million. Of these there are on average 47 transactions monthly 
with an average amount of R630 000 that are not paid within 30 days. When this is further investigated, 
an average of 29 payments monthly with an average value of R389 000 are linked to possible internal 
inefficiencies. This represents 4.6% of transactions being paid late, or 5.4% of the value of transactions paid.

The inefficiencies are investigated on a regular basis and improvements are made where possible to bring 
this figure down even further. 

20.	 Other 

With regard to CASP, R91.863 million was received in terms of Schedule 4 of the Division of Revenue Act, 
Act 5 of 2012. The total amount, apart from R86 000, was spent on smallholder farmers for empowerment 
projects as well as by themselves , mostly on infrastructure needs. All objectives were met or close to 
being met.

In terms of Schedule 5 of the Act R7.74 million was received in terms of the LandCare grant programme. 
The total amount was spent at 31 March 2013. All objectives were met.

In terms of Schedule 5 of the Act R50.4 million was received in terms of the Ilima/Letsema grant. The total 
amount was spent at 31 March 2013. All objectives were met.

In terms of Schedule 5 of the Act R4 million was received in terms of the Expanded Public Works Programme. 
The total amount was spent at 31 March 2013. All objectives were met.

An evaluation report for each of the above grants was submitted to the national Department of Agriculture, 
Forestry and Fisheries in terms of the Division of Revenue Act (DORA).

All the above transfers were paid into the primary provincial bank account as prescribed.

During the year under review an overpayment to the ministerial driver was detected. This matter dates 
back a number of years but is immaterial to the Annual Financial Statements and is still under investigation. 
Once the exact quantum has been determined its impact will be reflected in the 2013/14 Annual Financial 
Statements.

21.	 Approval 

The annual financial statements set out on pages 165 to 219 have been approved by the Accounting Officer.

Ms JS Isaacs
Accounting Officer
26 July 2013	
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	 ACCOUNTING OFFICER’S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

	 Statement of Responsibility for the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 
March 2013

	 The Accounting Officer is responsible for the preparation of the department’s annual financial 
statements and for the judgements made in this information.

	 The Accounting Officer is responsible for establishing, and implementing a system of internal 
control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the annual 
financial statements.

	 In my opinion, the financial statements fairly reflects the operations of the department for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2013. 

	 The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the AFS of the 
department. 

	 The Department of Agriculture’s AFS for the year ended 31 March 2013 have been examined by 
the external auditors and their report is presented on page 162.

	 The Annual Financial Statements of the Department set out on page 165 to page 219 have been 
approved.

	 JOYENE SIRENE ISAACS
	 ACCOUNTING OFFICER
	 WESTERN CAPE DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

	 Date: 26 July 2013
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO THE WESTERN CAPE PROVINCIAL PARLIAMENT ON VOTE 
NO. 11: WESTERN CAPE DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Report on the financial statements

Introduction 

1.	 I have audited the financial statements of the Western Cape Department of Agriculture set out 
on pages 165 to 210, which comprise the appropriation statement, the statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2013, the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in 
net assets and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Accounting officer’s responsibility for the financial statements

2.	 The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in 
accordance with the Departmental financial reporting framework prescribed by the National 
Treasury and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 
1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and the Division of Revenue Act, 2012 (Act No. 5 of 2012) (DoRA), 
and for such internal control as the accounting officer determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility

3.	 My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I 
conducted my audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 
2004) (PAA), the general notice issued in terms thereof and International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

4.	 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor  
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 

5.	 I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my audit opinion.

Opinion

6.	 In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Western Cape Department of Agriculture as at 31 March 2013, and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Departmental 
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financial reporting framework prescribed by the National Treasury and the requirements of the 
PFMA and DoRA.

Emphasis of matter

7.	 I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Moveable tangible capital assets

8.	 As disclosed in disclosure note 30.1, additions included in the department’s moveable tangible 
capital assets are assets amounting to R38 577 036 received from the National Department of 
Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries during the year under review. These assets will be transferred 
to Casidra (Pty) Ltd during the 2013-14 financial year to be used for programmes related to 
emerging farmers.

Additional matters 

9.	 I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

	 Unaudited supplementary schedules 

10.	 The supplementary information set out on pages 211 to 219 does not form part of the financial 
statements and is presented as additional information. I have not audited these schedules and, 
accordingly, I do not express an opinion thereon.

	 Financial reporting framework 

11.	 The financial reporting framework prescribed by the National Treasury and applied by the 
department is a compliance framework. The wording of my opinion on a compliance framework 
should reflect that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with this 
framework and not that they “present fairly”. Section 20(2)(a) of the PAA, however, requires me 
to express an opinion on the fair presentation of the financial statements. The wording of my 
opinion therefore reflects this requirement.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

12.	 In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I report the following 
findings relevant to performance against predetermined objectives, compliance with laws and 
regulations and internal control, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion.

Predetermined objectives 

13.	 I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the information 
in the annual performance report as set out on pages 23 to 100 of the annual report. 

14.	 The reported performance against predetermined objectives was evaluated against the overall 
criteria of usefulness and reliability for the programmes selected for auditing. The usefulness of 
information in the annual performance report relates to whether it is presented in accordance 
with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance 
is consistent with the planned objectives. The usefulness of information further relates to whether 
indicators and targets are measurable (i.e. well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable and time 
bound) and relevant as required by the National Treasury Framework for managing programme 
performance information. 
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	 The reliability of the information in respect of the selected programmes is assessed to determine 
whether it adequately reflects the facts (i.e. whether it is valid, accurate and complete).

15.	 There were no material findings on the annual performance report concerning the usefulness 
and reliability of the information.

Additional matters

16.	 Although no material findings concerning the usefulness and reliability of the performance 
information were identified in the annual performance report, I draw attention to the matter 
below.

Achievement of planned targets

17.	 Of the total number of 155 targets planned for the year, 38 of the targets were not fully achieved 
during the year under review. This represents 25% of total planned targets that were not fully 
achieved during the year under review.

18.	 This was mainly due to human resource constraints at the department and the fact that indicators 
and targets were demand driven and therefore unpredictable in nature.

Compliance with laws and regulations 

19.	 I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity has complied with applicable laws 
and regulations regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. 

	 I did not identify any instances of material non-compliance with specific matters in key applicable 
laws and regulations as set out in the general notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Internal control 

20.	 I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, performance 
information and compliance with laws and regulations. I did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control which I considered sufficiently significant for inclusion in this report.

OTHER REPORTS 

Investigations

21.	 One case reported in August 2011, relating to alleged financial irregularities against an official for 
financial mismanagement of an indigenous tree project, is being investigated by the Provincial 
Forensic Investigating Unit.

	 Cape Town
	 31 July 2013
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Appropriation per programme 

2012/13 2011/12

APPROPRIATION STATEMENT
Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appro-
priation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture as % 
of Final 

appropria-
tion

Final 
Appro- 
priation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

1.	 ADMINISTRATION	

	 Current payment 80,664 (1,187) (1,363) 78,114 77,372 742 99.1% 68,993 66,360

	 Transfers and subsidies 1,274 103 - 1,377 1,377 - 100.0% 1,368 1,368

	 Payment for capital assets 1,459 1,106 - 2,565 2,565 - 100.0% 2,443 2,443

	 Payment for financial assets 54 (22) - 32 32 - 100.0% 19 19

83,451 - (1,363) 82,088 81,346 742 72,823 70,190

2.	SUSTAINABLE RESOURCE 
	 MANAGEMENT

	 Current payment 48,142 809 (351) 48,600 47,600 1,000 97.9% 35,348 35,348

	 Transfers and subsidies 1,511 (1,011) (41) 459 459 - 100.0% 2 2

	 Payment for capital assets 868 213 - 1,081 1,081 - 100.0% 1,205 1,205

	 Payment for financial assets 120 (11) - 109 109 - 100.0% 9 9

50,641 - (392) 50,249 49,249 1,000 36,564 36,564

3.	 FARMER SUPPORT AND 		
	 DEVELOPMENT 

	 Current payment 61,182 (2,704) - 58,478 58,478 - 100.0% 51,037 51,037

	 Transfers and subsidies 142,987 378 1,945 145,310 145,310 - 100.0% 135,048 135,048

	 Payment for capital assets 654 2,313 - 2,967 2,967 - 100.0% 3,921 3,921

	 Payment for financial assets 26 13 - 39 39 - 100.0% 9 9

204,849 - 1,945 206,794 206,794 - 190,015 190,015

4.	VETERINARY SERVICES 

	 Current payment 54,175 (2,075) - 52,100 51,095 1,005 98.1% 51,946 51,946

	 Transfers and subsidies 230 625 - 855 855 - 100.0% 15,992 15,992

	 Payment for capital assets 93 1,429 - 1,522 1,522 - 100.0% 1,437 1,437

	 Payment for financial assets 4 21 - 25 25 - 100.0% 23 23

54,502 - - 54,502 53,497 1,005 69,398 69,398

5.	 RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY 	
	 DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

	 Current payment 87,117 (5,490) - 81,627 80,116 1,511 98.1% 72,943 72,942

	 Transfers and subsidies 101 417 - 518 518 - 100.0% 353 354

	 Payment for capital assets 1,643 5,070 - 6,713 6,713 - 100.0% 4,289 4,289

	 Payment for financial assets 6 3 - 9 9 - 100.0% 31 31

88,867 - - 88,867 87,356 1,511 77,616 77,616

6.	 AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS 	
	 SERVICES

	 Current payment 11,877 (675) - 11,202 11,068 134 98.8% 10,794 10,794

	 Transfers and subsidies 3,092 491 - 3,583 3,583 - 100.0% 746 746

	 Payment for capital assets 64 185 - 249 249 - 100.0% 320 320

	 Payment for financial assets 2 (1) - 1 1 - 100.0% 15 15

15,035 - - 15,035 14,901 134 11,875 11,875

APPROPRIATION STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Appropriation per programme

2012/13 2011/12

APPROPRIATION STATEMENT
Adjusted 
Appro-
priation

Shifting of 
Funds Virement

Final 
Appro-
priation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture as % of 

Final Ap-
propriation

Final 
Appro- 
priation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

7.	 STRUCTURED AGRICULTURAL 
EDUCATION AND TRAINING

	 Current payment 42,577 (1,285) - 41,292 41,097 195 99.5% 38,623 38,624

	 Transfers and subsidies 3,501 (181) - 3,320 3,320 - 100.0% 2,142 2,141

	 Payment for capital assets 627 1,472 - 2,099 2,099 - 100.0% 4,082 4,082

	 Payment for financial assets 20 (6) - 14 14 - 100.0% 39 39

46,725 - - 46,725 46,530 195 44,886 44,886

8.	 RURAL DEVELOPMENT 		
CO-ORDINATION

	 Current payment 13,820 (2,034) (190) 11,596 11,442 154 98.7% 10,221 10,221

	 Transfers and subsidies 2,418 1,894 - 4,312 4,312 - 100.0% 3,477 3,477

	 Payment for capital assets 66 140 - 206 206 - 100.0% 315 315

	 Payment for financial assets - - - - - - - 2 2

16,304 - (190) 16,114 15,960 154 14,015 14,015

TOTAL                   560,374 - - 560,374 555,633 4,741 99.2% 517,192 514,559

Reconciliation with statement of financial performance

Add: departmental receipts 1,840 24,646

Actual amounts per statement of financial performance (total revenue) 562,214 541,838

Actual amounts per statement of financial performance 
(total expenditure)

555,633 514,559

Appropriation per economic classification

2012/13 2011/12

Appropriation per economic 
classification

Adjusted 
Appro-
priation

Shifting of 
Funds Virement

Final 
Appro-
priation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture as % 
of Final 

Appropri-
ation

Final 
Appro-
priation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

Current payments

Compensation of employees 245,770 (2,689) - 243,081 243,081 - 100.0% 226,567 226,567

Goods and services 153,781 (11,956) (1,904) 139,921 135,180 4,741 96.6% 113,321 110,688

Interest and rent on land 3 3 - 6 6 - 100.0% 17 17

Transfers and subsidies 

Provinces and municipalities 60 (7) - 53 53 - 100.0% 53 53

Departmental agencies and 
accounts  4,089 326 - 4,415 4,415 - 100.0% 992 992

Universities and technikons 500 (370) - 130 130 - 100.0% 400 400

Foreign governments & 
international organisations 734 (734) - - - - - - -

Public corporations and private 
enterprises 144,378 3,031 1,945 149,354 149,354 - 100.0% 135,471 135,471

Non-profit institutions 1,427 (40) - 1,387 1,387 - 100.0% 2,293 2,293

Households 3,061 (51) (41) 2,969 2,969 - 100.0% 18,443 18,443

Gifts and donations 865 563 - 1,428 1,428 - 100.0% 1,476 1,476

Payments for capital assets

Buildings and other fixed 
structures - 387 - 387 387 - 100.0% 244 244

Machinery and equipment 4,884 11,944 - 16,828 16,828 - 100.0% 17,674 17,674

Biological assets 444 (420) - 24 24 - 100.0% - -

Software and other intangible 
assets 146 16 - 162 162 - 100.0% 94 94

Payments for financial assets 232 (3) - 229 229 - 100.0% 147 147

Total 560,374 - - 560,374 555,633 4,741 99.2% 517,192 514,559

APPROPRIATION STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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		  Detail per Programme 1 – ADMINISTRATION
2012/13 2011/12

Detail per sub-programme
Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of Fi-
nal Appro-

priation

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

1.1 OFFICE OF THE MEC

Current payment 6,606 (665) (273) 5,668 5,668 - 100.0% 5,449 5,449

Transfers and subsidies 1 (1) - - - - - - -

Payment for capital assets 46 202 - 248 248 - 100.0% 328 328

Payment for financial assets 3 (2) - 1 1 - 100.0% 3 3

1.2 SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Current payment 5,764 261 (1,090) 4,935 4,935 - 100.0% 3,776 3,776

Transfers and subsidies 300 14 - 314 314 - 100.0% 308 308

Payment for capital assets 141 (29) - 112 112 - 100.0% 42 42

1.3 CORPORATE SERVICES

Current payment 33,320 3,959 - 37,279 37,279 - 100.0% 30,195 30,195

Transfers and subsidies 943 7 - 950 950 - 100.0% 484 484

Payment for capital assets 90 300 - 390 390 - 100.0% 554 554

Payment for financial assets 40 (13) - 27 27 - 100.0% 4 4

1.4 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Current payment 29,356 (3,356) - 26,000 25,258 742 97.1% 26,637 24,004

Transfers and subsidies - 15 - 15 15 - 100.0% 303 303

Payment for capital assets 1,080 638 - 1,718 1,718 - 100.0% 1,460 1,460

Payment for financial assets 5 (4) - 1 1 - 100.0% 10 10

1.5 COMMUNICATION SERVICES

Current payment 5,618 (1,386) - 4,232 4,232 - 100.0% 2,936 2,936

Transfers and subsidies 30 68 - 98 98 - 100.0% 273 273

Payment for capital assets 102 (5) - 97 97 - 100.0% 59 59

Payment for financial assets 6 (3) - 3 3 - 100.0% 2 2

Total 83,451 - (1,363) 82,088 81,346 742 99.1% 72,823 70,190

2012/13 2011/12

Programme 1 

Per economic classification

Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation

Shifting of 
Funds Virement

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

Current payments

Compensation of employees 39,334 1,255 - 40,589 40,589 - 100.0% 36,006 36,006

Goods and services 41,327 (2,447) (1,363) 37,517 36,775 742 98.0% 32,977 30,344

Interest and rent on land 3 3 - 6 6 - 100.0% 10 10

Transfers and subsidies 

Departmental agencies and  
accounts 1 - 1 1 - 100.0% - -

Public corporations and private 
enterprises 30 (30) - - - - - - -

Non-profit institutions 145 (145) - - - - - - -

Households 943 4 - 947 947 - 100.0% 786 786

Gifts and donations 155 276 - 431 431 - 100.0% 582 582

Payment for capital assets

Machinery and equipment 1,447 1,118 - 2,565 2,565 - 100.0% 2,443 2,443

Software and other intangible 
assets 12 (12) - - - - - - -

Payments for financial assets 54 (22) - 32 32 - 100.0% 19 19

Total 83,451 - (1,363) 82,088 81,346 742 99.1% 72,823 70,190

APPROPRIATION STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Western Cape Government | Department of Agriculture | Annual Report 2012/13 167

Annual Report Financial Year 2012/13
Vote 11: Department of Agriculture

Province of the Western Cape



			   Detail per Programme 2 – SUSTAINABLE RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
2012/13 2011/12

Detail per sub-programme
Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final Ap-
propria-

tion
Actual Ex-
penditure Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

2.1 ENGINEERING SERVICES

	 Current payment 14,509 1,949 - 16,458 16,265 193 98.8% 12,835 12,835

	 Transfers and subsidies 744 (743) - 1 1 - 100.0% 1 1

	 Payment for capital assets 415 (52) - 363 363 - 100.0% 605 605

	 Payment for financial assets - - - - - - - 9 9

2.2 LANDCARE

	 Current payment 32,270 (550) (351) 31,369 30,562 807 97.4% 21,918 21,918

	 Transfers and subsidies 765 (266) (41) 458 458 - 100.0% 1 1

	 Payment for capital assets 415 296 - 711 711 - 100.0% 600 600

	 Payment for financial assets 120 (11) - 109 109 - 100.0% - -

2.3 LAND USE MANAGEMENT

	 Current payment 1,000 (247) - 753 753 - 100.0% 595 595

 	 Payment for capital assets
23 (16) - 7 7 - 100.0% - -

2.4 DISASTER RISK MANAGEMENT

	 Current payment 363 (343) - 20 20 - 100.0% - -

	 Transfers and subsidies 2 (2) - - - - - - -

	 Payment for capital assets 15 (15) - - - - - - -

Total 50,641 - (392) 50,249 49,249 1,000 98.0% 36,564 36,564

2012/13 2011/12

Programme 2 
Per economic classification

Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

Current payments

Compensation of employees 21,399 329 - 21,728 21,728 - 100.0% 19,408 19,408

Goods and services 26,743 480 (351) 26,872 25,872 1 ,000 96.3% 15,940 15,940

Transfers and subsidies

Provinces and municipalities - 1 - 1 1 - 100.0% 1 1

Foreign governments & interna-
tional organisations 734 (734) - - - - - -

Public corporations and private 
enterprises 27 423 - 450 450 - 100.0% - -

Households 750 (709) (41) - - - - 1 1

Gifts and donations 8 - 8 8 - 100.0% - -

Payment for capital assets

Machinery and equipment 738 181 - 919 919 - 100.0% 1,151 1,151

Software and other intangible 
assets 130 32 - 162 162 - 100.0% 54 54

Payments for financial assets 120 (11) - 109 109 - 100.0% 9 9

Total 50,641 - (392) 50,249 49,249 1,000 98.0% 36,564 36,564
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			   Detail per Programme 3 – FARMER SUPPORT AND DEVELOPMENT
2012/13 2011/12

Detail per sub-programme
Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

3.1 FARMER SETTLEMENT

	 Current payment 17,239 220 - 17,459 17,459 - 100.0% 12,246 12,246

	 Transfers and subsidies 124,047 366 1,945 126,358 126,358 - 100.0% 123,316 123,316

	 Payment for capital assets 165 45 - 210 210 - 100.0% 112 112

	 Payment for financial assets 9 9 - 18 18 - 100.0% 8 8

3.2  EXTENSION AND ADVISORY 
	 SERVICES

 

	 Current payment 32,295 (2,797) - 29,498 29,498 - 100.0% 27,476 27,476

	 Transfers and subsidies 1,000 12 - 1,012 1,012 - 100.0% 774 774

	 Payment for capital assets 489 2, 244 - 2,733 2,733 - 100.0% 3,772 3,772

	 Payment for financial assets 17 - - 17 17 - 100.0% - -

3.3 FOOD SECURITY

	 Current payment 11,648 (127) - 11,521 11,521 - 100.0% 11,315 11,315

	 Payment for capital assets - 24 - 24 24 - 100.0% 37 37

	 Payment for financial assets - 4 - 4 4 - 100.0% 1 1

3.4 CASIDRA (PTY) LTD.

	 Transfers and subsidies 17,940 - - 17,940 17,940 - 100.0% 10,958 10,958

Total 204,849 - 1,945 206,794 206,794 - 100.0% 190,015 190,015

2012/13 2011/12

Programme 3 
Per economic classification

Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expen-
di-ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

Current payments

Compensation of employees 38,654 811 - 39 ,465 39,465 - 100.0% 37,325 37,325

Goods and services 22,528 (3,515) - 19,013 19,013 - 100.0% 13,709 13,709

Interest and rent on land - - - - - - - 3 3

Transfers and subsidies

Provinces and municipalities 6 2 - 8 8 - 100.0% 8 8

Departmental agencies and ac-
counts 1 326 - 327 327 - 100.0% 592 592

Public corporations and private 
enterprises 142,980 40 1,945 144,965 144,965 - 100.0% 134,006 134,006

Non-profit institutions - - - - - - - 250 250

Households - - - - - - - 182 182

Gifts and donations - 10 - 10 10 - 100.0% 10 10

Payment for capital assets

Machinery and equipment 210 2,733 - 2,943 2,943 - 100.0% 3,921 3,921

Biological Assets 444 (420) - 24 24 - 100.0% - -

Payments for financial assets 26 13 - 39 39 - 100.0% 9 9

Total 204 ,849 - 1,945 206,794 206,794 - 100.0% 190,015 190,015
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			   Detail per Programme 4 – VETERINARY SERVICES
2012/13 2011/12

Detail per sub-programme
Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

4.1 ANIMAL HEALTH

	 Current payment 31,898 574 - 32,472 31,467 1,005 96.9% 30,650 30,650

	 Transfers and subsidies 230 598 - 828 828 - 100.0% 15,872 15,872

	 Payment for capital assets 10 1,242 - 1,252 1,252 - 100.0% 1,070 1,070

	 Payment for financial assets 4 21 - 25 25 - 100.0% 13 13

4.2 EXPORT CONTROL

	 Current payment 5,117 (1,507) - 3,610 3,610 - 100.0% 4,695 4,695

	 Payment for capital assets 10 27 - 37 37 - 100.0% 80 80

	 Payment for financial assets - - - - - - - 10 10

4.3 VETERINARY PUBLIC HEALTH

	 Current payment 4,862 (326) - 4,536 4,536 - 100.0% 4,402 4,402

	 Payment for capital assets - 47 - 47 47 - 100.0% 108 108

4.4 VETERINARY LABORATORY 
	 SERVICES

	 Current payment 12,298 (816) - 11,482 11,482 - 100.0% 12,199 12,199

	 Transfers and subsidies - 27 - 27 27 - 100.0% 120 120

	 Payment for capital assets 73 113 - 186 186 - 100.0% 179 179

Total 54,502 - - 54,502 53,497 1,005 98.2% 69,398 69,398

2012/13 2011/12

Programme 4 
Per economic classification

Adjusted 
Appropria-

tion
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

Current payments

Compensation of employees 40,850 (423) - 40,427 40,427 - 100.0% 38,945 38,945

Goods and services 13,325 (1,652) - 11,673 10,668 1,005 91.4% 12,999 12,999

Interest and rent on land - - - - - - - 2 2

Transfers and subsidies 

Provinces and municipalities 2 - - 2 2 - 100.0% 1 1

Departmental agencies and  
accounts 22 - - 22 22 - 100.0% - -

Non-profit institutions - 500 - 500 500 - 100.0% 500 500

Households 206 125 - 331 331 - 100.0% 15,491 15,491

Payment for capital assets

Machinery and equipment 93 1,429 - 1,522 1,522 - 100.0% 1,437 1,437

Payments for financial assets 4 21 - 25 25 - 100.0% 23 23

Total 54,502 - - 54,502 53,497 1,005 98.2% 69,398 69,398
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			   Detail per Programme 5 – RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
2012/13 2011/12

Detail per sub-programme
Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

5.1 RESEARCH

	 Current payment 56,115 (3,057) - 53,058 51,547 1,511 97.2% 45,463 45,462

	 Transfers and subsidies 15 20 - 35 35 - 100.0% 316 317

	 Payment for capital assets 863 2,201 - 3,064 3,064 - 100.0% 2,253 2,253

	 Payment for financial assets - - - - - - - 23 23

5.2 TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER 
	 SERVICES

	 Current payment 571 (571) - - - - - 83 83

	 Payment for capital assets 55 (55) - - - - - - -

5.3 INFRASTRUCTURE SUPPORT 
	 SERVICES

	 Current payment 30,431 (1,862) - 28,569 28,569 - 100.0% 27,397 27,397

	 Transfers and subsidies 86 397 - 483 483 - 100.0% 37 37

	 Payment for capital assets 725 2,924 - 3,649 3,649 - 100.0% 2,036 2,036

	 Payment for financial assets 6 3 - 9 9 - 100.0% 8 8

Total 88,867 - - 88,867 87,356 1,511 98.3% 77,616 77,616

2012/13 2011/12

Programme 5
 Per economic classification

Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

Current payments

Compensation of employees 60,393 (2,470) - 57,923 57,923 - 100.0% 54,388 54,388

Goods and services 26,724 (3,020) - 23,704 22,193 1,511 93.6% 18,554 18,554

Interest and rent on land - - - - - - - 1 1

Transfers and subsidies 

Provinces and municipalities 39 - - 39 39 - 100.0% 41 41

Departmental agencies and 
accounts 1 1 - 2 2 - 100.0% 250 250

Households 61 416 - 477 477 - 100.0% - -

Gifts and donations - - - - - - - 62 62

Payment for capital assets

Buildings and other fixed 
structures - 387 - 387 387 - 100.0% 244 244

Machinery and equipment 1,643 4,683 - 6,326 6,326 - 100.0% 4,035 4,035

Software and other intangible 
assets - - - - - - - 10 10

Payments for financial assets 6 3 - 9 9 - 100.0% 31 31

Total 88,867 - - 88,867 87,356 1,511 98.3% 77,616 77,616
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			   Detail per Programme 6 – AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS SERVICES
2012/13 2011/12

Detail per sub-programme
Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

6.1 AGRIBUSINESS SUPPORT 
	 AND DEVELOPMENT 

	 Current payment 8,178 280 - 8,458 8,324 134 98.4% 8,072 8,072

	 Transfers and subsidies 1,731 (4) - 1,727 1,727 - 100.0% 746 746

	 Payment for capital assets 49 176 - 225 225 - 100.0% 290 290

	 Payment for financial assets 2 (2) - - - - - 8 8

6.2 MACRO ECONOMICS SUPPORT

	 Current payment 3,699 (955) - 2,744 2,744 - 100.0% 2,722 2,722

	 Transfers and subsidies 1,361 495 - 1,856 1,856 - 100.0% - -

	 Payment for capital assets 15 9 - 24 24 - 100.0% 30 30

	 Payment for financial assets - 1 - 1 1 - 100.0% 7 7

Total 15,035 - - 15,035 14,901 134 99.1% 11,875 11,875

2012/13 2011/12

Programme 6 
Per Economic classification

Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

Current payments

Compensation of employees 9,252 (466) - 8,786 8,786 - 100.0% 8,042 8,042

Goods and services 2,625 (208) - 2,417 2,283 134 94.5% 2,752 2,752

Transfers and subsidies 

Departmental agencies and ac-
counts 2,221 (1) - 2,220 2,220 - 100.0% - -

Universities and technikons 250 (120) - 130 130 - 100.0% 400 400

Public corporations and private 
enterprises 561 495 - 1,056 1,056 - 100.0% 200 200

Households - 16 - 16 16 - 100.0% - -

Gifts and donations 60 100 - 160 160 - 100.0% 146 146

Payment for capital assets

Machinery and equipment 64 185 - 249 249 - 100.0% 290 290

Software and other intangible 
assets - - - - - - - 30 30

Payments for financial assets 2 (1) - 1 1 - 100.0% 15 15

Total 15,035 - - 15,035 14,901 134 99.1% 11,875 11,875
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			   Detail per Programme 7 – STRUCTURED AGRICULTURAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING
2012/13 2011/12

Detail per sub-programme
Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

7.1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND 		
	 TRAINING (HET)

	 Current payment 29,360 2,977 - 32,337 32,142 195 99.4% 29,669 29,670

	 Transfers and subsidies 3,487 (184) - 3,303 3,303 - 100.0% 2,142 2,141

	 Payment for capital assets 401 1,019 - 1,420 1,420 - 100.0% 3,451 3,451

	 Payment for financial assets 20 (6) - 14 14 - 100.0% 39 39

7.2 	FURTHER EDUCATION AND
    	 TRAINING (FET)

	 Current payment 13,217 (4,262) - 8,955 8,955 - 100.0% 8,954 8,954

	 Transfers and subsidies 14 3 - 17 17 - 100.0% - -

	 Payment for capital assets 226 453 - 679 679 - 100.0% 631 631

Total 46,725 - - 46,725 46,530 195 99.6% 44,886 44,886

2012/13 2011/12

Programme 7 
Per economic classification

Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

Current payments

Compensation of employees 26,969 (1,123) - 25,846 25,846 - 100.0% 25,029 25,029

Goods and services 15,608 (162) - 15,446 15,251 195 98.7% 13,593 13,593

Interest and rent on land - - - - - - - 1 1

Transfers and subsidies 

Provinces and municipalities 13 (10) - 3 3 - 100.0% 2 2

Departmental agencies and  
accounts 1,839 - - 1,839 1,839 - 100.0% - -

Universities and technikons 250 (250) - - - - 100.0% - -

Non-profit institutions 128 41 - 169 169 - 100.0% 147 147

Households 1,101 65 - 1,166 1,166 - 100.0% 1,981 1,981

Gifts and donations 170 (27) - 143 143 - 100.0% 12 12

Payment for capital assets

Machinery and equipment 627 1,472 - 2,099 2,099 - 100.0% 4,082 4,082

Payments for financial assets 20 (6) - 14 14 - 100.0% 39 39

Total 46,725 - - 46,725 46,530 195 99.6% 44,886 44,886
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			   Detail per Programme 8 – RURAL DEVELOPMENT CO-ORDINATION
2012/13 2011/12

Detail per sub-programme
Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

8.1 DEVELOPMENT PLANNING

	 Current payment 3,137 (346) - 2,791 2,637 154 94.5% 1,669 1,669

	 Transfers and subsidies 934 1 603 - 2,537 2,537 - 100.0% 1,221 1,221

	 Payment for capital assets 26 - - 26 26 - 100.0% 62 62

8.2 FARM WORKER DEVELOPMENT

	 Current payment 10,683 (1,688) (190) 8,805 8,805 - 100.0% 8,552 8,552

	 Transfers and subsidies 1,484 291 - 1,775 1,775 - 100.0% 2,256 2,256

	 Payment for capital assets 40 140 - 180 180 - 100.0% 253 253

	 Payment for financial assets - - - - - - - 2 2

Total 16,304 - (190) 16,114 15,960 154 99.0% 14,015 14,015

2012/13 2011/12

Programme 8
Per economic classification

Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation
Shifting of 

Funds Virement
Final 

Appropri-
ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture
Variance

Expendi-
ture 

as % of 
Final Ap-
propria-

tion

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Expendi-

ture

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000

Current payments

Compensation of employees 8,919 (602) - 8,317 8,317 - 100.0% 7,424 7,424

Goods and services 4,901 (1,432) (190) 3,279 3,125 154 95.3% 2,797 2,797

Transfers and subsidies 

Departmental agencies and ac-
counts 4 - - 4 4 - 100.0% 150 150

Public corporations and private 
enterprises 780 2,103 - 2,883 2,883 - 100.0% 1,265 1,265

Non-profit institutions 1,154 (436) - 718 718 - 100.0% 1,396 1,396

Households - 32 - 32 32 - 100.0% 2 2

Gifts and donations 480 196 - 676 676 - 100.0% 664 664

Payment for capital assets

Machinery and equipment 62 143 - 205 205 - 100.0% 315 315

Software and other intangible 
assets 4 (4) - - - - - - -

Payments for financial assets - - - - - - - 2 2

Total 16,304 - (190) 16,114 15,960 154 99.0% 14,015 14,015
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Notes to the appropriation statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

1.	 Detail of transfers and subsidies as per Appropriation Act (after Virement):
	 Detail of these transactions can be viewed in the note on transfers and subsidies, disclosure 

notes and Annexure 1 (A-F) to the Annual Financial Statements.

2.	 Detail of specifically and exclusively appropriated amounts voted (after Virement):
	 Detail of these transactions can be viewed in note 1 (Annual Appropriation) to the Annual 

Financial Statements.

3.	 Detail on payments for financial assets
	 Detail of these transactions per programme can be viewed in the note to payments for financial 

assets to the Annual Financial Statements.

4.	 Explanations of material variances from Amounts Voted (after Virement):

 4.1   Per Programme
Final 

Appropriation
Actual 

Expenditure Variance 
Variance as a 

% of Final 
Appropriation

R’000 R’000 R’000 %

Programme 1: Administration 82,088 81,346 742 0.9%

The unspent 2012/13 Goods and Services funds to the amount of R0.742 million can mainly be attributed to resources 
which were committed for the settlement of accounts pertaining to the 2012/13 financial year. The balance is need-
ed to offset increases in crop and pasture production costs (fuel, fodder, fertilisers) and research farm operations 
under Programme 5. The request for roll-over has been submitted to secure these production costs for the research 
herds and flocks.

Programme 2: Sustainable Resource 
Management 50,249 49,249 1,000 2%

The R1.000 million compulsory saving will be transferred to the Department of Environmental Affairs and Develop-
ment Planning for an abridged report on the compilation of an Environmental Management Framework for the 
Sandveld. An application has been requested during the roll-over process.

Programme 4: Veterinary Services 54,502 53,497 1,005 1.8%

The unspent 2012/13 Goods and Services funds to the amount of R1.005 million can mainly be attributed to resources 
which were committed for the settlement of accounts pertaining to the 2012/13 financial year. The balance is need-
ed to offset increases in crop and pasture production costs (fuel, fodder, fertilisers) and research farm operations 
under Programme 5. The request for roll-over has been submitted to secure these production costs for the research 
herds and flocks.

Programme 5: Research and Technology 
Development Services 88,867 87,356 1,511 1.7%

The saving of R1.511 million will be spent on additional costs in maintaining the 340 ostriches, increased prices of an-
imal feed for the maintenance of research herds and flocks and an increase in crop and pasture production costs 
(fuel, fertiliser, agrochemicals and seed) on the research farms Elsenburg, Langgewens and Tygerhoek. An applica-
tion for roll-over has been requested to secure for additional costs mentioned.                                                                         

Programme 6: Agricultural Economics Services 15,035 14,901 134 0.9%

The unspent 2012/13 Goods and Services funds to the amount of R0.134 million can mainly be attributed to resources 
which were committed for the settlement of accounts pertaining to the 2012/13 financial year. The balance is need-
ed to offset increases in crop and pasture production costs (fuel, fodder, fertilisers) and research farm operations 
under Programme 5.
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Programme 7: Structured Agricultural 
Education and Training 46,725 46,530 195 0.4%

The unspent 2012/13 Goods and Services funds to the amount of R0.195 million can mainly be attributed to resources 
which were committed for the settlement of accounts pertaining to the 2012/13 financial year. The amount of R0.109 
million is needed to offset increases in crop and pasture production costs (fuel, fodder, fertilisers) and research farm 
operations under Programme 5. The balance of R0.086 million is unspent National Conditional Grant: Comprehen-
sive Agricultural Support Programme (CASP) funding. The R0.109 million is requested to roll over and the R0.086 mil-
lion was surrendered to the National Revenue Fund (NRF) and has been submitted.

Programme 8: Rural Development Co-ordination 16,114 15,960 154 1%

The unspent 2012/13 Goods and Services funds to the amount of R0.154 million can mainly be attributed to resources which 
were committed for the settlement of accounts pertaining to the 2012/13 financial year. The balance is needed to offset 
increases in crop and pasture production costs (fuel, fodder, fertilisers) and research farm operations under Programme 5. 
The request for roll-over has been submitted to secure these production costs for the research herds and flocks.

4.2   Per economic classification
Final 

Appropriation
Actual 

Expenditure Variance
Variance as 
a % of Final 

Appropriation
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Current expenditure
Compensation of employees 243,081 243,081 - -
Goods and services 139,921 135,180 4,741 3.4%
Interest and rent on land 6 6 - -

Transfers and subsidies
Provinces and municipalities 53 53 - -
Departmental agencies and accounts 4,415 4,415 - -
Universities and technikons 130 130 - -
Public corporations and private enterprises 149,354 149,354 - -
Non-profit institutions 1,387 1,387 - -
Households 2,969 2,969 - -
Gifts and donations 1,428 1,428 - -

Payments for capital assets
Buildings & other fixed structures 387 387 - -
Machinery and equipment 16,828 16,828 - -
Biological assets 24 24 - -
Software and other intangible assets 162 162 - -
Payments for financial assets 229 229 - -

Of the underspent amount of R4.721 million R1.000 million will be transferred to the Department of Environmental Affairs 
and Development Planning and the R0.086 million conditional grant was surrendered to the National Revenue Fund (NRF). 
The balance of R3.655 million is needed to offset increases in crop and pasture production costs (fuel, fodder, fertilisers) 
and research farm operations under Programme 5. The requests for the rollover amount of R3.655 million, the transfer to 
DEADP of R1 million as well as the R0.086 million to be surrendered to the National Revenue Fund were submitted.

4.3   Per conditional grant
Final

Appropriation
Actual 

Expenditure Variance
Variance as 
a % of Final 

Appropriation
R’000 R’000 R’000 %

Comprehensive Agricultural Support Pro-
gramme Grant (CASP) 91,863 91,777 86 0.1%

The underspending on the National Conditional Grant: CASP amounting to R0.086 million can mainly be attributed 
to resources which were committed for the settlement of a project pertaining to the 2012/13 financial year. The re-
quest to surrender the funds to the National Revenue Fund (NRF) was submitted.

Notes to the appropriation statement 
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

REVENUE
Annual appropriation 1 560,374 517,192
Departmental revenue 2 1,840 24,646

TOTAL REVENUE 562,214 541,838

EXPENDITURE
Current expenditure
Compensation of employees 3 243,081 226,567
Goods and services 4 135,181 110,688
Interest and rent on land 5 6 17
Total current expenditure 378,268 337,272

Transfers and subsidies
Transfers and subsidies 7 159,736 159,128
Total transfers and subsidies 159,736 159,128

Expenditure for capital assets
Tangible capital assets 8 17,238 17,918
Software and other intangible assets 8 162 94
Total expenditure for capital assets 17,400 18,012

Payments for financial assets 6 229 147

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 555,633 514,559

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 6,581 27,279

Reconciliation of Net Surplus for the year
Voted funds 4,741 2,633
Annual appropriation 4,655 2,633
Conditional grants 86 -
Departmental revenue 14 1,840 24,646
SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 6,581 27,279

Statement of financial performance 
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

ASSETS

Current assets 11,528 8,221
Cash and cash equivalents 9 8,825 5,116
Prepayments and advances 10 278 183
Receivables 11 2,425 2,922
 
Non-current assets 25,000 25,000
Investments 12 25,000 25,000
 
TOTAL ASSETS 36,528 33,221

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 10,907 7,805
Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund 13 4,741 2,633
Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the 
Revenue Fund 14 991 597
Payables 15 5,175 4,575
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,907 7,805

NET ASSETS 25,621 25,416

Represented by:
Capitalisation reserve 25,000 25,000
Recoverable revenue 621 416

TOTAL 25,621 25,416

Statement of financial pOSITION 
as at 31 March 2013
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Statement of changes in net assets 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

Capitalisation Reserves
Opening balance 25,000 25,000
Closing balance 25,000 25,000

Recoverable revenue
Opening balance 416 308
Transfers: 205 108
Irrecoverable amounts written off (24) (20)
Debts revised (56) (18)
Debts recovered (included in departmental receipts) (293) (195)
Debts raised 578 341
Closing balance 621 416

TOTAL 25,621 25,416

Western Cape Government | Department of Agriculture | Annual Report 2012/13 179

Annual Report Financial Year 2012/13
Vote 11: Department of Agriculture

Province of the Western Cape



Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts 588,481 566,853
Annual appropriated funds received 1.1 560,374 517,192
Departmental revenue received 2 28,107 49,661

Net (increase)/decrease in working capital 1,002  (2,796)
Surrendered to Revenue Fund (30,423)  (51,259)
Current payments (378,268)  (337,272)
Payments for financial assets (229)  (147)
Transfers and subsidies paid (159,736)  (159,128)
Net cash flow available from operating activities 16 20,827 16,251

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for capital assets 8 (17,400) (18,012)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 2.3 70 -
Net cash flows from investing activities (17,330) (18,012)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend received 2.2 7 15
Increase in net assets 205 108
Net cash flows from financing activities 212 123

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,709 (1,638)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5,116 6,754

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 17 8,825 5,116

CASH FLOW statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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	 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the following policies, which 
have been applied consistently in all material aspects, unless otherwise indicated. However, 
where appropriate and meaningful, additional information has been disclosed to enhance 
the usefulness of the financial statements and to comply with the statutory requirements of 
the Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999 (as amended by Act 29 of 1999), and the 
Treasury Regulations issued in terms of the Act and the Division of Revenue Act, Act 1 of 2010. 

1.	 Presentation of the Financial Statements

1.1	 Basis of preparation

	 The financial statements have been prepared on a modified cash basis of accounting.

	 Under this basis, the effects of transactions and other events are recognised in the financial 
records when the resulting cash is received or paid. The “modification” results from the 
recognition of certain near-cash balances in the financial statements as well as the revaluation 
of foreign investments and loans and the recognition of resulting revaluation gains and losses.

	 In addition supplementary information is provided in the disclosure notes to the financial 
statements where it is deemed to be useful to the users of the financial statements. 

1.2	 Presentation currency

	 All amounts have been presented in the currency of the South African Rand (R) which is also 
the functional currency of the department.

1.3	 Rounding

	 Unless otherwise stated all financial figures have been rounded to the nearest one thousand 
Rand (R’000).

1.4	 Comparative figures

	 Prior period comparative information has been presented in the current year’s financial 
statements. Where necessary, figures included in the prior period financial statements have 
been reclassified to ensure that the format in which the information is presented is consistent 
with the format of the current year’s financial statements. 

1.5	 Comparative figures - Appropriation Statement

	 A comparison between actual amounts and final appropriation per major classification of 
expenditure is included in the Appropriation Statement. 

2.	 Revenue

2.1	 Appropriated funds

	 Appropriated funds comprise departmental allocations as well as direct charges against the 
provincial revenue fund (i.e. statutory appropriation).

Accounting policies 
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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	 Appropriated funds are recognised in the financial records on the date the appropriation 
becomes effective. Adjustments made in terms of the adjustments budget process are 
recognised in the financial records on the date the adjustments become effective.

	 Unexpended appropriated funds are surrendered to the Provincial Revenue Fund. Any 
amounts owing to the Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year are recognised 
as payable in the statement of financial position.

	 Any amount due from the Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year is recognised 
as a receivable in the statement of financial position.

2.2	 Departmental revenue

	 All departmental revenue is recognised in the statement of financial performance when 
received and is subsequently paid into the Provincial Revenue Fund, unless stated otherwise.

	 Any amount owing to the Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year is recognised 
as a payable in the statement of financial position. 

	 No accrual is made for amounts receivable from the last receipt date to the end of the reporting 
period. These amounts are however disclosed in the disclosure notes to the annual financial 
statements.

3.	 Expenditure

3.1	 Compensation of employees

3.1.1	 Salaries and wages
	
	 Salaries and wages are expensed in the statement of financial performance when the final 

authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

	 Other employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive obligation are disclosed 
in the disclosure notes to the financial statements at face value and are not recognised in the 
statement of financial performance or position.

	 Employee costs are capitalised to the cost of a capital project when an employee spends 
more than 50% of his/her time on the project. These payments form part of expenditure for 
capital assets in the statement of financial performance.

3.1.2	 Social contributions

	 Employer contributions to post-employment benefit plans in respect of current employees are 
expensed in the statement of financial performance when the final authorisation for payment 
is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

	 No provision is made for retirement benefits in the financial statements of the department. Any 
potential liabilities are disclosed in the financial statements of the National Revenue Fund and 
not in the financial statements of the employer department.

Accounting policies 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Western Cape Government | Department of Agriculture | Annual Report 2012/13182

Annual Report Financial Year 2012/13
Vote 11: Department of Agriculture

Province of the Western Cape



	 Employer contributions made by the department for certain of its ex-employees (such as medical 
benefits) are classified as transfers to households in the statement of financial performance.

3.2	 Goods and services

	 Payments made during the year for goods and/or services are recognised as an expense in 
the statement of financial performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected 
on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year). 

	 The expense is classified as capital if the goods and/or services were acquired for a capital 
project or if the total purchase price exceeds the capitalisation threshold (currently R5, 000). All 
other expenditures are classified as current.

	 Rental paid for the use of buildings or other fixed structures is classified as goods and services 
and not as rent on land.

3.3	 Interest and rent on land

	 Interest and rental payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later 
than 31 March of each year). This item excludes rental for the use of buildings or other fixed 
structures.  If it is not possible to distinguish between payment for the use of land and the fixed 
structures on it, the whole amount should be recorded under goods and services.

3.4	 Payments for financial assets

	 Debts are written off when identified as irrecoverable. Debts written off are limited to the amount 
of savings and/or underspending of appropriated funds. The write-off occurs at year end or 
when funds are available. No provision is made for irrecoverable amounts but an estimate is 
included in the disclosure notes to the financial statements. 

	 All other losses are recognised when authorisation has been granted for the recognition thereof.

3.5	 Transfers and subsidies

	 Transfers and subsidies are recognised as an expense when the final authorisation for payment 
is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

3.6	 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

	 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial 
performance according to the nature of the payment and not as a separate line item on 
the face of the statement. If the expenditure is recoverable it is treated as an asset until it 
is recovered from the responsible person or written off as irrecoverable in the statement of 
financial performance.

3.7	 Irregular expenditure

	 Irregular expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial performance. 
If the expenditure is not condoned by the relevant authority it is treated as an asset until it is 
recovered or written off as irrecoverable.  

Accounting policies 
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4.	 Assets

4.1	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. 

	 Bank overdrafts are shown separately on the face of the statement of financial position.

	 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand, deposits held, other short-term highly liquid investments and bank overdrafts.

4.2	 Prepayments and advances

	 Amounts prepaid or advanced are recognised in the statement of financial position when the 
payments are made and are derecognised as and when the goods/services are received or 
the funds are utilised.

	 Prepayments and advances outstanding at the end of the year are carried in the statement of 
financial position at cost.

4.3	 Receivables

	 Receivables included in the statement of financial position arise from cash payments made 
that are recoverable from another party (including departmental employees) and are 
derecognised upon recovery or write-off.

	 Receivables outstanding at year end are carried in the statement of financial position at cost 
plus any accrued interest. Amounts that are potentially irrecoverable are included in the 
disclosure notes.

4.4	 Investments

	 Capitalised investments are shown at cost in the statement of financial position. 

	 Investments are tested for an impairment loss whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the investment may be impaired. Any impairment loss is included in the disclosure 
notes. 

4.5	 Inventory

	 Inventories that qualify for recognition must be initially reflected at cost. Where inventories are 
acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, their cost shall be their fair value at the date 
of acquisition.

	 All inventory items at year end are reflected using the weighted average cost or FIFO cost 
formula.

Accounting policies 
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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4.6	 Capital assets

4.6.1	 Movable assets

	 Initial recognition

	 A capital asset is recorded in the asset register on receipt of the item at cost. Cost of an asset 
is defined as the total cost of acquisition. Where the cost cannot be determined accurately, 
the movable capital asset is stated at fair value. Where fair value cannot be determined, the 
capital asset is included in the asset register at R1.

	 All assets acquired prior to 1 April 2002 are included in the register at R1.

	 Subsequent recognition

	 Subsequent expenditure of a capital nature is recorded in the statement of financial 
performance as “expenditure for capital assets” and is capitalised in the asset register of the 
department on completion of the project. 

	 Repairs and maintenance are expensed as current “goods and services” in the statement of 
financial performance.

4.6.2	 Immovable assets

	 Initial recognition

	 A capital asset is recorded on receipt of the item at cost. Cost of an asset is defined as the total 
cost of acquisition. Where the cost cannot be determined accurately, the immovable capital 
asset is stated at R1 unless the fair value for the asset has been reliably estimated.

	 Subsequent recognition

	 Work in progress of a capital nature is recorded in the statement of financial performance as 
“expenditure for capital assets”. On completion, the total cost of the project is included in the 
asset register of the department that is accountable for the asset.

	 Repairs and maintenance are expensed as current “goods and services” in the statement of 
financial performance.

4.6.3	 Intangible assets
	
	 Initial recognition

	 An intangible asset is recorded in the asset register on receipt of the item at cost. Cost of an 
intangible asset is defined as the total cost of acquisition. Where the cost cannot be determined 
accurately, the intangible asset is stated at fair value. Where fair value cannot be determined, 
the intangible asset is included in the asset register at R1.

	 All intangible assets acquired prior to 1 April 2002 can be included in the asset register at R1.

Accounting policies 
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	 Subsequent expenditure

	 Subsequent expenditure of a capital nature is recorded in the statement of financial 
performance as “expenditure for capital asset” and is capitalised in the asset register of the 
department.

	 Maintenance is expensed as current “goods and services” in the statement of financial 
performance.

5.	 Liabilities

5.1	 Payables

	 Recognised payables mainly comprise amounts owing to other governmental entities. These 
payables are carried at cost in the statement of financial position.

5.2	 Contingent liabilities

	 Contingent liabilities are included in the disclosure notes to the financial statements when it is 
possible that economic benefits will flow from the department, or when an outflow of economic 
benefits or service potential is probable, but cannot be measured reliably.

5.3	 Contingent assets

	 Contingent assets are included in the disclosure notes to the financial statements when it is 
probable that an inflow of economic benefits will flow to the entity.

5.4	 Commitments

	 Commitments are not recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability or as 
expenditure in the statement of financial performance, but are included in the disclosure 
notes.

5.5	 Accruals

	 Accruals are not recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability or as expenditure 
in the statement of financial performance, but are included in the disclosure notes.

5.6	 Employee benefits

	 Short-term employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive obligation are 
disclosed in the disclosure notes to the financial statements. These amounts are not recognised 
in the statement of financial performance or the statement of financial position.

Accounting policies 
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5.7	 Lease commitments

	 Finance lease

	 Finance leases are not recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position. 
Finance lease payments are recognised as a capital expense in the statement of financial 
performance and are not apportioned between the capital and the interest portions. The total 
finance lease payment is disclosed in the disclosure notes to the financial statements.

	 Operating lease

	 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance. The operating lease commitments are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the 
financial statement.

5.8	 Impairment

	 The department tests for impairment where there is an indication that a receivable, loan or 
investment may be impaired. An assessment of whether there is an indication of possible 
impairment is done at each reporting date. An estimate is made for doubtful loans and 
receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts at year end. Impairments on 
investments are calculated as being the difference between the carrying amount and the 
present value of the expected future cash flows/service potential flowing from the instrument.

6.	 Receivables for departmental revenue

	 Receivables for departmental revenue are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the annual 
financial statements. These receivables are written off when identified as irrecoverable and 
are disclosed separately.

7.	 Net Assets

7.1	 Capitalisation reserve

	 The capitalisation reserve comprises financial assets and/or liabilities originating in a prior 
reporting period, but which are recognised in the statement of financial position for the first 
time in the current reporting period. Amounts are recognised in the capitalisation reserves 
when identified in the current period and are transferred to the Provincial Revenue Fund when 
the underlying asset is disposed of and the related funds are received.

7.2	 Recoverable revenue

	 Amounts are recognised as recoverable revenue when a payment made in a previous financial 
year becomes recoverable from a debtor in the current financial year. Amounts are either 
transferred to the Provincial Revenue Fund when recovered or are transferred to the statement 
of financial performance when written off.

Accounting policies 
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8.	 Related party transactions

	 Specific information with regard to related party transactions is included in the disclosure notes.

9.	 Key management personnel

	 Compensation paid to key management personnel, including their family members where 
relevant, is included in the disclosure notes.

Accounting policies 
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1.	 ANNUAL APPROPRIATION

1.1 	 Annual Appropriation
	 Included are funds appropriated in terms of the Appropriation Act (and the Adjustments 

Appropriation Act) for provincial departments:

Programmes

2012/13 2011/12

Final 
Appropri-

ation

Actual 
Funds 

Received

Funds not 
requested/ 

not re-
ceived

Appropria-
tion

received

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Administration 82,088 82,088 -  72,823
Sustainable Resource Management 50,249 50,249 - 36,564
Farmer Support and Development 206,794 206,794 - 190,015
Veterinary Services 54,502 54,502 - 69,398
Research and Technology Development 
Services 88,867 88,867 - 77,616
Agricultural Economics Services 15,035 15,035 - 11,875
Structured Agricultural Education and 
Training 46,725 46,725 - 44,886
Rural Development Co-ordination 16,114 16,114 - 14,015
Total 560,374 560,374 - 517,192

Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

1.2	 Conditional grants*
Total grants received 34 154,003 133,812

*It should be noted that the conditional grants are included in the amount per the final appropriation 
in Note 1.1.

2.	 DEPARTMENTAL REVENUE

Sales of goods and services other than capital 
assets 2.1 26,230 29,947

Interest, dividends and rent on land 2.2 1,150 2,807
Sales of capital assets 2.3 70 -
Transactions in financial assets and liabilities 2.4 458 (161)
Transfers received 2.5 276 17,083
Total revenue collected 28,184 49,676
Less: Own revenue included in appropriation 14 26,344 25,030
Departmental revenue collected 1,840 24,646

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

2.1	 Sales of goods and services other than capital assets	 2

Sales of goods and services produced by the 
department 26,162 29,944
Sales by market establishment 2,038 2,059
Administrative fees 18 26
Other sales* 24,106 27,859
Sales of scrap, waste and other used current goods 68 3
Total 26,230 29,947

*Other sales refers to services rendered by the department and includes tuition fees, analytical services 
at the laboratories, house rent for official houses at Elsenburg, sales of products and other minor 
agriculture- related services rendered.

2.2	 Interest, dividends and rent on land	         2

Interest 1,087 2,759
Dividends 7 15
Rent on land (payment of water rights) 56 33
Total 1,150 2,807

2.3	 Sales of capital assets	         2

Tangible assets 70 -
Machinery and equipment            30 41 -
Biological assets            30 29 -
Total 70 -

2.4	 Transactions in financial assets and liabilities	         2

Receivables 284 60
Other receipts, including recoverable revenue 174 (221)
Total 458 (161)

2.5	 Transfers received	         2

Other governmental units - 17,083
Public corporations and private enterprises 276 -
Total* 276 17,083

*The decrease in transfers received is a result of the reimbursement received from DAFF for compensation 
paid by the department to the ostrich farmers after the culling of their ostriches during the Avian 
Influenza outbreak in the province. Due to the late receipt of the amount from DAFF the funds have 
been surrendered to the Provincial Revenue Fund.

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

3. 	 COMPENSATION OF EMPLOYEES

3.1	 Salaries and Wages
	
Basic salary 167,246 154,049
Performance award 3,300 3,392
Service based (Long service awards and leave 
discounting) 435 133
Compensative/circumstantial (Overtime, acting 
allowances and related) 4,427 4,528
Periodic payments (Interns) 1,124 782
Other non-pensionable allowances 35,709 34,125
Total 212,241 197,009

3.2	 Social contributions	

Employer contributions
Pension 19,039 17,957
Medical 11,748 11,549
Bargaining council 53 52
Total 30,840 29,558

Total compensation of employees 243,081 226,567

Average number of employees* 944 953

*The average number of employees for 2011/12 has been adjusted from 1,282 to 953 to correspond 
with the prescribed calculation for 2012/13. 

4.	 GOODS AND SERVICES

Administrative fees 921 734
Advertising 1,233 585
Assets less than R5,000 4.1 1,776 2,078
Bursaries (employees) 504 833
Catering 940 1,006
Communication 8,577 5,886
Computer services 4.2 2,896 3,401
Consultants, contractors and agency/outsourced 
services 4.3 18,877 14,683
Entertainment 79 127
Audit cost – external 4.4 3,525 3,310
Inventory 4.5 27,997 22,831

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

Operating leases 2,897 2,161
Property payments 4.6 22,863 17,860
Rental and hiring 307 273
Transport provided as part of departmental activities 90 43
Travel and subsistence 4.7 28,051 25,027
Venues and facilities 2,379 1,715
Training and staff development 1,998 2,144
Other operating expenditure 4.8 9,271 5,991
Total 135,181 110,688

4.1	 Assets less than R5,000	 4

Tangible assets 1,774 2,067
Biological assets 11 107
Machinery and equipment 1,763 1,960
Intangible assets 2 11
Total 1,776 2,078

4.2	 Computer services	 4

SITA computer services 815 861
External computer service providers 2,081 2,540
Total 2,896 3,401

4.3	 Consultants, contractors and outsourced services	  4

Business and advisory services 2,007 1,199
Infrastructure and planning 2,549 2,278
Laboratory services 1,053 618
Legal costs 2 19
Contractors* 9,361 5,891
Agency and support/outsourced services 3,905 4,678
Total 18,877 14,683

*The increase in contractors is due to the payment of R4,423,000.00 as first payment in the 2012/13 
financial year for the serial mapping survey of commodities project in the Western Cape.

4.4	 Audit cost – External	 4

Regularity audits 3,525 3,310
Total 3,525 3,310

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

4.5	 Inventory	 4

Learning and teaching support material 43 22
Food and food supplies 2,206 2,437
Fuel, oil and gas 2,275 1,660
Other consumable materials 17,804 13,283
Materials and supplies 1,946 1,537
Stationery and printing 2,727 3,349
Medical supplies 39 13
Medicine 957 530
Total 27,997 22,831

4.6	 Property payments 	 4

Municipal services 15,895 12,628
Property maintenance and repairs 3,955 2,992
Other* 3,013 2,240
Total 22,863 17,860

*Included in the disclosure for “Other” is an amount of R2.967,971.65 for security services.

4.7	 Travel and subsistence	 4

Local 25,306 22,899
Foreign 2,745 2,128
Total 28,051 25,027

4.8	 Other operating expenditure	 4

Membership and subscription fees 60 76
Resettlement costs 154 184
Gifts 28 108
Other* 9,029 5,623
Total 9,271 5,991

* Included in the disclosure for “Other” is an amount of R6,622,367.33 paid as honoraria to 
labourers for the eradication of alien plants (The Alien Clearing Project). 
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

5.	 Interest and rent on land

Interest paid 6 17
Total 6 17

6.	 PAYMENT FOR FINANCIAL ASSETS

Material losses through criminal conduct 97 16
Theft 6.4 97 14
Other material losses 6.1 - 2
Other material losses written off 6.2 91 81
Debts written off 6.3 41 50
Total 229 147

6.1	 Other material losses	 6

Petty cash theft: Criminal proceedings finalised - 2
Total - 2

6.2	 Other material losses written off	 6

Damage to Government Garage motor vehicles 
(9 cases)
Damage to private vehicles (10 cases)
Damage to structures (1 case)
Petty cash and other losses 

31
53

	 7
	 -

48
27

	 3
	 3

Total 91 81

6.3	 Debts written off	 6

Recoverable revenue written off (6 cases) 6 17
Staff and bursary debts written off (10 cases) 35 28
Supplier debt written off - 4
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure debt written off - 1
Total debt written off                 41 50

6.4	 Details of theft	 6

Theft of equipment (2 cases) 94 14
Petty cash theft (1 case) 3 -
Total 97 14
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

7.	 TRANSFERS AND SUBSIDIES

Provinces and municipalities   	Annex 1A 53 53
Departmental agencies and accounts Annex 1B 4,415 992
Universities and technikons Annex 1C 130 400
Public corporations and private enterprises Annex 1D 149,354 135,471
Non-profit institutions Annex 1E 1,387 2,293
Households Annex 1F 2,969 18,443
Gifts, donations and sponsorships made Annex 1H 1,428 1,476
Total 159,736 159,128

8.	 EXPENDITURE FOR CAPITAL ASSETS

Tangible assets 17,238 17,918
Buildings and other fixed structures 32 387 244
Machinery and equipment 30 16,827 17,674
Biological assets 30 24 -

Software and other intangible assets 162 94
Computer software 31 162 94

Total 17,400 18,012

Amounts included as project costs in Expenditure for Capital Assets:
Goods and Services - 543
Total - 543

All the expenditures for capital assets were acquired from voted funds for both financial years.

9.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Consolidated Paymaster General Account 3,692 157
Investments (Local) 5,133 4,959
Total 8,825 5,116

10.	 PREPAYMENTS AND ADVANCES

Travel and subsistence 278 183
Total 278 183
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11.	 RECEIVABLES
2012/13 2011/12

Note

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Less than 
one year

One to 
three 
years

Older than 
three years Total Total

Claims recoverable 11.1 351 - 131 482 1,132
Recoverable 
expenditure 11.2 453 422 26 901 1,001
Staff debt 11.3 447 487 108 1,042 789
Total 1,251 909 265 2,425 2,922

Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

11.1	 Claims recoverable	 11

National departments 350 295
Public entities 132 837
Total 482 1,132

11.2	 Recoverable expenditure 
	 (disallowance accounts) 	 11

Supplier debt 763 826
Salary deductions instituted against institutions 2 15
Theft and losses awaiting approval 136 160
Total 901 1,001

11.3	 Staff debt	 11

Bursary debt 471 237
Other staff debt 571 552
Total 1,042 789
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

12.	 INVESTMENTS (NON-CURRENT)

Casidra (Pty) Ltd. 25,000 25,000
Total 25,000 25,000

13.	 VOTED FUNDS TO BE SURRENDERED TO THE REVENUE FUND

Opening balance 2,633 502
Transfer from statement of financial performance 4,741 2,633
Paid during the year (2,633) (502)
Closing balance 4,741 2,633

14.	 DEPARTMENTAL REVENUE TO BE SURRENDERED TO THE REVENUE FUND

Opening balance 597 1,678
Transfer from Statement of Financial Performance 1,840 24,646
Own revenue included in appropriation 26,344 25,030
Paid during the year (27,790) (50,757)
Closing balance 991 597

15.	 PAYABLES - CURRENT

Advances received 15.1 950 566
Clearing accounts 15.2 42 163
Other payables 15.3 4,183 3,846
Total 5,175 4,575

15.1	 Advances received	    15

Public entities (AgriSETA) 950 566
Total 950 566

15.2	 Clearing accounts	    15

Credit amounts payable to debtors 42 146
Income tax and pension fund - 17
Total 42 163
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                                                			           Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

15.3	 Other payables 	 15

Water Affairs 750 -
Provide Project 1,895 1,895
BELG TECH 1 4
SANBI 257 257
Combud 1,280 1,690
Total* 4,183 3,846

*The comparative figure has been adjusted by R0.566 million as the disclosure for AgriSETA has 
been moved to the sub note 15.1.

16.	 NET CASH FLOW AVAILABLE FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net surplus as per Statement of Financial Performance 6,581 27,279
Add back noncash/cash movements not deemed 
operating activities 14,246 (11,028)
(Increase)/decrease in receivables – current 497 (1,427)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and advances (95) 40
Increase/(decrease) in payables – current 600 (1,409)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets (70) -
Proceeds from sale of investments (7) (15)
Expenditure on capital assets 17,400 18,012
Surrenders to Revenue Fund (30,423) (51,259)
Own revenue included in appropriation 26,344 25,030
Net cash flow generated by operating activities 20,827 16,251

17.	 RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FOR CASH FLOW PURPOSES

Consolidated Paymaster General account 3,692 157
Cash with commercial banks (Local) 5,133 4,959
Total 8,825 5,116
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These amounts are not recognised in the Annual Financial Statements and are disclosed to enhance 
the usefulness of the Annual Financial Statements

                                                  				    Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

18.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

18.1	 Contingent liabilities

Claims against the department Annex 3 - 598
Other Annex 3 - 11
Total - 609

18.2	  Contingent assets

	 Nature of contingent asset

Overpayment to an employee still under investigation 134 -
Total 134 -

19.	 COMMITMENTS					   
	

	 Current expenditure		  19,191                        7,361

Approved and contracted* 19,191 17,360
Approved but not yet contracted - 1

	 Capital Expenditure 		   384                          455

Approved and contracted 384 455

Total Commitments 19,575 17,816

*Included in above is an amount of R2,020,142.11 for 12 contracts exceeding a period longer than 1 
year.

20.	 ACCRUALS
2012/13 2011/12

R’000 R’000
Listed by economic classification

30 Days 30+ Days Total Total
Goods and services 1,787 670 2,457 4,741
Transfers and subsidies 13 29 42 -
Capital assets 371 37 408 16
Total 2,171 736 2,907 4,757
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                                           			   Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

Listed by programme level
Programme 1: Administration 1,051 2,243
Programme 2: Sustainable Resource Management 118 1,327
Programme 3: Farmer Support and Development 353 158
Programme 4: Veterinary Services 426 153
Programme 5: Research and Technology Development Services 343 201
Programme 6: Agricultural Economics Services 104 42
Programme 7: Structured Agricultural Education and Training 437 580
Programme 8: Rural Development Co-ordination 75 53
Total 2,907 4,757

Confirmed balances with other departments Annex 5 1,521 1,479
Total 1,521 1,479

21.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Leave entitlement* 7,013 6,168
Service bonus (Thirteenth cheque) 6,004 5,700
Performance awards** 4,366 3,919
Capped leave commitments 11,221 11,231
Other*** 306 291
Total 28,910 27,309

	 *Included in the 2012/13 disclosure for leave entitlement is a negative amount of R558,577.77 for leave 
owed to the department, due to timing differences between two systems (BAS and PERSAL) and leave 
taken in advance.

	 **Performance awards are calculated at 1.5% of the 2013/14 budget for “Compensation of employees”.

	 ***”Other” refers to employee benefits paid after March 2013 pertaining to the 2012/13 financial year. It 
is the first time that this information is disclosed in the department’s disclosure notes and therefore the 
comparative figure has also been added to the note.

22.	 LEASE COMMITMENTS

22.1	 Operating leases expenditure: Machinery and equipment

Not later than 1 year 1,786 1,557
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 988 1,927
Total lease commitments  2,774 3,484

	 These leases relate to the department’s photocopiers.
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

22.2	 Finance leases expenditure

Not later than 1 year 8 35
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - 9
Total lease commitments 8 44
LESS: finance costs - 2
Total present value of lease liabilities 8 42

These finance leases relate to the department’s official cellphones.

23.	 RECEIVABLES FOR DEPARTMENTAL REVENUE

Sales of goods and services other than capital assets 8,069 6,786
Interest, dividends and rent on land 42 138
Total 8,111 6,924

23.1	 Analysis of receivables for departmental revenue

Opening balance 6,924 6,356
Less: amounts received 16,047 21,041
Add: amounts recognised 17,705 21,723
Less: amounts written off/reversed as irrecoverable 471 114
Closing balance 8,111 6,924

23.2	 Receivables for department revenue written off

Receivables from services rendered written off (592 cases) 120 114
Total 120 114

24.	 IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE

24.1	 Reconciliation of irregular expenditure

Opening balance 27,581 372
Add: Irregular expenditure – relating to prior year 4 11,072
Add: Irregular expenditure – relating to current year 1,573 16,414
Less: Amounts condoned (28,038) (277)
Irregular expenditure awaiting condonation 1,120 27,581
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Note 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

Analysis of awaiting condonation per age classification
Current year 240 16,137
Prior year 880 11,444
Total 1,120 27,581

6 Cases amounting to R380,911.06 have been condoned by the National Treasury after the reporting 
period and therefore these cases are disclosed under note 29.

24.2	 Details of irregular expenditure – current year 

Finance leases for cell-phone contracts (20 cases) 35
No tax clearance certificate obtained (7 cases) 190
Fewer than three quotations obtained (49 cases) 1,298
Not in terms of BBBEE prescripts but incorrectly in terms of HDI 
prescripts (5 cases) 50
Total 1,573

24.3	 Details of irregular expenditure condoned
	

Fewer than three quotations obtained (1 137 cases) 28,003
Lease payment for official cellphone contracts (20 cases) 35
Total 28,038

24.4	 Details of irregular expenditure under investigation

Declaration of interest incorrectly completed (1 case) 8
No tax clearance certificates obtained (19 cases) 1,058
Not in terms of BBBEE prescripts but incorrectly in terms of HDI prescripts 
(7 cases) 54
Total 1,120

25.	 FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE                 

25.1	 Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

Opening balance - 8
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – relating to prior year 19 1
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – relating to current year 59 53
Less: Amounts condoned (77) (51)
Less: Amounts transferred to receivables for recovery (1) (11)
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure under investigation - -
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2012/13
R’000

25.2	 Analysis of current year’s fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

Cancellation fees and related costs (15 cases), of which 1 case was transferred to 
receivables 17

Catering limits exceeded (5 cases), of which 3 cases were transferred to receivables 1
Costs relating to non-attendances (80 cases), of which 4 cases were transferred to 
receivables 35

Interest paid (3 cases) 6
Total 59

26.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The total shareholding in Casidra (Pty) Ltd. is with the Western Cape Government under the 
oversight of the Provincial Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development.

During the year the department received services from the Department of Transport and Public 
Works that are related to the department, as indicated. The Department of Agriculture occupies 
various buildings and research farms in the province provided by the Department of Transport 
and Public Works free of charge. Parking space is also provided for government officials at an 
approved fee that is not market related.

The Western Cape Government embarked on a process of corporatising enterprise risk 
management, communication services, human resource management, the Centre for 
e-Innovation services (CeI) and internal audit services (IA) into a shared service under the 
Department of the Premier during the 2011/12 financial year. These functions are now being 
rendered to the department by the Corporate Services Centre (CSC) of the Department of the 
Premier in Cape Town.

A related party relationship exists between the Western Cape Department of Agriculture and 
Government Motor Transport (GMT) with regard to the management of government motor 
vehicles of the department. This relationship is based on an arm’s-length transaction in terms of 
tariffs approved by the provincial treasury. 

The Western Cape Department of Agriculture paid an amount of R14.381 million, as received from 
the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF), during the year as compensation 
to farmers for the culling of ostriches due to the influenza outbreak in the province. Additional to 
this amount the department also paid R350,000.00 to a supplier for animal vaccines, which will 
be reimbursed by DAFF during the 2013/14 financial year.

A related party relationship also exists between the department and the Western Cape 
Agricultural Research Trust as a result of the office space (two offices) the trust occupies at 
the department free of charge. The cost for these two offices is estimated at R4,227.30 for the 
reporting period. The only financial transactions between the department and the trust during 
the financial year are payments made by the trust amounting to R51,134.00 for other services 
rendered by the department. The trust has been established with the aim to facilitate, support 
and fund animal, plant and related research in the province according to the needs of the 
various animal, plant, and related industries in the Western Cape.
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Note         2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

27.	 Key management personnel
Number of Individuals

Political office bearer (Minister) 1 1,652 1,566
Officials:
Level 15 to 16 1 1,695 1,624
Level 14* 12 10,106 8,176
Total 13,453 11,366

	 *Programme managers on level 13 are also included in this amount as they are regarded as key 
management personnel of the department.

28.	 IMPAIRMENT

Potential irrecoverable debts 3,123 3,351
Total 3,123 3,351

29.	 Non-adjusting events after reporting date

Six (6) irregular expenditure cases were condoned by the National Treasury on 9 
May 2013. These cases will be removed from the departmental irregular expenditure 
register for the 2013/14 financial year. 381
Total 381

30.	 MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

MOVEMENT IN MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2013

Opening 
balance

Current year 
adjustments 
to prior year 

balances
Additions Disposals Closing 

balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 117,105 (551) 58,913 18,884 156,583
Transport assets 30,456 481 13,128 4,780 39,285
Computer equipment 22,216 34 1,398 7,886 15,762
Furniture and office 
equipment 6,942 (69) 668 1,328 6,213

Other machinery and 
equipment 57,491 (997) 43,719 4,890 95,323

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 7,771 - 145 69 7,847
Biological assets 7,771 - 145 69 7,847

TOTAL MOVABLE TANGIBLE 
CAPITAL ASSETS 124,876 (551) 59,058 18,953 164,430
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30.1	 Additions

ADDITIONS TO MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Cash Non-cash
(Finance 

lease 
payments)

Received 
current, not 

paid
(paid current 

year, received 
prior year)

Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 16,829 50,640 (8,898) 342 58,913
Transport assets 10,025 11,966 (8,863) - 13,128
Computer equipment 1,113 18 - 267 1,398
Furniture and office equipment 640 - - 28 668
Other machinery and 
equipment 5,051 38,656 (35) 47 43,719

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 24 121 - - 145
Biological assets 24 121 - - 145
TOTAL ADDITIONS TO MOVABLE 
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 16,853 50,761 (8,898) 342 59,058

The Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries transferred 72 tractors and 324 implements to the 
department during the 2012/13 financial year. The value of these tractors and implements amounts to 
R38,577,036.84 and has been added to the department’s asset register as at 31 March 2013. However, 
these items will be transferred to Casidra (Pty) Ltd. during the 2013/14 financial year for use in projects.

30.2	 Disposals

Sold for cash
Transferred 

out or 
destroyed or 

scrapped
Total disposals

Cash 
received 

actual

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 10,937 7,947 18,884 109
Transport assets 100 4,680 4,780 2
Computer equipment 7,051 835 7,886 52
Furniture and office equipment 1,131 197 1,328 2
Other machinery and equipment 2,655 2,235 4,890 53

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 35 34 69 29
Biological assets 35 34 69 29

TOTAL DISPOSAL OF MOVABLE 
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 10,972 7,981 18,953 138
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30.3	 Movement for 2011/12

MOVEMENT IN MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Closing 

balance
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 103,537 18,285 4,717 117,105
Transport assets 25,779 8,237 3,560 30,456
Computer equipment 19,067 3,149 - 22,216
Furniture and office equipment 6,508 498 64 6,942
Other machinery and equipment 52,183 6,401 1,093 57,491

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 7,659 855 743 7,771
Biological assets 7,659 855 743 7,771

TOTAL MOVABLE TANGIBLE ASSETS 111,196 19,140 5,460 124,876

30.4	 Minor assets

MOVEMENT IN MINOR ASSETS PER THE ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED AS AT 31 MARCH 2013
Intangible 

assets
Machinery and 

equipment
Biological 

assets Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Opening balance - 27,349 4,361 31,710
Current year adjustments to 
prior year balances - 146 - 146

Additions 2 1,992 2,411 4,405
Disposals 2 3,736 2,456 6,194
TOTAL MINOR ASSETS - 25,751 4,316 30,067

Machinery and 
equipment

Biological 
assets Total

Number of R1 minor assets 9 - 9
Number of minor assets at cost 29,191 2,802 31,993
TOTAL NUMBER MINOR ASSETS 29,200 2,802 32,002
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MOVEMENT IN MINOR ASSETS PER THE ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

Intangible 
assets

Heritage 
assets

Machinery and 
equipment

Biological 
assets Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Opening balance - - 26,012 3,692 29,704
Additions - 20 1,485 3,800 5,305
Disposals - 20 148 3,131 3,299
TOTAL MINOR ASSETS - - 27,349 4,361 31,710

Machinery and 
equipment

Biological 
assets Total

Number of R1 minor assets - - -
Number of minor assets at cost 30,475 2,997 33,472
TOTAL NUMBER OF MINOR 
ASSETS 30,475 2,997 33,472

30.5	 Movable assets written off

	 MOVABLE ASSETS WRITTEN OFF FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Machinery and 
equipment

Biological 
assets Total

R’000 R’000 R’000
Assets written off 885 4 889
TOTAL MOVABLE ASSETS WRITTEN OFF 885 4 889

	 MOVABLE ASSETS WRITTEN OFF FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

Machinery and 
equipment

Biological 
assets Total

R’000 R’000 R’000
Assets written off 632 304 936
TOTAL MOVABLE ASSETS WRITTEN OFF 632 304 936

31.	 INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

MOVEMENT IN INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Opening 
balance

Current 
Year Adjust-

ments to 
prior year 
balances

Additions Disposals Closing 
Balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Computer Software 500 - 162 162 500
Services and operating rights 912 - - - 912
TOTAL INTANGIBLE CAPITAL 
ASSETS 1,412 - 162 162 1,412

Disclosure notes to the annual financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Western Cape Government | Department of Agriculture | Annual Report 2012/13 207

Annual Report Financial Year 2012/13
Vote 11: Department of Agriculture

Province of the Western Cape



31.1	 Additions

ADDITIONS TO INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2013

Cash Non-Cash Total
R’000 R’000 R’000

Computer Software 162 - 162
TOTAL ADDITIONS TO INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 162 - 162

31.2	 Disposals

DISPOSALS OF INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2013

Sold for cash Transferred 
out

Total 
disposals

R’000 R’000 R’000
Computer Software - 162 162
TOTAL DISPOSALS OF INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS - 162 162

31.3	 Movement for 2011/12

MOVEMENT IN INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2012

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Closing 

balance
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Computer Software 500 94 94 500
Services and operating rights 912 - - 912
TOTAL INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 1,412 94 94 1,412

32.	 IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

MOVEMENT IN IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 
2013

Opening 
balance

Current Year 
Adjustments 
to prior year 

balances
Additions Disposals Closing 

Balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
BUILDINGS AND OTHER FIXED 
STRUCTURES 22 3 387 390 22
Non-residential buildings 22 3 32 35 22
Other fixed structures - - 355 355 -
TOTAL IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE 
CAPITAL ASSETS 22 3 387 390 22
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32.1	 Additions

Cash Non-cash Total
R’000 R’000 R’000

BUILDINGS AND OTHER FIXED 
STRUCTURES 387 - 387
Non-residential buildings 32 - 32
Other fixed structures 355 - 355
TOTAL ADDITIONS TO IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE
CAPITAL ASSETS 387 - 387

32.2	 Disposals

	 DISPOSALS OF IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
	 31 MARCH 2013

Sold for cash
Transfer out or 
destroyed or 

scrapped
Total 

disposals
Cash 

received 
Actual

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
BUILDINGS AND OTHER FIXED 
STRUCTURES - 390 390 -
Non-residential buildings - 35 35 -
Other fixed structures - 355 355 -
TOTAL DISPOSAL OF IMMOVABLE 
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS - 390 390 -

32.3	 Movement for 2011/12

MOVEMENT IN IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2012

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Closing 

balance
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

BUILDINGS AND OTHER FIXED 
STRUCTURES
Non-residential buildings 22 - - 22
TOTAL IMMOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL 
ASSETS 22 - - 22

33.	 FUTURE DAILY TARIFF EXPENDITURE

Not later than 1 
year

Later than 1 year and 
not later than 5 years

Later than 5 
years

R’000 R’000 R’000
Gross investment in future daily tariffs* 10,365 42,080 15,888
Net investment in daily tariffs 10,365 42,080 15,888

*The department leased 238 vehicles from GMT as at 31 March 2013 (31 March 2012: 234). Daily tariffs are  
	 payable on a monthly basis, covering the operational costs, capital costs of replacement of vehicles,  
	 and the implicit finance costs in this type of arrangement.
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34.	 STATEMENT OF CONDITIONAL GRANTS RECEIVED

NAME OF 
DEPARTMENT

GRANT ALLOCATION SPENT 2011/12

Division 
of 

Revenue 
Act

Total 
Availa-

ble

Amount 
received 

by 
depart-

ment

Amount 
 spent by 
depart-

ment

Under / 
(over)

spend-
ing)

% of 
avail-
able 
funds 

spent by 
depart-

ment

Division 
of 

Revenue 
Act

Amount 
 spent 

by 
depart-

ment

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000
LandCare 7,740 7,740 7,740 7,741 (1) 100% 3,466 3,466
Comprehensive 
Agricultural 
Support 
Programme 
(CASP) 91,863 91,863 91,863 91,777 86 100% 82,346 82,346
Illima/Letsema 
projects 50,400 50,400 50,400 50,400 - 100% 48,000 48,000
Expanded 
Public Works 
Programme 
(EPWP) 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,005 (5) 100% - -

154,003 154,003 154,003 153,923 80 133,812 133,812

	 All funds received in terms of DoRA were deposited into the province’s primary bank account.
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ANNEXURE 1A
STATEMENT OF UNCONDITIONAL GRANTS AND TRANSFERS TO PROVINCES AND MUNICIPALITIES

NAME OF 
MUNICIPALITY

GRANT ALLOCATION TRANSFER SPENT 2011/12

Amount Roll-
overs

Adjust-
ments

Total 
availa-

ble
Actual 
transfer

% of  
availa-

ble
 funds 
trans-
ferred

Amount 
re-

ceived 
by 

munici-
pality

Amount  
spent 

by 
munici-
pality

% of  
avail-
able 
funds 
spent 

by 
munici-
pality

Total 
Availa-

ble

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000 % R’000
Municipality of 
Stellenbosch: 
Vehicle 
Licences 25 - 28 53 53 100% 53 53 100% 53

25 - 28 53 53 53 53 53

ANNEXURE 1B
STATEMENT OF TRANSFERS TO DEPARTMENTAL AGENCIES AND ACCOUNTS

DEPARTMENT/ 
AGENCY/ AC-

COUNT

TRANSFER ALLOCATION TRANSFER 2011/12

Adjusted
Appropri-

ation
Roll-
overs Adjustments Total 

available
Actual 
transfer

% of 
available 

funds 
transferred

Appropria-
tion Act

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000
Government 
Motor Transport 
(GMT) 25 - (1) 24 24 100% 992
Department of 
the Premier: TV 
Licences 9 - 1 10 10 100% -
The National 
Agricultural 
Marketing 
Council - - 326 326 326 100% -
Claims against 
the State 1,835 - - 1,835 1,835 100% -
Wesgro 2,220 - - 2,220 2,220 100% -

4,089 - 326 4,415 4,415 992

ANNEXURE 1C
STATEMENT OF TRANSFERS TO UNIVERSITIES AND TECHNIKONS

UNIVERSITY / 
TECHNIKON

TRANSFER ALLOCATION TRANSFER 2011/12

Adjusted 
Appropri-

ation

Roll-
overs Adjustments Total 

available
Actual
transfer

Amount 
not trans-

ferred

% of 
available 

funds 
transferred

Appropri-
ation 
Act

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000
University of 
Stellenbosch 350 - (220) 130 130 - 100% 100
University of 
Pretoria - - - - - - - 300

350 - (220) 130 130 - 400
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ANNEXURE 1D
STATEMENT OF TRANSFERS TO PUBLIC CORPORATIONS AND PRIVATE ENTERPRISES

NAME OF PUBLIC 
CORPORATION/

PRIVATE ENTERPRISE

TRANSFER ALLOCATION EXPENDITURE 2011/12

Adjusted
Appro-
priation 

Act

Roll-
overs

Adjust-
ments

Total 
available

Actual 
transfer

% of 
avail-
able 
funds 
trans-
ferred

Capital Current
Appro-
priation 

Act

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000 R’000 R’000
Public Corporations
Casidra (Pty) Ltd. 108,416 - (4,694) 103,722 103,722 100% - 103,722 95,419
Total 108,416 - (4,694) 103,722 103,722 - 103,722 95,419

Private Enterprises
Transfers
Deciduous Fruit 
Producers’ Trust 12,060 - 3,500 15,560 15,560 100% - 15,560 14,449
Agri Mega Group 2,420 - 1,647 4,067 4,067 100% - 4,067 2,932
Agri Mega Group: 
Animal (Sheep & 
Wool) 4,455 - 4,550 9,005 9,005 100% - 9,005 4,455
Agri Mega Group: 
Dairy Commodity 10,500 - - 10,500 10,500 100% - 10,500 11,286
Agri Mega Group: 
Grain Industry 6,500 - - 6,500 6,500 100% - 6,500 6,930
Total 35,935 - 9,697 45,632 45,632 - 45,632 40,052

TOTAL 144,351 - 5,003 149,354 149,354 - 149,354 135,471
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ANNEXURE 1E
STATEMENT OF TRANSFERS TO NON-PROFIT INSTITUTIONS 

NON-PROFIT INSTITUTIONS

TRANSFER ALLOCATION EXPENDITURE 2011/12

Adjusted
Appropria-

tion 
Act

Roll-
overs

Adjust-
ments

Total 
available

Actual 
transfer

% of 
availa-

ble funds 
trans-
ferred

Appropria-
tion 
Act

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000
African Farmers’ 
Association of South Africa 
(AFASA) - - - - - - 250
AgriReap (KOUP) 270 - (135) 135 135 100% -
Anna Foundation - - - - - - 200
Industry Association for 
Responsible Alcohol Use 
(ARA) 270 - (135) 135 135 100% -
Cape of Good Hope 
Agricultural Society 170 - - 170 170 100% 146
Cape of Good Hope 
Society for Prevention of 
Cruelty to Animals (SPCA) - - 500 500 500 100% 500
Colors Academy 194 - (47) 147 147 100% 200
Goedgedacht Trust 100 - - 100 100 100% 250
Industrial Ministries Trust - - - - - - 195
Klein Karoo Agri Business 
Centre - - - - - - 250
Pearl Community 
Development Project - - - - - - 140
Sing for Africa 200 - - 200 200 100% -
Stellenbosch AIDS Action 
(@Heart) - - - - - - 162
TOTAL 1,204 - 183 1,387 1,387 2,293
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ANNEXURE 1F
STATEMENT OF TRANSFERS TO HOUSEHOLDS

HOUSEHOLDS

TRANSFER ALLOCATION EXPENDITURE 2011/12
Adjusted

Appropria-
tion 
Act

Roll-
overs

Adjust-
ments

Total 
availa-

ble
Actual 
transfer

% of 
available 

funds 
transferred

Appropri-
ation 
Act

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 % R’000
Transfers
Bursaries to Non-
employees 2,205 - 54 2,259 2,259 100% 2,724
Employee leave gratuity 61 - 582 643 643 100% 605
Total 2,266 - 636 2,902 2,902 3,329
Subsidies
Farmer support 750 - (683) 67 67 100% 15,114
Total 750 - (683) 67 67 15,114

TOTAL 3,016 - (47) 2,969 2,969 18,443

ANNEXURE 1G 
STATEMENT OF GIFTS, DONATIONS AND SPONSORSHIPS RECEIVED

NAME OF ORGANISATION NATURE OF GIFT, DONATION OR SPONSORSHIP
2012/13 2011/12

R’000 R’000

Received in Cash
Community Education 
through National 
Collaboration and 
Enablement

Cash donation towards the department’s learnership 
and internship programme. 276 -

Subtotal 276 -

Received in kind
FELCO Trophies donated for the annual pruning competition 

for viticulture students. 1 -
Group Editors Co (Pty) Ltd Donations in the form of media coverage towards the 

Annual Outeniqua Information Day. 99 -
MCT Distributors Caps donated for distribution to alien clearing workers. 5 -
Various Organisations Sponsorships towards the travelling and 

accommodation costs of 20 officials to attend and 
participate in courses, meetings and symposiums 
abroad during the financial year. 318 802

Various Organisations Sponsorship towards the farm worker competition. - 175
Various Organisations Yeast, enzymes and other wine additions donated 

towards experimental winemaking by cellar technology 
students at Elsenburg. 78 -

Various Organisations Groceries and beverages donated towards the Annual 
Outeniqua Information Day. 7 -

Various Organisations Library material donated to the Elsenburg library. 23 -
Western Cape Agricultural 
Research Trust 

Sponsorships for officials to attend or participate in 
courses, meetings and symposiums abroad. - 197

Subtotal 531 1,174

TOTAL 807 1,174
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ANNEXURE 1H
STATEMENT OF GIFTS, DONATIONS AND SPONSORSHIPS MADE AND REMMISSIONS, REFUNDS 
AND PAYMENTS MADE AS AN ACT OF GRACE 

NATURE OF GIFT, DONATION OR SPONSORSHIP 2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

Paid in cash
African Roots Wines CC: BEE farmers/exporters to attend wine festival in Lagos and 
Abuja. - 24
Agri Expo: Sponsorship of a delegate to attend the Royal Agricultural Society 
Conference in India. - 20
Agri Expo: Contribution for 2012 Cape Dairy Experience. - 70
Agri Mega Group: Sponsorship of the South African Farm Worker Association for a 
workshop. - 7
Agri Wes-Cape: Donation towards their annual congress at Goudini. 25 25
Agricultural Writers’ Association (Pty) Ltd: Sponsorship for visit to ALG farming 
function in Citrusdal. - 5
American Association of Wine Economists (AAWE): Sponsorship of the 7th annual 
conference. 100 -
Anna Foundation: Donation to Barrydale after-school project. - 13
Boland Agricultural High School: Sponsorship of school and hostel fees for 
disadvantaged learners. 63 86
Botrivier Education Foundation: To ensure tertiary education for at least one high 
school student in every family in Botrivier. - 10
Caleb Development & Training Association: Women’s Day celebrations and 
awareness programmes on alcohol abuse. 20 20
Calitzdorp Port & Wine Festival. 40 50
Cape Agri’s Employers Organisation: Survey of farm worker wages. 5 -
Cape Women’s Agricultural Association: Donation towards their annual congress. - 10
Cederberg Conservancy: Printing of T-shirts for farm workers attending the open 
day in Matjiesfontein. 11 -
Community Ladies for All (CLFA): To assist them with the establishment of a flower 
planting project focused on people living with disabilities. - 10
Colors Academy: To assist with the development of farm workers. - 50
Christian Literature Fund: Donation towards the development of literature on moral 
values and social issues of farm workers. 45 -
Craft Sales and Rentals: BEE farmers/exporters to attend wine festival in Lagos and 
Abuja. - 24
Deciduous Fruit Producers’ Trust: Donation for their international symposium on 
orchard systems. 35 -
Deciduous Fruit Producers’ Trust: Sponsorship of a golf day for the fruit industry. 5 9
Denou Joint Body Trust: Donation for Commonwealth Games. - 13
Doringbaai Development Trust: To support the operational needs in their tile 
business to fulfil their contractual supply obligations to CTM (Ceramic Tile 
Manufacturers). - 47
Farm Workers: Prize money for the annual farm worker competition. 408 345
Fresh Produce Exporters’ Forum (FPEF): Donation towards the marketing material 
for Fruit Logistica Asia 2012. 60 -
Groenie Die Drakie Crèche: Donation towards early childhood development 
training for 75 preschool learners. 10 -
Hex Valley Table Grape Association: Western Cape Farm Worker of the Year’s 
regional competitions. - 30
Industry Association for Responsible Alcohol Use (ARA): To assist them with their 
pilot wine project in the Perdeberg area. - 20
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ANNEXURE 1H - continued

NATURE OF GIFT, DONATION OR SPONSORSHIP
2012/13 2011/12
R’000 R’000

Layton Primary School: To assist them with the development of the school’s 
educational apparatus. 10 20
Libby’s Pride Wines (Imvusa Trading 1237CC): BEE farmers/exporters to attend wine 
festival in Lagos and Abuja. - 24
Mickey Mouse Crèche: Donation towards early childhood development for 
preschool learners. 10 -
M’Hudi wines: BEE farmers/exporters to attend wine festival in Lagos and Abuja - 24
National Agricultural Youth Show: Donation towards their championship. 30 -
Oakdale Agricultural High School: Sponsorship toward the development of 
disadvantaged learners. 56 -
Official: Sponsorship to participate in the World Outdoor Championship in 
Switzerland. 12 -
Presbyterian Church of Africa: For hosting a family enrichment programme. - 49
Protea Producers of South Africa: Contribution for the transformation seminar. - 50
Protea Producers of South Africa: Publishing of a manual for protea producers. - 80
SANBI (South African National Biodiversity Institute): Marketing of the South African 
stand at the Chelsea Flower show on Morning Live on SABC2. - 15
Ses’fikile Wine Services CC: BEE farmers/exporters to attend wine festival in Lagos 
and Abuja. - 24
South African Society for Animal Science (SASAS): Sponsoring of the 44th Biennial 
SASAS Congress. - 25
South African Society for Animal Science (SASAS): Sponsoring meals for voluntary 
workers during a pet sterilisation campaign. 5 -
South African Veterinary Public Health Association: Sponsorship towards their 
annual congress. 80 -
Southern and Eastern African Association of Farming Systems Research-Extension: 
Donation towards the annual conference. 50 -
Students: Prize money for 2 students for higher education. 2 2
Thokozani Winelands Investment (Pty) Ltd: BEE farmers/exporters to attend wine 
festival in Lagos and Abuja. - 24
Uniondale Integrated Empowerment Project. 70 -
United South African Agricultural Association(USAAA): Prize money for the Farmer 
of the Year competition. 10 -
Various individuals: Prize money for the Female Entrepreneur competition. 98 240
VinPro: Donation towards the development of training material for vineyard 
workers. 97 -
Waterval Bedieningstrust: Contribution to their annual gospel festival project for 
farm workers. 44 -
Western Cape Youth Society: Participation in the AGRI-EXPO regional youth expo. - 10
Subtotal 1,401 1,475
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ANNEXURE 1H - continued

NATURE OF GIFT, DONATION OR SPONSORSHIP
2012/13 2011/12

R’000 R’000

Made in kind
Department of Education: Mount View High School, Hanover Park: Olive trees. 8 49
Dr C Hansmann: Gift for his sterling work as mentor. - 1
Farmers: Elim Food Garden Project: Irrigation material. 16 -
Farmers: Transfer of goods and services to sustain and support smallholder and 
subsistence farmers. - 772
Farmers: Donation of lucerne seed to smallholder farmers. 9 76
Farmers: Donation of ostriches. 145 27
Farmers: Donation of cows and heifers to improve the production and 
sustainability of Amalienstein. 450 -
Farmers: Donation of 5 water tanks to Matjiesriver Farm. 39 -
Farmers: Rietfontein Project: Fertilizer. 29 -
Farmers: Outeniqua Project: Animal Feed. 26 -
Farmers: Eden district farmers: Boer goat rams. 24 -
Farmers: Small Farmers George/Uniondale: Gardening equipment. 4 -
Fruit Tree Project: Donation of fruit trees. 7 -
Jukani: Donation of newborn bull calves to the cheetah farm. 1 1
Khayamandi residents: Donation of goods to residents who lost their belongings 
due to fire disaster. 1 -
Khayamandi pilot project: Protective clothing. 8 -
Rooiheuwel Primary School in Oudtshoorn: 20 Redundant air conditioners. - 47
Spruitdrift Primary School in Vredendal: Waterproof lining for dam. 561 -
Tulbagh Farmworkers Foundation: Donation of old and outdated office furniture. 1 -
Various individuals: Gifts for foreign visitors. 3 -
Subtotal 1,332 973

Remissions, refunds, and payments made as an act of grace
Official: Reimbursement of medical costs during a visit abroad. 11 -
Officials: Reimbursement of maintenance costs on motor vehicle. 16 -
Transport costs for funeral of a colleague in Eastern Cape. - 1
Subtotal 27 1

TOTAL 2,760 2,449
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ANNEXURE 2A
STATEMENT OF INVESTMENTS IN AND AMOUNTS OWING BY/TO PROVINCIAL PUBLIC ENTITIES 

Name of 
public en-

tity

% 
Held  
11/12

% Held  
10/11

Number of shares held Cost of in-
vestment

Net asset value 
of investment

Profit/(loss) for 
the year Losses 

guar-
anteed

Yes/No

  R’000 R’000 R’000

2012/13 2011/12 2012
/2013

2011
/2012

2012
/2013

2011
/2012

2012
/2013

2011
/2012

Casidra 
(Pty) Ltd. 100% 100% 25,000,000  25,000,000  - - 25,000  25,000  -  -  No

TOTAL   25,000,000 25,000,000 - - 25,000 25,000 - -  

Casidra (Pty) Ltd. is a schedule 3D Western Cape Government business enterprise in terms of the PFMA, Act 1 of 
1999. 

ANNEXURE 2B
STATEMENT OF INVESTMENTS IN AND AMOUNTS OWING BY/TO OTHER NON-CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

Name of 
non-controlled 

entity

Nature 
of busi-

ness

Cost of investment Net asset value of 
investment

Amounts owing to 
entities

Amounts owing 
by entities

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12

KWV Group - - 495 343 - - - -
Koelenhof Wine Cellar - - 36 36 - - - -
Samelko - - 7 7 - - - -
Klein Karoo International - - 28 19 - - - -
TOTAL   - - 566 405 - - - -

ANNEXURE 3
STATEMENT OF CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AS AT 31 MARCH 2013

Nature of liability

 
Liabilities 
incurred 

during the 
year

Liabilities 
cancelled/ 

reduced during 
the year

Liabilities 
recoverable 

 
Opening Closing
balance balance

1 April 2012 31 March 2013

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Claims against the 
department      

Arbitration 598 1,237 1,835 - -
Subtotal 598 1,237 1,835 - -
Other  
Occupational-specific 
dispensation (OSD) 11 - 11 - -
Subtotal 11 - 11 - -
   
TOTAL 609 1,237 1,846 - -
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ANNEXURES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

ANNEXURE 4
CLAIMS RECOVERABLE

Government entity

Confirmed balance 
outstanding

Unconfirmed balance 
outstanding Total

31/03/2013 31/03/2012 31/03/2013 31/03/2012 31/03/2013 31/03/2012
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Departments
National Department of 
Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries 350 295 - - 350 295

350 295 - - 350 295
Other government entities
Agricultural Research Council 
(ARC-Dairy) - - 1 4 1 4
South African Revenue Service (SARS) - 354 131 474 131 828
SATI - - - 5 - 5

- 354 132 483 132 837
TOTAL 350 649 132 483 482 1,132

ANNEXURE 5
INTER-GOVERNMENT PAYABLES - CURRENT

Government entity 

Confirmed balance 
outstanding

Unconfirmed balance 
outstanding TOTAL

31/03/2013 31/03/2012 31/03/2013 31/03/2012 31/03/2013 31/03/2012
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

DEPARTMENTS
Department of Transport 
and Public Works (GMT) 1,521 1,479 - - 1,521 1,479
Total 1,521 1,479 - - 1,521 1,479

ANNEXURE 6
INVENTORY

2012/13 2011/12

Inventory
Quantity Value Quantity Value

R’000 R’000
Opening balance 390,549 4,226 521,025 4,574
Add/(Less): Adjustments to prior year balance - - (42,167) (194)
Add: Additions/Purchases - Cash 251,707,853 28,224 265,397,679 23,534
Add: Additions - Non-cash 65 - 68,759 344
(Less): Disposals (190,187) (1,006) (117,737) (372)
(Less): Issues (251,527,929) (27,137) (265,437,010) (23,660)
Add/(Less): Adjustments 81,920 484 - -
Closing balance 462,271 4,791 390,549 4,226

ANNEXURE 7
INTER-ENTITY ADVANCES RECEIVED

Public entities 
Confirmed balance Unconfirmed balance TOTAL

31/03/2013 31/03/2012 31/03/2013 31/03/2012 31/03/2013 31/03/2012
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Current
AgriSETA - - 950 566 950 566

Total - - 950 566 950 566
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NOTES
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Department of Agriculture
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email: info@elsenburg.com
Departmental Website: www.elsenburg.com
Provincial Website: www.westerncape.gov.za 
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